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Albania
Mobile telephony
Subscribers (000): 990

Bulgaria
Mobile telephony
Subscribers (000): 3,271

FYROM (Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia)
Mobile telephony
Subscribers (000): 473

ΟΤΕ is also present in Serbia
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45.0%  International Institutional Investors

Shareholder Structure, March 31, 2007

38.7%  Hellenic Republic

9.5%    Greek Institutional Investors

6.8%    Other

Greece
Fixed and mobile telephony
Fixed telephony subscribers (000): 6,160
ADSL subscribers (000): 488
Mobile telephony subscribers (000): 5,218

Romania
Fixed and mobile telephony
Fixed telephony subscribers (000): 3,403
ADSL subscribers (000): 89
Mobile telephony subscribers (000): 1,226

Greece
Αlbania
FYROM

Βulgaria
Serbia
Romania

The ΟΤΕ Group
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OTE Group 
Key Operational Highlights 
2006                      488

2006  11,755

2005  14,741

Greece
OTE ADSL Subscribers (000)

ΟΤΕ Employees

2005     155

2004  44

2006  11,177

2005  8,204

Greece, Αlbania, Βulgaria, FYROM and Romania
Mobile Telephony Subscribers (000)

2004  6,660

2004  16,302

OTE Group 
Key Financial Highlights
€ million, according to IFRS

*Εxcluding impact of OTE fixed-line Voluntary Retirement Plan (2005 and 2006) and non-recurrent gains related to Cosmote Romania (2005) 
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Operating Income before Depreciation and Amortization (OIBDA)*

Net Income / (Loss)

2006              2,167.0

2005  1,971.5

(216.8)  2005

2006  574.6
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Message 
from the Chairman

In 2006, we completed a number of changes all 
aimed at further adapting OTE to the realities of 
tough competition.  Among them was the reduction 
of our Greek fixed-line headcount by almost 5,000, 
about one-third of the total number of employees, the 
hiring of 1,200 younger, well-qualified employees, 
and the adaptation of OTE’s employment code.  
We are implementing a three-year business plan in 
tandem with a personnel evaluation system tied to the 
plan’s targets.  Training has been intensified.
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In spite of the improvement in fixed-telephony our 
performance in Greece remains well below European 
averages, and we need to work harder on reducing 
costs and increasing productivity. Competition is 
intensifying rapidly, as the increasing pace of Local 
Loop Unbundling demonstrates. There is no room for 
sluggishness.

The way regulation is applied causes problems to 
OTE in particular and to the market in general. 
For OTE, the sudden changes frequently imposed 
by the Regulator impede long-term planning and 
constitute a disincentive to investment. Greece was 
inexcusably late in opening up its telecom market 
but it would be a mistake to try and force the market 
to get immediately where others, who started much 
earlier, are now. Rapid adaptation, yes, but at a speed 
which is in line with the ability of the market to adapt 
and of investors to respond. For the time being, the 
weight of investing is borne principally by OTE.  It 
is not so important to reach the desired objectives a 
little earlier or later. What is key, is to do so while 
preserving the health of the sector.

As far as the OTE Group of Companies is concerned, 
developments last year were positive. Cosmote 
pursued its excellent performance and the results 
of its efforts in Romania are encouraging. The 
acquisition of Germanos has provided the Group with 
the strongest retail network in Southeast Europe.

The sale of ArmenTel to Vimpelcom was successfully 
completed and InfOTE is expected to be sold in 
2007. After capitalizing a debt of €143.9 million, 
Hellas Sat has become profitable and thus none of 
our subsidiaries is loss making. Special attention 
must be paid to RomTelecom, which faces intense 
competition. The recent changes in its management 
are expected to have a positive impact.

Consolidated Group revenues were 7.6% above 2005, 
reaching nearly €5.9 billion, while net income was 
€575 million compared to a loss of €217 million in 
2005, when OTE’s results included the entire cost of 
the voluntary exit scheme.

OTE is following telecom market developments 
in Greece closely. Everything seems to point in 
the direction of a market with larger and stronger 
telecom groups, which will combine fixed and mobile 
telephony and will have the capacity to become 
serious investors. Technological developments 
dictate this trend.  Although OTE is bracing for 
harder competition, such developments could, with 
proper Government and Regulatory guidance, lead to 
a healthier market.

Finally, I must refer to the Greek government’s plan 
to find a strategic investor for OTE. Though this does 
not directly concern OTE’s management, it affects 
its operations, especially with regard to the timing of 
important decisions. Lack of progress there must be 
attributed, among other things, to the fact that in the 
period 2005-2007, OTE considerably improved its 
prospects, driving its share price significantly higher 
and impacting the attractiveness of a low acquisition 
price for potential candidates. 

With or without a strategic shareholder, OTE 
has proved that, as long as there is no outside 
intervention, and there has been none since 2004, it is 
able to operate successfully.

In parallel to the internal reorganization, OTE is 
extending and upgrading its network and the quality 
of its services.  Priority has been given to broadband, 
which has been expanded tenfold since December 
2004 with a simultaneous increase in speeds and 
reduction in prices charged to consumers. 
The fixed-line wholesale market is also a matter 
of special attention, as is the introduction of new 
products such as IPTV.

Achieving radical internal reorganization, while 
at the same time pursuing ambitious operational 
targets, has put considerable stress on the reduced 
manpower. Our personnel has responded admirably 
to the challenge and deserve congratulations. The 
majority of OTE employees are becoming aware 
that the health of the company and their personal 
advancement depend on continuous effort, team 
work and caring for and respecting the users of our 
services. 

OTE fixed line’s financial results improved 
substantially in 2006. OIBDA jumped from nearly 
€660 million to over €790 million or from 24.4% to 
29.9% of revenues. Net income was €531 million, 
compared to a loss of €237 million in 2005.  After 
two years, we resumed the payment of dividend, at 
€0.55 per share.

Panagis Vourloumis
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Chief Executive Officer of OTE SA
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365 Days of Developments
February 2006

April 2006

May 2006 October 2006

July 2006

November 2006

December 2006
OTE presents highlights of its three-year Business 
Plan (2006-2009) at an analyst and investor meeting 
in London. 

ΟΤΕ increases 
its stake in Cosmote 
from 64.1% to 67.0%.

Cosmote signs an agreement for the purchase of a 
majority stake in Germanos SA.
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1,235 new, highly qualified 
employees join OTE, as a result 
of a new recruitment program. 

Amendments are made to OTE’s 
Internal Personnel Regulation, 
aimed at bringing OTE’s working 
environment closer to the 
competitive conditions of the 
market.
The number of Cosmote subscribers in Romania 
exceed one million, just one year after the launch of 
Cosmote Romania’s commercial operations. 

Completion of OTE’s 
Voluntary Retirement 
Plan, which was 
launched in February 
2005. 
A total of 4,759 employees retired under this scheme.

OTE launches a Broadband Roadshow, which 
is aimed at promoting broadband services. The 
Educational Mobile Unit “OTE on the Broadband-
OTE Broadband Services” sets out on its journey 
around Greece.

OTE sells its 90% stake in ArmenTel.

10:10

Cosmote completes the buy-out of Germanos SA. 
Cosmote’s indirect participation in Germanos SA 
stands at 90%.

Broadband (ADSL) customers in Greece exceed 
500,000.
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ΟΤΕ Group Operations
ΟΤΕ Group, consisting of the parent company ΟΤΕ SA and its 
subsidiaries, offers fixed-line (voice, broadband, data and leased lines) 
and mobile telephony services in Greece and Romania, as well as mobile 
telephony services in Albania, Bulgaria and the Former Yugoslav Republic 
of Macedonia (FYROM).  
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OTE Group 2006 Financial Data Summary
(€ million)

 OTE Cosmote RomTelecom Other Group**
Revenues 2,715   2,382   895   495   5,891  
Operating income before depreciation & amortization* 790   876   338   163   2,167  
Operating income before depreciation & amortization margin 29.1% 36.8% 37.8% 33.0% 36.8%
CAPEX 226   442   208   - 962  
CAPEX as % of revenues 8.3% 18.6% 23.3% - 16.3%

* Excluding the impact of OTE SA Voluntary Retirement Plan in 2005 and 2006 and the
non-recurring gains related to Cosmote Romania in 2005

** Adjustments & eliminations are not presented separately

13:20

The Group is also present in Serbia, through its 20% stake in the country’s incumbent operator, Telekom Srbija. During the year, the Group sold its 90% stake in 
Armenia’s telecommunications organization. OTE Group is also involved in a range of activities in Greece, complementing its core telecommunications operations, 
notably in real estate, telephone directories, satellite communications and professional training. OTE Group employs over 30,000 people in six countries of Southeast 
Europe. 
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ΟΤΕ is the 
main provider of 
fixed-line services 
(voice, broadband, data 
and leased lines) in 
Greece. 

During the past two years and in response to the liberalization of the market, the Company proceeded with an 
organizational and technological transformation and implemented a particularly dynamic commercial strategy. 

At present, OTE’s key objectives include the development and launch of innovative products and services 
(with special emphasis on broadband services), the further development of specific fixed-line activities, such as 
wholesale, the enhancement of customer relations and the reduction of operating costs.

13:25

Greek Fixed-Line 
Operations 
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OTE SA 2006  Financial Data Summary 
(€ million)
 
 OTE Cosmote RomTelecom Other Group**
Revenues 2,715   2,382   895   495   5,891  
Operating income before depreciation & amortization* 790   876   338   163   2,167  
Operating income before depreciation & amortization margin 29.1% 36.8% 37.8% 33,0% 36.8%
CAPEX 226   442   208   - 962  
CAPEX as % of revenues 8.3% 18.6% 23.3% - 16.3%

* Excluding the impact of the Voluntary Retirement Scheme for the fiscal year 
** Inter-company adjustments & eliminations are not presented

Greek Fixed-Line Operations  ΟΤΕ Participation, Dec 31, 2006

ΟΤΕ SA  -
      
OTEnet Internet services 94.59%
OTE Globe Wholesale telephony services 100.00%
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Key Developments in Greek Fixed-Line Operations 
Broadband
The expansion of broadband penetration was the focal point of 
OTE’s strategy in 2006 in terms of technological, communication 
and marketing initiatives. OTE’s efforts in this area were undeniably 
successful, as the Company started 2005 with less than 50,000 
broadband connections and succeeded in increasing the number of 
connections tenfold within only two years, thus exceeding the 
500,000-subscriber target set for the end of 2006.

Voluntary Retirement Plan
The successful completion of OTE’s Voluntary Retirement Plan marks 
the finalization of one of the Company’s most challenging and complex 
projects of the past several years. The conclusion of the plan allows 
the Company to adjust its headcount to competitive market standards 
and, combined with the newly implemented organizational structure, 
is instrumental in helping the Company achieve operational flexibility 
within a highly competitive environment.
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In its ‘Global Broadband Statistics’, the Point Topic 
research firm identified Greece as the world’s 
fastest-growing market in 2006 in terms of new 
broadband connections, posting  an increase of more 
than 200%.  

The continuous upgrade and optimization of OTE’s 
network allows for the development of innovative 
broadband products and services. OTE’s public 
awareness campaign communicates the benefits of 
broadband services, while new service packages, 
offered at highly competitive prices, make broadband 
services more affordable than ever.  As a result, the 
gap between Greece and more advanced European 
markets, in terms of broadband penetration, has 
narrowed, and OTE’s active involvement in boosting 
broadband services underlines its commitment to 
drawing Greece closer to its European peers.

During the enrolment period of the Voluntary 
Retirement Plan, from October 2005 until October 
2006, the Company received more than 5,200 
applications from employees who were eligible for 
retirement. In the end, 699 employees retired in 
2005 and 4,759 in 2006. During the same year, the 
Company also proceeded with the hiring of 1,235 
new employees with skills consistent with technology 
and market trends, thus bringing the Company’s total 
number of employees, at the end of 2006, to 11,755 
people, a 20% drop from the prior year level.  
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Broadband Promotion 
Remains our Top Priority
Until recently, Greece had one of the lowest 
broadband penetration rates amongst OECD 
countries. ΟΤΕ’s management, shortly after 
the Athens 2004 Olympic Games, identified the 
expansion of broadband penetration as a key 
technological and commercial target. OTE focused 
on informing the public of the benefits of broadband 
services, on developing competitive broadband 
products and services available to all, on upgrading 
its network to meet strong demand for faster access, 
and on leveraging all company resources to achieve 
its ambitious broadband targets.
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The following tables display the rapid annual growth 
rate of the broadband market in terms of customers 
(including Local Loop Unbundling - LLU) in Greece, 
as well as the quarterly evolution of total broadband 
connections, (OTE retail/wholesale and LLU), per 
quarter (000):

13:50

From fewer than 50,000 broadband connections at the beginning 
of 2005, OTE succeeded in increasing the number of connections 
tenfold within only two years, surpassing the original target of 500,000 
subscribers by the end of 2006, making Greece the world’s 
fastest-growing broadband market in 2006, with an increase of over 
200%, according to the Point Topic research firm.

Broadband Penetration Dec 05     Dec 06 
Population 1.5%  4.7% 
Households 4.1%                         13.8% 
Telephone Lines 2.9%  9.4% 

Q4 06

New Broadband Connections 

Q3 06

Q2 06

Q1 06
Q4 05

Q3 05

Q2 05

Q1 05

OTE ADSL (Retail & Wholesale)

2006  
2005  

2004  

LLU

+247%

+217%

1257675745018222551216146
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As part of its ‘Digital State’ Plan, the Greek State 
heralded 2007 as the Year of Broadband Services 
and undertook dynamic initiatives in the key areas of 
Information Technology (IT) and broadband Internet, 
which will be funded and implemented until 2013. 

In support of the Greek State’s effort to meet this 
target, OTE made specific proposals regarding 
the expansion of broadband penetration in 2007, 
stressing the need for:
•  Incentives that will encourage the growth of the 

PC market
•  Information and training on Internet and 

broadband services
•  Relevant subsidies for further broadband 

expansion
• Implementation of the ‘Digital State’ plan
•  Other incentives (related to research and 

technology, innovation or legal affairs)

In order to carry out its critical role in this fundamental project, OTE will pursue the upgrade and optimization 
of its network to meet the expected surge in demand.

Key Market Developments 
The broadband market has been characterized by the continuous development and offering of new innovative 
products by all telecom operators. Commercial initiatives, combined with the application of advanced 
telecommunication technologies, has brought about new market conditions, such as the availability of bundled 
products and services, combining telephony – video – Internet (triple play services) and an increase in the 
range of speeds offered (download speed from 512 kbps to 10 Mbps, upload from 128 kbps to 1 Mbps). At 
the same time, telecom operators have adopted competitive pricing policies, and provided integrated telecom 
solutions, tailored for specific customer groups and needs. In 2006, the total broadband market has expanded 
considerably, reflecting the growth in retail broadband connections sold directly by OTE, in wholesale 
connections provided by ΟΤΕ and distributed by alternative operators, as well as the increase in unbundled 
local loop connections from alternative carriers. 
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66%  ΟΤΕ ADSL (Retail)

ΟΤΕ ADSL 2006    

34%  ΟΤΕ ADSL (Wholesale)
95%  ΟΤΕ ADSL (Retail & Wholesale)

ADSL  2006

5%  LLU

The broadband 
market mix of 
approximately 
510,000 broadband 
lines at the end 
of 2006 was 
as follows: 

2007: The Year of Broadband 
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Conn-X was recognized 
as the leading 
commercial brand in 
the market in terms 
of sales and public 
awareness

Products and Services
As OTE focused its 2006 commercial strategy 
and marketing activities on promoting broadband 
penetration, Conn-X, its retail broadband brand, was 
recognized as the leading commercial brand in the 
market in terms of sales and public awareness. 
Conn-X’s promotion strategy included the 
doubling-up of rated xDSL line speeds, discount 
offers to boost its competitiveness, and the 
accelerated promotion of specialized products such as 
Conn-X@work, for business customers, and Conn-X 
Talk, the first OTE double-play product combining 
voice and data services .

Twice the speed at no additional cost
As part of its strategy to enhance broadband 
penetration with no extra charge for customers, OTE 
gradually doubled the rated speeds for xDSL access 
across the country since August 2006. The speed 
upgrade involved users’ ADSL lines and OTE’s 
main network infrastructure, which carries ADSL 
traffic. By the end of 2006, a total of more than 2,000 
nodes (DSLAMs) had been upgraded throughout the 
country. 
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Pricing Policy
Through successive tariff reductions and special 
Conn-X offers, tariff reductions in ADSL access 
and wholesale broadband offers, OTE successfully 
developed attractive and affordable broadband 
connection options. Broadband access tariffs 
dropped by 78% to 86% compared to the rates in 
effect when broadband services were first launched, 
notwithstanding the provision of significantly faster 
connection speeds.

Other initiatives with regard to broadband promotion 
include the countrywide, public awareness program 
of the Educational Mobile Unit “OTE on the 
Broadband-OTE Broadband Services”, the launch 
of the Conn-X Trial Pack, and the set up of Internet 
Corners within the OTE Shops. At the same time, 
OTE upgraded the quality of services and customer 
support pre- and post-sale, achieving a higher degree 
of customer satisfaction and loyalty for Conn-X and 
supporting the impressive increase in broadband 
penetration posted in 2006. 

Specialized Products 
To meet increasingly specialized customer needs, 
OTE developed a series of competitive products and 
services in 2006, such as Conn-X, its broadband 
Internet service; Conn-X Talk, which combines 
broadband Internet connection speeds with voice, 
including unlimited local and long-distance 
calls at specific times; Conn-X@Work, which 
provides continuous Internet high-speed access 
to professionals and businesses, along with the 
option to create local wireless or wireline LAN 
network; Conn-X View, which allows for the remote 
supervision of a specific area via computers or 
mobile phones, as well as the creation of user forums 
for data (video and image) exchange. In 2006, OTE 
also launched a WiFi Hotspots service, allowing 
companies to provide their customers with wireless 
Internet access on their laptop or PDA, at a charge 
defined, on a per case basis, by the company itself.

14:10

Rated access speeds prior to upgrade 
(downstream/upstream) 

384/128 kbps 
512/128 kbps 
1024/256 kbps

Rated access speeds post-upgrade 
(downstream/upstream)

768/192 kbps
1024/256 kbps
2048/256 kbps

Conn-X  
Conn-X Talk 
Conn-X@Work 
Conn-X View 
WiFi Hotspots

“OTE on the Broadband-OTE Broadband Services”
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A Leading Position 
in the ISP Market 

Reinforcing OTE Group’s position in the ISP (Internet Service Provider) market, OTEnet was acknowledged in 
2006 as the company with the highest public awareness within the Greek ISP market*. 

ΟΤΕnet is also actively involved in the development of broadband access services and value-added services, 
strengthening OTE Group’s position in this market, as well as in the provision of integrated solutions for 
telecommunication and IT services (systems integration) for companies and organizations. 

OTEnet’s services include: 
•  Internet access services (Dial up, ADSL permanent business connections) as well as additional access 

services (Dial up Roaming, protection and safety services, Web-based PIM services, telephony service 
through permanent Internet connection, remote area supervision service)

• Pre-paid Internet and telephony cards, with wireless access
•  Networking services and creation of Virtual Private Networks (MPLS IP-VPNs, VPDNs, Wireless  

LAN)
•  Systems & Applications Hosting services (Webpage and Equipment hosting, equipment use provision, 

Domain Name filing, Audio-Video signal transmission through the Internet)
• Applications development services (Web Sites and Portals, Corporate Portals, Business Applications)
•  Online advertisement services (advertisement campaign design on OTENET sites and portals 

network)
•  Integrated, value-added business solutions (LAN, INTRANET, EXTRANET, INTERNET networking 

infrastructure), customer support services (24hr Help Desk), consulting services for business 
procedures optimization (Business Continuity Planning, Information Security Consulting, Capacity 
Planning)

•  Development and operation of general-content portals and websites, such as www.otenet.gr, and 
special-content portals and websites, such as www.travel.gr, www.marketeye.gr, www.2x4.gr, www.
zuper.gr

14:20

OTEnet’s main activities include 
Internet access and services 
for residential and business 
customers, integrated voice 
and data services via Internet 
technologies (IP), as well as 
IT applications development 
and hosting services through IP 
technology. 

*Metron Analysis research, December 2006. 
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New Products 
In May 2007, in response to corporate and residential 
customer demands for higher speeds, OTE launched 
new ADSL packages offering higher speeds of 
4 Mbps and 8 Mbps, allowing faster data transfer 
as well as advanced broadband services requiring a 
larger network capacity.

In 2007, through the ‘School powered by Conn-X’ 
service, students from the first year of primary school 
through the fourth year of high school will be able 
to create their “digital self” (avatar) in an electronic 
school environment, and will be able to attend 
video-classes as part of the academic syllabus, learn 
up to three foreign languages, do exercises, play 
games and meet other “schoolmates”. Through this 
innovative broadband service, students are offered 
the opportunity to learn and improve their school 
performance in an enjoyable, interactive, broadband 
environment, while parents can monitor their 
children’s school performance and enjoy the comfort 
that their children’s Internet environment is safe.

The Academy by Conn-Χ service, currently under 
development, will also provide electronic and 
on-line education through broadband Internet, in an 
environment designed to make educational training 
effective and enjoyable through the use of interactive 
graphics, video and sound. 
 
Finally, in 2007, OTE will develop Integrated 
Solutions for Business Customers, which will 
combine ΑDSL access with services such as WLAN, 
Internet, hosted or on-site call centers, On Νet 
VoIP, Secure VPN over the Internet, and remote 
management with SLA.

The development of IPTV service 
will allow for the broadcast of 
TV programs through broadband 
connections, while partnerships 
with content providers will 
enhance and broaden consumer 
choices. Bundled products 
combining voice, fast Internet, 
and TV are being developed as 
part of OTE’s strategy to deliver 
double and triple play services.

 IPTV/content
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Finally, OTEnet has certified partnerships with leading manufacturers in the fields of network products and software, such as Cisco, HP, Microsoft and Oracle. These 
certifications enhance OTEnet’s business solutions and systems integration, and strengthen the Company’s relationship with the manufacturers. 

Significant Increase in Broadband Subscribers 
ΟΤΕnet continued to reinforce OTE Group’s efforts to accelerate broadband development during 2006 with a 28% increase in broadband connections compared to 
2005, amounting to 528,000 active connections. At the same time, Company’s active business connections amounted to 18,500, posting an annual increase of 32%. As 
a result, at the end of 2006, OTEnet had approximately a 53% ADSL Internet (retail, wholesale and LLU) market share and a 46% market share in residential Internet 
connections of all types (Dial up, ADSL cards, etc.).

At the same time, OTEnet’s portal, which had been redesigned at the end of 2005, reached the record number of 735,000 visitors per month during 2006 and ranked 2nd 
in terms of popularity among Greek websites. 
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735,000
visitors per month at OTEnet’s portal

28%
subscriber increase

Projects in 2006
Key Company projects in 2006 include the following:  
•  ‘OTEnet – Innovation 2006’, a competition organized by OTEnet through which the ΟΤΕ Group 

aims to promote innovation, Internet and broadband services. This event, under the auspices of the 
Special Secretariat for Information Society of the Ministry of Economy and Finance, began in 

 June 2006 and was concluded in March 2007
•  OTEnet Customer Service Center was awarded the 1st prize for best call service amongst Greek 

Internet companies at CRM (Customer Relation Management) Grand Prix
•  Implementation of an integrated fault management and resolution program: the average time for a 

fault repair in 2006 was 28 minutes, while the average response time to 80% of all faults was less than 
15 minutes

•  Launch of more than 22 products such as: OTEnet OnDSL, Live Camera, OTEnet Pass (Pay As You 
Go service), OTEnet OnDSL Kit Student (ΑDSL access for students), OTEnet Office Space Rental 
(office space and infrastructure rental service), OTEnet Security Kit (Antispyware, in an existing 
OTEnet service), Domains.gr and Domains.eu (provision of domain names resale services), OTEnet 
Shared SSL (SSL certificates provision service), MPLS VPN Wholesale (MPLS VPN product), 
OTEnet Tools, OTEnet Corporate Mail upgrade and mail and SMS quotas and other

•  Provision of MPLS and IP-VPN solutions to customers such as Geniki Bank (network connection of 
140 branch offices), OPAP – Greek Organization of Football Betting (installation of software control 
and management), Eurovision Song Contest (installation and on-site support of contest’s network 
infrastructure)

• Follow up on late payments 
•  Network connection of 1,300 points in a single data and voice network (as part of the 
 state-commissioned Sizevxis project)

1st prize for best call 
service amongst Greek 
Internet companies
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Traditional 
Fixed-Line Services 
During 2006, fixed-to-mobile 
substitution was contained, while 
the rapid increase in broadband 
connections, combined with 
growing consumer confidence in 
the quality of its services, enabled 
OTE to sustain its performance in 
fixed-line telephony. 

In 2006, fixed-line infrastructure investments by alternative operators remained low, resulting in low levels 
of Local Loop Unbundling (LLU). Conversely, competition intensified on the commercial front with the 
introduction of new products and services and aggressive pricing policies. In the Voice over IP (VoIP) market, 
LAN and WAN VoIP solutions, as well as IP VPNs with VoIP, on-net and off-net solutions displayed rising 
trends as a result of the increase of broadband connection speeds. 

While OTE’s market share remained largely unchanged in 2006, Greek fixed-line competition has been 
intensifying since the beginning of 2007 and alternative operators are gaining strength. OTE’s competitors 
are raising their investments and the number of unbundled local loops is increasing, as is the offering of 
new bundled products and services (double-play, triple-play) made possible by the expansion of broadband 
penetration. 

In response to these challenges, OTE will continue to develop and offer new broadband services, improve sales 
and customer service networks, and continue to launch innovative bundled products and services.  
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Financial Performance

Revenues (€ million) 2004 2005 2006
Broadband Services 6.7 16.3 33.4
Systems Integration  14.1 12.3 17.4

OTEnet’s financial performance in 2006 was somewhat impacted by higher expenses related to the dynamic promotion of new broadband services and efforts to 
strengthen its market position. Revenues of OTEnet amounted to €110.5 million in 2006, up 13% over the prior year, while operating income before depreciation and 
amortization (OIBDA) decreased by 77% compared to 2005, and amounted to €3.4 million. 

OTEnet’s key growth areas during the three-year period 2004-2006 were broadband access services (ADSL) 
and integrated solutions (systems integration). 
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A World of Endless Choices
In 2006, OTE broadened its product offering, 
providing residential and business customers with 
flat-rate voice packages. Residential customers may 
now choose between a number of flat-rate voice 
packages, including a range of 480-900 minutes 
pre-paid time for local and long-distance calls, 
while business customers may chose any of the 
OTEbusiness packages with 500-1,000 minutes, 
pre-paid time for local calls and 100-500 minutes 
free time for long-distance calls.  In addition, through 
the ΟΤΕbusiness packages, targeting business 
customers, OTE offers substantial discounts based on 
the overall volume of a company’s voice traffic.

The “OTEPILOGES” discount package offers 
significantly lower rates for calls to selected local, 
long-distance and mobile phone numbers as well 
as for international calls to selected countries, at 
no extra cost. The benefits of these lower rates 
vary according to the customer’s monthly bill. This 
specific program also offers the choice of free 
talk-time (“OTEPILOGES with free talk-time”).

As part of its digital services offering, presented under the “Do Not Miss Calls” motto, OTE provides the 
“Smart Fixed Telephone” package, with services such as caller ID, call waiting, call divert, call completion in 
busy lines and an enhanced package of voice mail services. 

The “Katexochin” holidays line plan addresses residential customers who own a country home. This specific 
program offers a telephone connection which is in operation for a total period of six months (four months 
during the summer, one month at Christmas and one month at Easter) with a six-month rental.

With the “65+” program OTE supports retired people over the age of 65, offering them free local and long-
distance calls, at no extra cost, with each bimonthly bill. OTE also provides a Student Pack package for 
University and College students who have, or wish to obtain, a PSTN or ISDN connection in the city where 
they are studying. 

Finally, OTE offers a large range of pre-paid phone cards tailored to meet the needs of specific customer 
segments and adapted to their particular calling habits or geographic requirements.
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Dynamic Promotion of Products and Services
OTE’s commercial activities in 2006 were based on dynamic marketing initiatives, strong promotional tactics, 
and best-of-class service offerings targeted at enhancing the Company’s visibility and strengthening customer 
services: 
•  Promotion of flat-rate voice packages for local and long-distance calls to effectively meet customer 

needs 
•  Promotion of key services, such as the “Smart Fixed Telephone”, which highlight the potential of 

fixed-line services 
•  Emphasis on the National Directory Enquiries service line 11888, as part of OTE’s strategy to boost 

public awareness and maintain market share
• Continuous development of value-added services
• Relationship building with customers and optimization of pre- and post-sale services
•  Extension of the shop network and availability of fixed-line, mobile telephony and Internet integrated 

solutions
•  Design and development of a nationwide corporate customer service network, which resulted in 

coverage of 15,000 major companies across Greece through the restructuring of OTE’s existing 
resources (telecommunication consultants).
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An Expanded Shop Network 

OTE Shops 
OTE’s retail distribution network comprises over 360 shops (OTE shops) throughout Greece. Of this total, 
116 units have already received ISO 9001:2000 certification and 18 additional franchise shops have adopted 
the new corporate image of the OTE Shops network. OTE shops recorded an increased number of customer 
visits in 2006, as evidenced by the collection of 22.5 million OTE bills and 5.2 million Cosmote bills, 
as well as by 84,000 ADSL/Conn-Χ product sales, during the year.

Germanos Stores 
The acquisition of the Germanos retail distribution network at the end of 2006 greatly enhances the potential 
of OTE’s distribution network. The extensive Germanos network, with more than 370 stores in Greece, 
specializes in telecoms and technology-related products. In the last four months of 2006, Conn-X sales 
through Germanos stores increased by more than 100% compared to the period preceding the acquisition of 
the network by OTE Group.

Customer Service Centers Number of Calls / Visits 2006

“134”, Customer Service & Sales Call Center > 4.2 million calls
“11888”, National Directory Enquiries Call Center  > 52 million calls

e-shop www.oteshop.gr 2 million visits
 20,000 online sales
National Directory Enquiries Website
www.whitepages.gr 7.5 million visits
Pre-Recorded Information ‘Tileplirofories ΟΤΕ’ 73 million calls

OTE’s specialized customer-service centers comprise the following:
• “OTELINE” call centre for outbound Telemarketing services
• “1502” call center for the issue of citizenship related certificates
• European Emergency Number, “112”
• “121”, Fault reports call center
• Service center for people with hearing disabilities
• Center for residential and business alerts, “OTEAlert Center”
•  Operator service for national, international calls as well as international directory enquiries, 
 “129-139”
• National and International Telegrams Center, “136”

Customer Service

Call Centers 
OTE’s call centers, which operate 
in four key areas in Greece, 
comprise 1,000 working stations 
and handle calls and requests 
from all over the country. The 
call centers are ISO 9001:2000 
certified, employ highly trained 
personnel and operate 
state-of-the-art equipment. 
During 2006 OTE recorded 
the following customer service 
statistics:
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A High-Potential Market 
Over the next few 
years, the fixed-line 
wholesale market is 
expected to grow at a 
fast pace as a result not 
only of the accelerated 
offering of new 
products and services, 
but also as an indirect 
effect of market share 
gains by alternative 
carriers.  

The wholesale market has special characteristics as the 
majority of products and services are primarily the end 
result of regulatory requirements. Moreover, local loop 
unbundling allowed alternative operators to compete 
with OTE more aggressively in the retail market, and 
intensified competition between all operators who 
have built their own infrastructure and offer alternative 
network Ethernet-related services, ΑDSL and wireless 
broadband access services.   

Identifying business opportunities among various 
trends in the wholesale market, OTE designs and 
develops innovative wholesale services to meet 
specialized and growing customer demands, respond to 
competition and contribute to the further development 
of the Greek telecommunications market.

Integrated Wholesale Services
Wholesale products and services, aimed at alternative 
operators, include, among others, interconnection 
circuits, local loop services, number portability, 
the uniform National Call Number (EPAK), leased 
lines and voice interconnection telecommunication 
services, such as: 
•  Call termination to geographical numbers of OTE 

or other providers
•  Call origination from OTE’s network through 

carrier selection and pre-selection
•  Pre-paid traffic cards sold by domestic telecom 

providers;
•  Call termination to mobile telephony network 

numbers
•  Call termination to non-geographical numbers, 800 

and 801, by ΟΤΕ and domestic telecom providers
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In 2006 OTE upgraded all its existing wholesale services 
and promoted new competitive products and services, 
including:
• Doubling of ADSL access speeds
•  Extension and enrichment of the Integrated 

Central Connection to the ADSL network 
(O.K.SY.A ΙΙ service) through Gigabit Ethernet 
as well as the possibility of linking operators at 
a central or regional level (Central or Regional 
O.K.SY.A)

•  Promotion of wholesale data services, such 
as IP Backbone and Metropolitan Ethernet, 
as well as broadband access services which 
will meet the demand of alternative operators 
for an infrastructure that may accommodate 
triple-play services and technology convergence

•  Development of an access service on the basis of 
the Universal Directory Service

•  Extensive offering of the interconnection 
service between telephone networks, called 
“Imi-Zevxis”

•  Activation of the electronic filing system for 
LLU, wholesale ADSL and pre-selection (for 
providers) service requests

Q4 06

With these developments, OTE is well positioned 
to provide the wholesale market with new products 
and services in 2007, including high-capacity 
levels and new leased line interconnection services, 
Backhaul SDH, Bitstream and long-term leased line 
agreements. 

Local Loop Unbundling (LLU) Developments
Until mid-2006, the number of applications filed 
by alternative carriers for access to the local loop 
remained low. However, toward the end of the year, 
rate of applications began to accelerate. By the end of 
2006, there were more than 12,000 fully unbundled 
local loops available, in total, compared to 5,000 in 
2005 and more than 7,000 partial loops compared to 
1,900 in 2005. 

The following table displays the growth rate of Local 
Loop Unbundling (LLU) on a quarterly basis. These 
figures include the total number of fully and partially 
unbundled local loops:

11.22.62.21.81.51.21.11.4

New LLU Lines (000)

Q3 06

Q2 06

Q1 06
Q4 05

Q3 05

Q2 05

Q1 05
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Growing access to the local loop contributes to the 
faster penetration of broadband services and the 
expansion of the existing array of services. 

In 2006, demand for services relevant to LLU, such 
as Co-Location, grew significantly. OTE provided 
Remote Co-Location service in more than 80 local 
exchanges in 2006, while the number of Remote 
Co-Location service agreements amounted to 
approximately 180, compared to less than 
160 in 2005.  At the same time, in 2006, 90 physical 
Co-Location services became effective in 
31 local exchanges, compared to nine Co-Location 
agreements made available in four local exchanges 
in 2005.

Wholesale Leased Lines
The total number of leased line circuits stabilized 
in 2006, surpassing 13,800 at year end. Wholesale 
leased line circuits amounted to 6,600, while 
interconnection leased line circuits exceeded 7,200 
at the end of 2006. During the same year, OTE 
recorded strong demand for high-capacity circuits.

Interconnection
As far as the Interconnection service for telephone 
networks is concerned, there was a 6% annual 
increase in the alternative operators traffic volume 
terminating at OTE’s network, approaching 
5.5 billion minutes in 2006, compared to less than 
5.2 billion minutes in 2005. Origination traffic 
minutes also increased by approximately 6% in 
2006, reaching 6.8 billion minutes, compared to 
approximately 6.4 billion minutes in 2005.

Higher Growth Rates
Wholesale service revenues increased by 11% in 
2006, as illustrated in the graph below:

* Each year displays the total revenues from 
Interconnection / Roaming / Termination/ Leased lines, 
Wholesale ADSL, LLU /Co-Location
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2006 

+11%

214.2193.6

Wholesale Revenues (€ million)  

2005 
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Quality Assurance for Customer Services 
Throughout 2006, OTE systematically monitored 
developments in the wholesale market in order to 
identify market trends, record the increasing needs of 
customers and create individual customer profiles.

At the customer service level, the application of 
the wholesale CRM system (W-CRM) is expected 
to increase the quality of operator services through 
the electronic filing, monitoring and processing of 
requests, as well as to allow for timely information 
flow about key customer issues. As part of the 
W-CRM application, OTE created Management 
and Monitoring Information Systems for local loop 
services, ADSL subscriber connections and the 
carrier pre-selection service.

Focused on managing wholesale 
client relationships effectively 
and handling requests, filed by 
telecom operators, in the most 
efficient manner, OTE issues 
certificates, reports for ADSL 
and provide carrier pre-selection 
and local loop services as well as 
post-sale support and helpdesk 
services.
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www.otewholesale.gr

As part of its customer-oriented strategy, OTE is 
committed to keeping wholesale customers updated 
on service offerings, pricing policy and other issues 
relating to the wholesale market. 
For this purpose, the wholesale customer’s webpage, 
www.otewholesale.gr, is updated on an ongoing 
basis.
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OTE Globe: Management 
of International Telephony
In 2006, OTE pursued the gradual 
transfer of its international 
telephony activities to 
OTE Globe, with the aim of 
ensuring that alternative operators 
and major business customers 
enjoy specialized, high-quality 
international telephony services.

During the year, OTE Globe 
took over full management 
of OTE’s international Call 
Centers, cable systems and 
contracts. The Company currently 
provides integrated international 
wholesale solutions in the Greek 
market, as well as international 
telecommunications services in 
international markets. 

The Company’s activities are focused on:
•  Development, promotion and provision of a 

large range of Data/IP services, capacities and 
interconnection products, as well as integrated 
voice, image and multimedia  transfer solutions

•  Telecom operator services, both in the Greek 
and international market, based on integrated 
and specialized solutions

•  Commercial development and management of 
OTE’s international telephony activities

•  Design, implementation and management of the 
international network MPLS/IP (MSP)

•   Provision of integrated International Network 
MPLS/IP services to major business customers 
and operators in the Balkan region and 
Southeast Europe

OTE Globe is also responsible for the commercial 
management of the international multiple-services 
platform MPLS/IP (MSP), with presence in 14 
global locations (Athens, Amsterdam, Bucharest, 
Thessaloniki, Constantinople, Nicosia, London, 
Milan, New York, Paris, Skopje, Sofia, Tirana and 
Frankfurt), which ensures OTE Group’s autonomous 
presence in the international centers of Internet and 
telephony exchange traffic. 

Finally, in 2006 ΟΤΕ Globe launched the GWEN 
network, the biggest international telephone route in 
the country, which connects Greece (mainly through 
terrestrial routes) with large European cities, via Italy. 

Based on its high-speed infrastructure, ΟΤΕ 
Globe also offers a wide range of wholesale 
capacity services, such as traditional IPLC’s, Full 
Circuits (SDH) service, as well as the Wavelength 
service. Moreover, as part of its international 
telephony (wholesale) operations, OTE Globe 
provides advanced integrated service packages 
for International Wholesale Hubbing and for 
International Wholesale VoIP.

The Company also offers:
•  Data services with integrated end-to-end 

interconnection and value-added solutions for 
businesses

•  Internet Transit services for carriers such 
as the GRX (GPRS Roaming Exchange) for 
mobile operators, so that they can meet their 
subscribers’ GPRS coverage needs while they 
are abroad

•  Ethernet, for both operator networks (Ethernet 
Transport) and businesses Networks (Ethernet 
VPN)
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The international telecommunication traffic is routed 
via three international TDM digital exchanges (two 
in Athens and one in Thessaloniki), while part of the 
traffic is routed through the use of VoIP technology 
(through the MPLS/IP platform). The international 
digital exchanges are interconnected with international 
networks via submarine and terrestrial cables as well 
as via satellite connections. 

During the year, the Company participated in the 
design of an InterBalkan Network, connecting the 
Balkans with Western Europe. This network will 
constitute an alternative geographical route for 
GWEN (Greece, Italy, Western Europe) and will 
cover increased broadband demands. ΟΤΕ Globe 
was also engaged in the design and implementation 
of the international networks ΝΝΙ’s interconnection 
with Telefonica and reinforced its presence in the 
global Internet Exchanges (IXs), almost doubling the 
interconnection capacity from four GBPs to seven 
GBPs. Finally OTE Globe upgraded the capacity of 
the International Network MPLS/IP (MSP) backbone 
by 40%, to 16 Gbps, to accommodate the increasing 
needs of the Greek market stemming from accelerated 
broadband development.

All in all, 2006 can be considered a successful year for 
OTE’s international telephony operations, with regards to 
both data (I.P. data & SDH capacities) and voice services. 

2006 revenues amounted to €163 million, a 21% increase compared to 2005, while operating income before 
depreciation and amortization (OIBDA) increased by 11.7% and amounted to €10.4 million.

ΟΤΕ Globe’s key targets for 2007 include the successful management of its operations recently acquired 
from OTE and the increase in market share from alternative, mobile and international operators’ traffic, 
thus generating new revenue streams for the Group. Furthermore, OTE Globe intends to increase its market 
penetration in Southeast Europe and leverage on available opportunities, especially in Middle Eastern markets, 
through strategic partnerships and participation in infrastructure-related projects.
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Enhancing Network 
Infrastructure
The rapid expansion of broadband penetration along 
with increased demand for data transfer require 
the migration from TDM and copper infrastructure 
networks, designed for voice services, to IP 
technology which carries multimedia traffic. 
At the same time, increasing demand for access 
creates the need for a relevant adjustment of 
transmission systems and of the architecture of the 
backbone network.  

Within this context, and acknowledging its critical 
role in the rapid development and expansion 
of broadband penetration, OTE continues to invest 
in network platforms, services platforms and support 
systems. Ongoing efforts involve infrastructure 
investments across the country and are aimed at 
enabling migration to an advanced, high-capacity 
network, which will support a wide range of 
broadband services. 

In 2006, network investments enabled OTE to meet its target of 760,000 installed ADSL lines and 
approximately 40 physical co-locations of alternative operators in ΟΤΕ’s exchanges, double ADSL access 
speeds and, finally, develop a Metro Ethernet infrastructure.

Fixed-Line Network Infrastructure and Quality 
OTE’s fixed-line network consists of approximately 2,400 local exchanges. The installed capacity of OTE’s 
exchanges, as of December 31, 2006, stood at 5.9 million PSTN lines, 660,000 ISDN BRA lines and 9,500 
PRA lines, while total active connections consisted of 4.8 million PSTN lines, nearly 600,000 ISDN BRA lines 
and over 6,200 PRA lines. 
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Fixed-line activity is also supported by data-transfer 
networks such as:

The ΑΤΜ (HELLASTREAM) Network, a data 
package transfer network based on ATM technology, 
with 47 points of presence all over Greece. Through 
the ΑΤΜ network, customers are provided with Cell 
Relay circuits of 2 Mbps-155 Mbps and Frame Relay 
up to 2 Mbps.

The HELLASCOM Network, which serves 15,800 
active circuits with 12,500 nodes installed. This 
particular network provides digital leased circuits of 
nX64 Kbps up to 2 Mbps.
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In 2006, network quality indicators were as follows:
 
Quality Indicators Figures
Fault frequency per year 13 per 100 connections
Unsuccessful calls rate  2.6%
Ratio of fault repair in one working day 78.6%
Response time for voice mail services 15 sec
Response time for directory enquiries 15 sec
Ratio of public pay-phones (using coins or phone cards) in operation 97% (Attica region)
Customer complaints on billing mistakes 0.087%

Broadband Services Network 

IP Access
The ΙΡ Access Network consists of 82 points of 
presence across the country and supports services 
such as: IP VPNs, IP Transit, VoIP VPNs, Central 
Connection to the ADSL Network (O.K.SY.A) 
and Dial-Up Internet access. Aiming to ensure the 
efficient operation of the ADSL network, in 2006, 
the ΙP Access network was enhanced with BRAS 
technology, through the increase in BRAS points 
of presence, from nine to 12 and the increase in the 
number of systems that correspond to these points, 
from 19 to 30. 

IP Backbone
OTE’s IP Backbone Network consists of six points of 
presence within and outside Athens. Network nodes 
are connected via nX10 Gbps, 2.5 Gbps or 
nX622 Mbps circuits. 

Ethernet 
By December 31, 2006, the Metro Ethernet network 
had 87 points of presence in Athens and Thessaloniki. 
This figure is expected to rise in 2007, through the 
development of Ethernet network in various capital 
cities.

ADSL 
Despite the challenging geographical features of 
Greece, a mountainous country with many dispersed 
islands, in 2006 OTE tripled its ADSL presence, 
increasing installed ADSL ports from 216,000 at the 
end of 2005 to 760,000 at the end of 2006. 
Τhe ADSL service, with approximately 1,100 points 
of presence and more than 2,200 installed DSLAMs 
is now widely available across Greece even in areas 
with less than 500 fixed-line connections. IP Backbone  

Ethernet
ADSL
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Local Loop
At the end of 2006, there were more than 19,000 
local loops fully or partially unbundled, as well as 
approximately 40 physical co-locations in OTE’s 
local exchanges and 80 remote co-locations. 
The co-locations served 15 alternative telecom 
operators. 

Wireless Access
By the end of the year, there were also 160 wireless 
multi-point narrow band systems (Point-to-MultiPoint) 
installed in the 1.5 GHz, 2.5 GHz and 3.5 GHz 
bands. In 2007, three pilot WiMAx systems are 
expected to be operational, two of which will be 
installed in the Attica region. ΟΤΕ began to develop 
two of these WiMAx systems, in 2006.

Network Migration 
The gradual network migration from TDM technology to New Generation Networks (NGN) will be the focal 
point of OTE’s strategy during the period 2006-2008. Projects which were launched in 2006 and relate to 
OTE’s network transformation include the following:
• Transformation of the ΑΤΜ DSLAMs into Ethernet DSLAMs
• Development of Metro Ethernet infrastructure in all capital cities
• Installation and launch of three pilot WiMax systems, two of which are located in the Attica region

In 2007, OTE also plans to proceed with the following:
•  Installation of approximately 7,000 SHDSL ports for the provision of symmetrical E-Line services, 

through the Metro Ethernet network
• Launch of VoIP services for ADSL network subscribers, based on SIP protocol equipment
•  Implementation of a pilot project for IP-TV services (broadcasting, VoD) through the Ethernet 

DSLAM network
•  Evaluation of WIMAX technology, at a pilot level, as a means to provide alternate broadband access 

in geographical areas either without copper network access or with insufficient broadband access 
speeds, based on the existing infrastructure
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The implementation of the Voluntary Retirement 
Plan, combined with the hiring of 1,235 new 
employees, had a positive impact on the average 
age of the OTE workforce. While the average 
age before the Voluntary Retirement Plan was 
48, as of December 2006 (following the VRP) it 
dropped to 44 years. The average age of retirees 
was over 50 years whilst the average of new 
employees was around 30 years of age.  
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47 48 44

2004  
2005  

2006  
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Human Resources
OTE Voluntary Retirement Plan (VRP)
OTE’s Voluntary Retirement Plan ended in October 
2006, marking the completion of a challenging 
and complex project which was at the top of 
Management’s agenda since early 2005. In effect, 
the conclusion of the plan allows the Company to 
adjust its headcount to competitive market standards 
and, combined with the newly implemented 
organizational structure, is instrumental in helping 
the Company achieve operational flexibility within a 
highly competitive environment.

The plan was endorsed by Law 3371/2005 and 
executed from October 2005 to October 2006. During 
the application submission period, 5,562 employees 
applied for early retirement, 5,216 of which were 
eligible to retire based on applicable employment 
legislation and OTE’s Internal Personnel Regulation. 
A total of 699 employees retired in 2005 and 4,060 
in 2006. In late 2006, the Company hired 1,235 new 
employees with skills consistent with technology 
and market trends, thus bringing the Company’s total 
number of employees, at the end of 2006, to 11,755 
people, down 20% from the previous year level.  

Significant Headcount Reduction 
Following the completion of the Voluntary 
Retirement Plan and the recruitment of new 
employees, the Company’s headcount was as 
follows:
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2004  

16,302 14,741 11,755

2005  

2006  

* Each year depicts the total number of employees after the 
impact of retirements and recruitments.

from

16,302
to

11,755
employees
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Business Environment Reform
During 2006, the Greek Parliament enacted Law 
3522/2006 concerning OTE’s Internal Personnel 
Regulation and introducing new working standards 
more compatible with those of the general private 
sector. The revised Internal Personnel Regulation 
allows OTE to manage company human resources 
in a more efficient manner, improve its operational 
performance within a highly competitive 
environment and, finally, implement an integrated 
HR Management and Development Program, with 
emphasis on personnel motivation, performance and 
professional development. 

Personnel Training 
OTE’s active involvement in the technologically 
advanced and rapidly changing telecoms 
environment requires a strong commitment to 
training and development as well as the ability 
to respond readily to market developments and 
challenges. The Company’s key objective is to 
provide its people with training opportunities and 
the necessary tools for a successful professional and 
personal development.

In the past two years, employee 
participation in professional 
training programs, organized 
either by the Company or other 
professional training institutions, 
has intensified. The OTE 
Human Resources department 
and ΟΤΕΑcademy, an OTE 
Group company engaged in the 
development of professional 
training programs, have designed 
and implemented a wide variety 
of training programs that provide 
access to new contemporary fields 
of expertise. 

Seminar subject content corresponds to the 
training needs highlighted by OTE’s Target 
Setting System implemented across OTE’s 
organizational divisions. Overall, available 
training programs attempt to address both the 
specialization needs and required skill-set 
prescribed by the rapid developments in the 
telecommunications market and our need to excel 
in terms of know-how and best business practice. 

In 2006, almost 3,500 OTE Group employees 
participated in training courses covering subject 
areas such as:
• Telecommunications Technologies   
• IT Technologies     
• Customer Service    
• Sales      
• Human Resources Development   
• Regulatory issues    
• Finance
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The age mix of OTE employees at the end of 2006 
was as follows:

The 1,235 new employees enhanced Company competences chiefly in the areas of technology and IT, and 
took on the commitment to further boost broadband services. The new recruits also assumed positions 
in the administrative and financial areas. The following graphs depict the distribution of new employees 
based on their function and education levels:

56% 35-49 years of age
29% 50-65 years of age

15% 20-34 years of age

74% Technical 
20% Administrative

4% Financial

2% Other

48% Secondary Education
35% Technical Education

17% University Education
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Key 2006 Projects 
During 2006, OTE proceeded with the following:
•  Completion of a Quality Management Program (ISO9001), for OTE’s Retail Distribution Network, 

of the first phase of ‘Environmental Management Systems’ (ISO14001) and finally the ‘Health and 
Safety at Work’ (ELOT 1801) program, regarding service operations

•  Implementation of best organizational corporate governance practices according to Sarbanes Oxley 
(SOX) such as: Updating of Internal Operation Regulations, Board of Directors Operation, Project 
Management

• Drafting and approval of the Company’s Code of Ethics
• Senior positions (job) description
• Drafting of the Circular for the CEO and Board of Directors’ Responsibilities Delegation
• Upgrade of the Integrated Business Resources Management System (ODEP)
• Drafting of procedures relevant to projects highlighted by OTE’s Business Plan
•  Organization of a Management Executive Skills Development Program for Heads of Departments, 

titled: “Effective Leadership and Communication”
• Employee satisfaction review (conducted via a questionnaire)
 
Within the scope of its Human Resources strategy, OTE carried out research on Human Resources 
development programs adopted by major European Telecommunication Companies, in order to determine and 
study the best practices in this particular field and consider their potential implementation by ΟΤΕ. 

2007 Activities 
In 2007, the Company will continue with the following:
•  Launch of an integrated ‘Job Evaluation Plan’, which will set the 

foundations for a new, performance appraisal system
•  Αppointment of HR Development Consultants per region and 

organizational unit
• Training of Heads of Departments in HR management issues
• Implementation of ‘Corporate Culture Enhancement’ programs

Rewarding Excellence in Performance
The implementation of a Target Setting-Appraisal 
and Reward System in 2006, bolsters OTE’s efforts 
for a two-way communication relationship with 
employees and for a sound reward system for 
employees who outperform. Through the specific 
three-fold (Target Setting-Appraisal-Reward) 
program the Company is able not only to evaluate 
and reward its employees, based on their project 
related performance, but most importantly to get 
acquainted with employees’ personal skills.



OTE’s Board of Directors, for the fiscal year 2006, consists of the following members:

Panagis Vourloumis Chairman and CEO/Executive member

Iakovos Georganas Vice-Chairman/Non executive member

Georgios Bitros Non executive member

Charalambos Dimitriou Non executive member

Ilias Gounaris Non executive member

Georgios Gerapetritis Independent/ Non executive member

Xeni Skorini-Paparrigopoulou Independent/ Non executive member

Nikolaos Stefanou Non executive member

Panagiotis Tabourlos Independent/ Non executive member

Georgios Tzovlas Independent/ Non executive member

Theodoros Veniamis Non executive member

Page 86

Management
OTE’s Management team consists of:

Panagis Vourloumis Chairman and Managing Director

Iordanis Aivazis (as of 29/05/07) Chief Operating Officer

Athanassia Evans  Chief Commercial Officer for Business and Residential Customers

Maria Efthimerou (as of 10/02/07) Chief Technology Officer

Giorgos Ioannidis (until 10/02/07) Chief Technology Officer

Konstantinos Kappos  Chief Information Officer

Andreas Karageorgos  Chief Regional Officer

Christos Katsaounis  Chief Officer of National Wholesale Services

Kosmas Liaros  Chief Internal Audit Officer

Konstantinos Ploumbis  General Director of Regulatory Affairs

Paraskevas Passias (as of 29/05/07)  General Counsel

Christini Spanoudaki (as of 29/05/07) Chief Financial Officer

Nikolaos Tsatsanis  Chief Human Resources Officer
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Corporate Social 
Responsibility 
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Corporate Social Responsibility 
is an integral part of OTE’s 
strategy, playing an important role 
in the Company’s planning and 
decision-making processes.

In 2006, OTE continued to build upon its “Building 
Ties” CSR approach with regard to the marketplace, 
its people, the environment and society. Aiming to 
fully incorporate CSR into its strategic planning, 
during 2006, OTE set up a CSR committee and 
adopted the principles of the Global Reporting 
Initiative (GRI) for Sustainability Reporting 
Guidelines, in order to gradually align its CSR 
reporting procedures with international practices and 
standards. 

Making a Difference in the Marketplace 
Focused on responding to customer needs in the most 
efficient manner, in 2006, OTE proceeded with the 
following:
•  Optimization of products and services, based on 

customer comments and feedback accumulated from 
1,200 interviews and 1,200 telephone surveys

•  Implementation of a new OTE Code of Conduct 
(May 2006), which lays down the principles of 
ethical business conduct, seeking to uphold the 
highest standards of business ethics

•  Sustained effort towards the primacy of 
confidentiality and information security in 
telecommunications

•  Offering of specialized services for specific 
target groups such as the elderly and people with 
physical disabilities

•  Certification of 116 OTE shops according to 
ELOT EN ISO 9001:2000 by the Hellenic 
Organization for Standardization (ELOT).

As part of its commitment to bolster the “Information 
Society” project in Greece, OTE pursued the 
roll-out of a three-year broadband expansion 
program, launched in 2005. Within this scope, OTE 
placed special emphasis on the provision of ADSL 
access to remote regions and surpassed its business 
targets by tripling ADSL connections. In 2006, 

the Company also launched the “OTE on the 
Broadband” Roadshow, a mobile educational unit, 
which visited 16 cities in Greece to promote the 
benefits of broadband services.

Taking Care of Employees 
As part of its strategy to stimulate and promote 
internal communications and provide equal 
opportunities among its workforce, OTE continued 
with:
•  Development of a new intranet site, to be launched 

in 2007, which aims to further enhance internal 
communication processes

•  Fostering an equal opportunity environment as 
implied by the increase in the number of women 
in senior management positions and hiring people 
with physical or mental disabilities

Aiming to ensure the professional and personal 
development and well being of its employees, in 
2006, OTE:
•  Published for the first time a Health & Safety 

guidelines brochure
•  Continued to provide a wide range of benefits, 

beyond those required by law, such as private 
insurance schemes, child care benefits and early 
salary payments upon request

•  Significantly increased training hours for 
employees (which totaled 72,223 in 2006), placing 
emphasis on their affiliation with new technologies

Minimizing OTE’s impact on the Environment
In 2006, OTE proceeded with specific measures 
that highlight the Company’s commitment to 
environmental protection and the reduction of 
emissions and energy consumption. These include:
•  Replacement of older vehicles with 25 

environmentally friendly trucks
•  Installation of a high-performance air conditioning 

system at OTE’s headquarters in Athens, which 
halves water and energy consumption, and 
replacement of traditional heating systems with 
natural gas systems at OTE buildings in the cities 
of Thessaloniki and Larissa

•  Daily transportation of 1,000 employees to and 
from OTE headquarters via 22 buses in order to 
help reduce the air pollution in Athens

In support of environmental causes , the Company:
•  Continued to recycle used materials with particular 

emphasis on paper recycling. In 2006, OTE recycled 
250 tons of paper in the Attica region and 500 kilos 
of batteries during the second half of the year

•  Intensified efforts to acquaint employees with 
electronic communication media

Partnering with Society
Being one of the most proactive supporters of 
groups or organizations dedicated to the protection 
of children and physically or mentally challenged 
people, OTE:
•  Made significant contributions (through 

sponsorships and social marketing activities) to 
organizations and groups such as: “The Child’s 
Smile,” MDA HELLAS, the Cerebral Palsy 
(CP) Society, the Hellenic Society for Disabled 
Children (ELEPAP) and other. In 2006, OTE also 
raised €220,000 through its Christmas Campaign 
for the benefit of  charitable organizations

•  Participated in fundraising initiatives organized by 
Greek television channels, charitable organizations 
or NGOs, and made €195,600 worth of donations 
in support of various disability groups

•  Sponsored various NGOs such as the Food 
  Bank-Foundation against Hunger, Médecins du  
 Monde, Drug Use Prevention groups, the Hellenic  
 Cancer Society and others
•  Raised 1,592 units of blood through its Voluntary 

Blood Donation program, embraced and sustained 
by OTE employees

 

Taking an active interest in promoting research and 
technology, the Company:
•  Offered 686 students the opportunity to complete 

their training at OTE and hired 2,520 for part-time 
work at Company call centers 

•  Provided ADSL internet access to all students 
participating in the student Internet program 
“Diodos” via the National Network for Research 
and Technology

•  Launched a program that involves the collection 
of second-hand PCs (property of OTE) and their 
distribution  to schools and NGOs across the 
country

•  Participated in various National, European and 
International research programs

•  Contributed over €300,000, three times the 
amount provided in 2005, to the organization 
and sponsorship of technology and 
telecommunications conferences such as the 
45th Annual Conference of the European Union 
(FITCE) Federation of Telecommunications 
Engineers
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Corporate Governance

16:45

As a publicly traded company, OTE operates within the framework of the Greek Capital Market and is 
regulated by the relevant provisions of the laws governing the Stock Exchange and the Capital Market. 
The Athens Stock Exchange and the Hellenic Capital Market Committee constitute the Company’s 
supervisory bodies. Company obligations are embodied in the decision 5/204/2000 of the Hellenic Capital 
Market Committee, which was revised by the Hellenic Capital Market Committee decisions 3/348/2005 and 
7/372/2006. The Company is also obliged to follow the provisions of Law 3016/2002, as applicable, which 
introduces the principles of corporate governance in the Greek legislative framework.

Since the introduction and trading of OTE shares in New York Stock Exchange (N.Y.S.E) in November 
1998, OTE is also bound by the relevant U.S regulation, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the 
regulations of the US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

Compensation and Human Resources Committee
The Compensation & Human Resources Committee 
was established by OTE’s Management in 2004. This 
Committee is appointed by the Company’s Board 
of Directors and consists of a minimum of three 
members, at least two of which  are non-executive. 
The Chairman of the Committee is also appointed 
by the Board of Directors. The Committee meets at 
least twice a year and reports directly to the Board of 
Directors. 

The Compensation & Human Resources Committee 
sets the principles of the Company’s human resources 
policy and defines the Company’s compensations and 
remuneration strategy. Furthermore the Committee 
approves compensation and benefits plans, stock 
option right programs, reward plans for target 
achievement, and sets the principles of Corporate 
Social Responsibility.

Audit Committee
OTE’s Management established an internal Audit Committee in April 1999. According to its Regulation, 
the Audit Committee is comprised of three independent non-executive members of the Board of Directors, 
of which, at least one is an economics expert. One of the members also serves as Chairman.  The role of 
the Committee is to supervise internal auditors and to assist OTE’s Board of Director’s with its overseeing 
responsibilities, by monitoring the financial information published by the Company, its audit systems 
(established by the Management and the Board of Directors), as well as the audit process, based on the 
legislative and regulatory framework for the Organization’s operations and the current legislation on the 
operation of certified public auditors.

The Audit Committee meets in four scheduled sessions each year following the preparation of the quarterly 
financial statements but prior to their publication. It may also be convened in extraordinary sessions whenever 
this is deemed necessary. The Audit Committee meets quorum requirements when its Chairman and one 
additional member are present. In the event that such quorum exists, the third member may be represented by 
the Chairman or the Audit Committee member that is present. Resolutions of the Audit Committee are adopted 
upon an absolute majority of the total number of its members. The Audit Committee’s responsibilities are 
supervisory and have an advisory character. 

The members of the Audit Committee as of June 2006 are: Panagiotis Tabourlos (Chairman),
Xeni Skorini-Paparrigopoulou and Georgios Tzovlas.
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Harmonization 
of Greek-European 
Legislation 
The Greek regulatory framework of electronic communications follows 
the guidelines of European Electronic Communications Regulatory 
Framework and as a result the Greek Telecommunications Regulatory 
Authority is responsible for the harmonization of the Greek electronic 
communications market with European Union (EU) legal provisions. 

Within this framework, 2006 could be considered a milestone 
year since the new European regulatory framework for electronic 
communications was incorporated in the national legislation through 
State law. 
Specifically, Law 3431/2006, which came into effect in February 2006 defined both the new regulatory 
framework of electronic communications as well as the operations and responsibilities of the Greek Regulatory 
Authority (National Committee of Telecommunications and Posts or EETT). Law 3431/2006 replaced Law 
2867 applicable since 2000, one year before the liberalization of Greek telecommunication market.
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Measures for the protection of the market, as applied 
by EETT, against actions that threaten healthy 
competition include: the conduct of hearings and 
consultations, the imposition of regulatory and 
restraining measures, fines, etc. 

National Telecommunications and Posts 
Committee (EETT)
With regard to Regulatory Authority’s role and 
authorities, both new Law 3431/2006 (which 
describes EETT’s responsibilities in detail) as well 
as Law 2246/1994 (which mandated the foundation 
of the Regulatory Authority), define EETT’s role, 
which involves the regulation and supervision of 
electronic communications, aiming to endorse a 
healthy competitive environment, improve product 
and service quality, and encourage the provision of 
affordable services for the end user. 

EETT’s decisions and public consultations define 
fixed-line market conditions. Once regulatory 
decisions or consultations have been finalized, OTE 
examines the data and assess their impact on the 
Company and its operations. Any regulatory decision, 
regarding either the retail or wholesale market, 
implies a series of regulatory commitments for 
OTE which, among other things, relate to issues of 
integrity, transparency, accounting separation, price 
and cost control, and the submission of Reference 
Interconnection Offers. 

In 2006, ΕΕΤΤ issued regulatory decisions 
regarding Licensing, Numbering, Access, 
Leased Lines, Local Loop Unbundling, 
Interconnection, Universal Service and other 
issues.



Σελίδα 94 17:05

17:05



   

17:2017:15





17:35 17:40





17:55 18:00





18:15 18:20



Page 11118:30

18:30



Page 112 18:35

Mobile Telephony 
Operations
Cosmote, ΟΤΕ Group’s mobile telephony operator, is the leading provider 
of mobile communications in Greece. The Company also enjoys a leading 
position in the Albanian mobile telephony market and is active in the 
rapidly growing mobile markets of Bulgaria, the Former Yugoslav Republic 
of Macedonia (FYROM) and Romania. 

Mobile Telephony 2006 Financial Data Summary
(€ million)

 OTE Cosmote RomTelecom Other Group**
Revenues 2,715   2,382   895   495   5,891  
Operating income before depreciation and amortization* 790   876   338   163   2,167  
Operating income before depreciation and amortization margin 29.1% 36.8% 37.8% 33.0% 36.8%
CAPEX 226   442   208   - 962  
CAPEX as % of revenues 8.3% 18.6% 23.3% - 16.3%

* Excluding the impact of OTE SA Voluntary Retirement Plan in 2005&2006 and the non-recurring gains related to Cosmote Romania in 2005 
** Adjustments & eliminations are not presented separately
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Mobile Telephony Operations  ΟΤΕ Participation, Dec 31, 2006

Direct Participation:     
Cosmote Mobile telephony services 67.00%
      
Indirect Participation:     
AMC Mobile telephony services 55.24%
Globul Mobile telephony services 67.00%
Cosmofon Mobile telephony services 67.00%
Cosmote Romania Mobile telephony services 63.10%
Germanos SA Retail services 66.35%

Significant Increase in Subscriber Numbers in 
Greece and Abroad
The excellent performance of the Group’s mobile 
operations continued in 2006, both in the mature 
Greek market and in the developing mobile markets 
of Southeast Europe. Subscriber numbers increased 
by 12% in Greece, 27% in Albania, 23% in FYROM, 
and 37% in Bulgaria compared to 2005.  In 
Romania, where commercial activity was launched 
in December 2005, the total number of subscribers 
increased by more than twenty times. OTE Group’s 

mobile customer base, including all markets in which 
Cosmote is present, exceeds 11 million, 
a 36% increase compared to the previous year. 

Acquisition of Germanos SA 
During 2006, the ΟΤΕ Group acquired through 
Cosmote, Germanos SA, whose financial results 
have been consolidated since early October 2, 2006. 
Germanos SA is the largest retail distribution 
network of technology products in Southeast Europe, 
with 370 stores in Greece, 102 in Bulgaria, 

25 in FYROM and 144 in Romania. Germanos SA’s 
acquisition by the ΟΤΕ Group represents a key 
strategic development which will contribute greatly 
to the Group’s geographical expansion and overall 
growth not only in the mobile telephony segment but 
in fixed-line and broadband operations as well. 

Key Developments in Mobile Telephony Operations
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Sustained Growth in 
Greek Mobile Operations

The mobile telephony penetration rate in Greece (based on data published by mobile operators) is estimated at 
approximately 114% for 2005 and 129% for 2006. Despite these high penetration levels, latest trends indicate 
that there is further room for growth within the Greek mobile market, with regard to customer numbers as well 
as to voice traffic and services.

In 2006, Cosmote responded to an increased demand for high-speed Internet access through mobile networks 
with HSPA-technology products and services via the 3G network. 

With regard to mobile telephony activities, along with the gradual maturity of the market, the right conditions 
are in place for the development of new cost-oriented market segments and for the offering of innovative 
products and services, combining voice (fixed and mobile), data and image services. 
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Mobile Network Infrastructure
Mobile telephony services are supported by the GSM/
GPRS and UMTS (3rd generation) networks. The 
GSM/GPRS network provides voice, text messaging 
and data switching services across Greece through 
GPRS technology. The 3rd generation UMTS network 
provides video-telephony services and data switching 
services, such as i-mode, Multimedia Messaging 
Service (MMS), WAP services, Internet access, e-mail 
services (BlackBerry), Intranet access and speeds 
reaching up to 1.8 Mbps.

Although Cosmote, the third entrant in the Greek mobile market in April 
1998, launched commercial operations five years later than its competitors, 
it took the Company only three-and-a-half years to become market leader in 
terms of subscriber numbers. Cosmote reached this leading position in June 
2001 and has retained it ever since, with 5.2 million subscribers and a 37% 
market share at the end of 2006.

In December 2006, the GSM/GPRS network covered 
99.6% of the population of Greece, 95% of its 
mainland and approximately 98% of its territorial 
waters. Cosmote’s 3rd generation network covered 
most major Greek cities and 74% of the Greek 
population. During 2006, with regard to the quality 
of its network, Cosmote boasted almost 99% call 
success rate and a successful call restoration rate of 
over 99%.

In 2006, the Company pursued the upgrade of 
its network, aiming to provide wireless HSDPA 
broadband services (available since June 2006 at 
speeds up to 1.8 Mbps in Athens and Thessaloniki, 
with the potential of subsequent upgrades). 
Moreover, Cosmote has developed a Fixed Wireless 
Access (LMDS) network, mainly offered to business 
customers, in the greater areas of Athens and 
Thessaloniki. 

Leading position 
in Greece, with 5.2 million 
subscribers
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Dynamic Management of Resources
During 2006, as part of its commercial strategy, in Greece, Cosmote achieved the following:
•  Consolidation of its leading position in the market with 573,000 new subscribers, a 12.3% customer 

base increase compared to 2005 
• Retention of churn rate at low levels 
• Increase in take-up of voice services 
•  Commercial launch of innovative products and services, such as the Cosmote Cost Control Plans, a 

unique hybrid product (in the Greek market) that combines the benefits of both pre-paid and contract 
services, and the FROG, pre-paid connection pack an attractive, no-frills product 

•  Launch of HSDPA technology for the first time in Greece, which allows for Internet access speed of up 
to 1.8 Mbps on the 3G network
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573,000
new subscribers 2004 2005 2006

Greece -Customer Base (000)
1,636
2,515

Greece – Customer Base Breakdown  2006
65%  Pre-paid Subscribers 
35% Contract Subscribers 

1,725
2,920

1,850
3,368

Cosmote’s customer base grew 
sharply in 2006, reflecting 
Cosmote’s commercial initiatives, 
the acquisition of Germanos SA’s 
retail distribution network, as 
well as the strong penetration of 
the FROG brand in the pre-paid 
customer segment.

Cosmote’s short-term objectives include the increase 
of network capacity and the offering of new, 
sophisticated value-added services. As far as the 
3rd generation network (UMTS) is concerned, the 
Company plans to continue with its further expansion 
and upgrade. Overall, the planned expansion of the 
2nd and 3rd generation networks in Greece and 
Southeast Europe, in 2007, is expected to cover the 
growing demands of an enlarged subscriber base. 
Finally, in 2007 the Company will modernize and 
further develop the LMDS (Fixed Wireless Access) 
network, mainly in the Attica region.
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Pre-paid Services
Cosmote has developed a series of pre-paid products such as “Cosmokarta” and “Cosmokarta X2”, 
“What’s Up” and “FROG”. In June 2006, Cosmote introduced the “Cosmokarta X2” products, with low 
charges for calls to selected numbers. In addition, the Company upgraded the “What’s Up” youth package, 
offering free talk-time for calls to users of the same service and free text messaging (SMS) service with 
each top-up card. Finally, in July 2006, the Company introduced a new pre-paid connection pack, “FROG”, 
targeting customers interested only in simple low charges for national and international calls. “FROG” offers 
only voice, text messaging (SMS) and multimedia messaging (MMS) at attractive rates. 

Aiming to enhance its customer service, since 2006, Cosmote also provides the opportunity to top up talk-time 
through its extensive commercial network. Finally, in 2006, the Company made 3G network access and 3G 
services available to all pre-paid customers.

Business Programs 
In response to its business 
customers’ needs, Cosmote offers 
a wide range of specially designed 
low-cost programs and services, 
such as the Business Value Services 
(unlimited intra-company mobile 
communication at a low monthly 
fee) program and integrated 
solutions for wireless Internet 
access, e-mail and corporate 
applications (products branded 
Office Οn Τhe Move).
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Competitive Products and Services 
Based on its advanced network infrastructure, in 2006 Cosmote introduced in the Greek market innovative 
products such as Cost-Control Plans, the new no-frills FROG service, affordable options for data communication 
(Wireless Connect Card Broadband-HSDPA, Cosmote ADSL), and additional offers that turn the mobile phone 
into an attractive entertainment tool (e.g. Mobile TV, MSN Instant Messaging, music services, entertainment 
services). 
Contract Services
Cosmote is considered as the most popular mobile operator among Greek contract customers, having achieved first place in this market segment in the first quarter of 2000 and 
held this position ever since. At the end of 2006, contract subscribers exceeded 1.8 million. The contract programs which were introduced in 2006 include the basic program for 
unlimited talk-time as well as attractive programs with free pre-paid talk-time, family packages, unlimited talk-time for calls to specific destinations, unlimited Internet access, 
and the Cost-Control Plans marketed as “Kartosimvoleo”. Specifically, the contract programs launched in 2006 include “Cosmote to Fixed Phones”, which allows for calls to 
fixed phones at low charges, “Cosmote Unlimited”, for unlimited talk-time to selected numbers, “Cosmote Kartosimvoleo”, which combines pre-paid and post-paid benefits, and 
the Cosmote ADSL broadband Internet access and mobile telephony single-bill service. COSMOkarta

COSMOkarta X2
What’s Up
FROG

1st in contract subscriber numbers
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Roaming Services
By the end of 2006, Cosmote had 410 roaming 
agreements in 186 countries of which 340 in 165 
countries were already in operation. At the same time 
the Company provided its pre-paid customers with 
full roaming services in agreement with 63 networks 
in 33 countries. Moreover, contract customers gained 
access to a GPRS roaming service in co-operation 
with 117 networks in 68 countries and the 3G 
Roaming service with 26 networks in 17 countries. 

Cosmote also allows subscribers of 132 foreign 
networks (using Cosmote’s network) access to a 
Virtual Home Environment (VHE) service, which 
enables calls to home short codes.

Content, Data & i-mode Services
Cosmote provides a wide range of content services 
(WAP-COSMOTEview, SMS, SIMToolkit-STK, 
WEB, voice-IVR etc.) with rates depending on 
the type of content service or customer’s handset. 
Since May 2006, Cosmote also offers Mobile TV / 
streaming, with Live TV content, video streaming on 
demand (providing news and entertainment content), 
a smart search engine, as well as a personalization 
services portal for content other than music. Finally, 
in 2006 the Company introduced a “Voice e-mail” 
service for people with impaired vision, and the 
“Prosfero” service which caters for charity initiatives.

As far as the i-mode service is concerned, in 
December 2006, Cosmote simplified charges for web 
surfing by establishing a per session tariff model 
instead of charges per volume and introduced the 
option of unlimited monthly use at a low flat fee. 
Finally, during 2006 Cosmote promoted 10 new 
advanced i-mode handsets, 2G and 3G, as well as 
23 new i-mode content websites to enhance content 
services for all areas of interest. The advanced 
i-mode mobile Internet services, provided since 2004 
and following an exclusive agreement for the Greek 
market between Cosmote and NTT DoCoMo, offer 
access to more than 180 content websites.

i-mode
3G
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Cosmote-Greece Financial Data Summary

(€ million) 2005 2006 Change %
Revenues 1,517.5 1,630.6 7.5%

Operating income 
before depreciation 
and amortization 639.3 702.1 9.8%

Operating income 
before depreciation 
and amortization 
margin 42.1% 43.1% +1.0pp

Retail Distribution Network 
Cosmote offers its products and services both through an exclusive retail network and through commercial 
partners, who act as distributors of the Company’s products and services in retail and wholesale. Cosmote’s 
extensive sales network consists of 24 exclusive Cosmote shops, more than 370 Germanos stores across 
Greece, 378 OTE shops, an additional network of commercial partners, Cosmote’s Direct Sales Department for 
business customers, four distributors of Cosmokarta/What’s Up products and talk-time top-up cards, and finally 
ten distributors for the provision of intangible cards. 

Customer Service
Cosmote’s Customer Service Department handles both pre-paid and contract customer requests. Cosmote’s 
customer service responds to more than 1.2 million calls and 200,000 service and tariff plan switching requests 
on a monthly basis. In response to increased competition, the Company remains focused on providing its 
customers with best-of-class customer service and support and transforming customer information and request 
management to a two-way communication relationship.

Regarding the operational and financial results of Greek mobile operations, 2006 was characterized by a 
rapid increase in voice traffic (17% on an annual basis) and in average usage (the average monthly usage per 
customer was 153 minutes). 

Operating income before 
depreciation and amortization 
(OIBDA) increased by 9.8% 
compared to 2005 and amounted 
to €702 million.
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Leading Position in 
Albanian Mobile Market
Cosmote has been present in Albania since 1996 through its AMC 
subsidiary. AMC, which was the sole mobile operator in Albania until 
August 2001, now holds the leading position in the Albanian mobile 
market with a 52% market share. 
Cosmote’s participation in AMC is held through its 97% subsidiary Cosmoholding Albania, a holding 
Company which has owned 85% of ΑMC’s share capital since August 2000. Currently, AMC operates a 2nd 
generation mobile telephony network, which supports both GSM900 and DCS-1800 services, and provides a 
98% population coverage and 85% geographical coverage. 
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2004 2005 2006

Customer Base (000)
639 781 990

Commercial Activity 
In 2006, AMC increased its customer base by 27% 
compared to 2005, reaching 990,000 subscribers. 
Pre-paid customers represent the largest segment 
both of AMC’s customer base (approximately 95%) 
and of the Albanian mobile market. 

In 2006, the Company undertook a series of 
commercial initiatives, including reduced tariffs for 
calls within AMC’s network and for international 
calls within the Cosmote network of companies, 
both for contract and pre-paid customers. Moreover, 
at year end AMC launched enhanced products and 
services for business customers. AMC’s dynamic 
commercial activity contributed to the further 
increase of the Company’s customer base. AMC’s 
retail distribution network consists of 34 exclusive 
AMC stores and an extensive network of dealers.

AMC’s operating income before depreciation and 
amortization (OIBDA) margin remained stable in 
2006 despite the rapid increase in AMC’s customer 
figures, the effected lower tariffs and intense 
commercial and marketing activities. 
 

 AMC Financial Data Summary

(€ million) 2005 2006 Change %
Revenues  137.6 151.0 9.7%

Operating income 
before depreciation 
and amortization 82.6 91.0 10.2%

Operating income 
before depreciation 
and amortization 
margin 60.0% 60.3% +0.3pp
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2004 2005 2006

Customer Base (000) 

1,625 2,394 3,271

Operating income before depreciation and 
amortization (OIBDA) increased by 34.7% compared 
to 2005 and amounted to €126.3 milion. 

Globul’s total customer base at the end of 2006 
amounted to 3.3 million, an increase of 37% over 
the prior year. In 2006 Globul’s contract customers, 
which comprise more than 1/3 of its total customer 
base, increased by 45% compared to 2005, while 
pre-paid customers increased by 33% on an annual 
basis.

The significant increase in Globul’s customer base 
reflects both the Company’s dynamic commercial 
activities and the integration of Germanos retail 
activities in Bulgaria. Globul’s products and services 
are offered through an extensive retail distribution 
network, consisting of 35 exclusive Globul stores, 
102 Germanos stores, an additional dealer network 
and Globul’s direct sales department for business 
customers.

Impressive Subscriber 
Increase in Bulgaria
Globul holds one of the three mobile telephony licenses in Bulgaria, one of the three 3rd generation 
(UMTS) services licenses, as well as a fixed-telephony license. One year after the entrance of a new 
operator in the Bulgarian mobile market, Globul ranked second in terms of customers with an approximately 
40% market share. 
The Company was founded by ΟΤΕ in January 2001, and since August 2005, Cosmote owns 100% of its 
shares. Globul operates 2G (GSM), 2.5G (GPRS) and 3G (UMTS, HSDPA) networks and during 2006 the 
Company invested in the upgrade of its network, aiming to cover the needs of a fast-growing customer base 
and accommodate increased mobile traffic. At the end of 2006, Globul’s 2nd generation network provided a 
99.7% population coverage and a 96.8% geographical coverage, while the 3rd generation network covered 
32% of the population. 

Commercial Activities
In June 2006, Globul launched its new corporate 
identity, as part of Cosmote. The Company 
also launched i-mode services at year end, and 
subsequently entered the sector of value-added 
services. 

37%
subscriber increase 

3.3 
million subscribers

Globul Financial Data Summary

(€ million) 2005 2006 Change %
Revenues  274.1 342.3 24.9%

Operating income 
before depreciation 
and amortization 93.7 126.3 34.7%

Operating income 
before depreciation 
and amortization 
margin 34.2% 36.9% +2.7pp
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Significant Market Share 
within First Year of Operation 
in Romania
2006 was a milestone year 
for Cosmote Romania, as its 
customer base passed the 1.2 
million mark and it achieved a 
market share of approximately 7% 
within its first year of commercial 
operation. As a result of favorable 
demographics and the promising 
outlook of the Romanian mobile 
telephony market, Cosmote 
Romania is expected to play a 
significant role in ΟΤΕ Group’s 
future growth. 

Cosmote Romania, currently the third provider of 
GSM mobile telephony in Romania, was founded 
by RomTelecom in January 1999. In July 2005, 
Cosmote completed the acquisition of 70% of the 
Company’s share capital and in December 2005, the 
Company launched operations as Cosmote Romania, 
parting with the CosmoRom name.  

Cosmote Romania’s telecommunication network 
operates in the EGSM 900 and GSM 1800 frequency 
bands. During 2006, the Company invested heavily 
in the extension and upgrade of its network, which 
currently covers 95% of the population and more 
than 85% of Romania’s territory. Significant network 
investments will continue in 2007, focusing on 
the expansion of geographical coverage, capacity 
increase and the ability to provide new services in the 
Romanian market. 

Commercial Activities
Cosmote Romania provides the local market with 
competitive service packages for pre-paid customers 
(for on-net calls) and also competitive pricing 
for contract services. In 2006 the Company also 
applied, for the first time in the Romanian mobile 
market, single and simple pricing packages. Cosmote 
Romania also offers contract and pre-paid subscribers 
the market’s most attractive packages, combining 
voice and text messaging (SMS) services (within its 
network).  Since the end of 2006, the Company is 
developing special programs for business customers, 
a market segment on which Cosmote will place 
special emphasis going forward.
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In FYROM, Cosmote’s 
subsidiary Cosmofon ranks 
second in terms of the number of 
mobile subscribers and has gained 
market share over the past two 
years. 
Cosmofon launched its commercial activities in June 
2003 as the owner of the second mobile telephony 
license in the country. The Company, owned by ΟΤΕ 
since November 2001, was acquired by Cosmote in 
August 2005. 

Cosmofon has a 2nd generation network (2G and 
2.5G), which operates in the GSM 900 and DCS 
1800 frequency bands, covering approximately 
99.8% of the population and 97.5% of the country’s 
territory.  

Commercial Activities
In 2006, Cosmofon’s total customer base increased 
by 23% compared to 2005 and its market share 
exceeded 33%. 

Increased Market Share 
and Sustained Progress 
in FYROM 

Customer Base (000) 

245 384 473

2004 2005 2006

In 2006, Cosmofon launched a series of innovative 
products addressing different market segments. 
During the first six months of 2006, the Company 
offered new, attractive packages for business and 
contract customers, while in June 2006 Cosmofon 
launched a new pre-paid connection pack 
primarily targeting young people. 

Comofon’s distribution network consists of 10 
exclusive Cosmofon stores, 25 Germanos stores, 
two main dealers, as well as an additional network 
of sales agents.

Cosmofon’s 2006 operational highlights include 
a sharp increase in voice usage and customer 
base figures, both reflected in increased revenues 
and operating income before depreciation and 
amortization (OIBDA).

Cosmofon Financial Data Summary 

(€ million) 2005 2006 Change %
Revenues  40.4 53.7 32.8%

Operating income 
before depreciation 
and amortization 2.0 9.3 360.3%

Operating income 
before depreciation 
and amortization 
margin 5.0% 17.3% +12.3pp
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Acquisition of the Leading 
Telecommunications Retail 
Network in Southeast Europe
In late 2006, Cosmote, through its Cyprus-based 
subsidiary Cosmoholding Cyprus Ltd, assumed 
control of Germanos SA. The acquisition of 
Germanos is an integral part of Cosmote’s and OTE 
Group’s strategic geographical expansion and creates 
opportunities for further development in Greece and 
abroad. 

With an extensive presence in four countries of 
Southeast Europe, Greece, Bulgaria, FYROM and 
Romania, and over 640 stores at the end of 2006, 
Germanos is the leading telecommunications 
retail network in the region. 

Its two main areas of activity combine an extensive 
store network and a consumer products distribution 
network. The store network’s extensive coverage, 
combined with the dynamic communications and 
marketing strategy of the Company have contributed 
to the high awareness of the Germanos brand in the 
telecommunication products and services sector in 
Greece and abroad. Finally, the distribution network 
is one of the most important distribution networks of 
consumer products in Greece, with a market share 
that exceeds 30%.

Commercial Activities
 In 2006, Germanos pursued the development of its 
commercial network and as a result, by the end of 
the year the network numbered more than 640 stores. 
Out of this total, over 370 are located in Greece, 102 
in Bulgaria, 25 in FYROM and 144 in Romania. 
During the same period, the Company also focused 
on the extension of its pre-paid products and services 
distribution network in Greece and Romania. 

Indicative of the strong Germanos brand name in 
Greece is the impressive growth in the number of 
visits to its stores network, which reached 7 million 
Greek consumers, namely a 12% increase compared 
to the previous year.

The commercial success of the Germanos distribution 
network is primarily a result of the Company’s 
customer-oriented strategy and approach, which 
is focused on meeting customers’ technological 
demands in the most efficient manner. In line with 
this strategy, in 2006, the Company introduced 
new services aiming to address growing customer 
needs and to develop synergies with the ΟΤΕ 
Group, such as the ability to pay ΟΤΕ bills at any 
Germanos shop. At the same time the Company 
continued to improve other innovative services, 
such as “G-Phone”, a software program that assists 

customers in selecting the mobile telephony solutions 
best adapted to their needs, or “G-Catalog”, a phone 
directory transfer service. 

The OTE Group assumed full control of Germanos, 
through Cosmote, in the fourth quarter of 2006, 
and the Company’s financial results have been 
consolidated since October 2, 2006.

20:00

Within the first year of commercial operation and following the buy out of Germanos SA by Cosmote, Cosmote 
Romania acquired the most comprehensive retail distribution network in the Romanian market. Cosmofon’s 
distribution network currently comprises more than 600 stores, including Cosmote’s stores, the Germanos store 
network, RomTelecom, Internity* and other sales agents, and numbers more than 12,000 points of sale across 
the country. Germanos offers exclusively Cosmote Romania’s products and services, since November 2006, 
through an extensive network of 144 stores. Since April 2006, Cosmote Romania has extended its distribution 
network through an exclusive partnership with Internity , a local retailer with 75 stores. 

The operating loss before depreciation and amortization is expected to be significantly contained in 2007, 
partly due to the ongoing increase in Cosmote Romania’s customer base. 

2005 2006

Customer Base (000) 
49 1,226

Cosmote Romania Financial Data Summary
 
(€ million) 2005 2006
Revenues  8.0 43.8

Operating income 
before depreciation 
and amortization (20.0) (65.7)

Germanos SA /COSMOHOLDING CYPRUS 
Financial Data Summary 

(€ million) Q4 06
Revenues  251.7

Operating income 
before depreciation 
and amortization 19.0

Operating income 
before depreciation 
and amortization 
margin 7.5%

 

* Internity is the IT and telecommunications retail network of the French Avenir Telecom Group.
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Other Operations 
in Greece and Abroad
ΟΤΕ owns 54% of the share capital of RomTelecom, the main telecommunications operator in Romania, 
providing fixed-line services (voice, broadband, data and leased lines) and satellite TV services to the 
local market. The OTE Group is also involved in a range of activities in Greece, complementing its core 
telecommunications operations, notably in real estate, telephone directories, satellite communications and 
professional training. 

The Group is also present in Serbia, through its 20% stake in the country’s incumbent operator, Telekom Srbija. 
During the year the Group sold its 90% participation in Armenia’s telecommunications organization. 

23:05 Page 14923:15

Other Operations 2006 Financial Data Summary
(€ million)

 OTE Cosmote RomTelecom Other Group**
Revenues 2,715   2,382   895   495   5,891  
Operating income before depreciation & amortization* 790   876   338   163   2,167  
Operating income before depreciation & amortization margin 29.1% 36.8% 37.8% 33.0% 36.8%
CAPEX 226   442   208   - 962  
CAPES as % of revenues 8.3% 18.6% 23.3% - 16.3%

* Excluding the impact of the Voluntary Retirement Scheme for the fiscal year 
** Inter-company adjustments & eliminations are not shown

Other Operations  ΟΤΕ participation
  Dec 31, 2006
Fixed Line         
RomTelecom Fixed-line services 54.01%

Other Operations        
ΟΤΕestate Real Estate 100.00%
InfOTE Directory services 100.00%
Hellas Sat Satellite communications  99.05%
OTESat-Maritel Satellite communications  94.08%
OTEplus Consulting services 99.00%
OTEAcademy Training services 100.00%
CosmoONE E-commerce services 51.55%

* Note: The above table does not display the total of OTE’s direct and indirect participations in other operations

Key Developments in Other Operations
ArmenTel
In November 2006, as part of the Group’s restructuring plan and its attempt to rationalize its activities, exclusively in the markets of Southeast Europe, OTE completed the 
sale of its 90% stake in ArmenTel, the incumbent telecommunications operator in Armenia. The sale price was €342 million, generating a capital gain for the Group of €160 
million. 

RomTelecom – “Dolce”
At year end, RomTelecom launched “Dolce”, a new digital TV service which is provided throughout Romania, via OTE’s satellite, Hellas Sat 2. This new service 
complements RomTelecom’s portfolio of voice and internet products and is in line with the Company’s strategy, which is focused on identifying new sources of revenue. 
This new service allows RomTelecom to better compete with cable TV operators, while enhancing its technological capabilities. “Dolce” has experienced rapid growth, with 
over 200,000 subscribers as of May 2007 .
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New Products 
and Services for a Highly 
Competitive Market
OTE Group’s fixed-line 
operations extend to the 
Romanian market through 
RomTelecom, a subsidiary of the 
Group since 1998. RomTelecom, 
the incumbent fixed-line operator 
in Romania, offers, besides 
traditional voice services, 
broadband access, data services 
and satellite TV (since November 
2006).

RomTelecom operates in a uniquely competitive environment, comprised of alternative fixed-line operators, 
cable TV providers who also provide telephony services, and mobile operators. The Romanian fixed-line 
market is declining, with a penetration level currently at about 16.5%, while cable TV penetration stands at 
16%. At the same time, ongoing fixed-to-mobile substitution has driven mobile telephony penetration levels 
above 75%.

Commercial Activities
In its attempt to respond to the unique fixed-line market conditions, and to fixed-to-mobile substitution trends, 
RomTelecom proceeded in 2006 with the enhancement and upgrade of its voice products and services offering.  
The Company introduced new monthly discount programs for residential customers, with packages of 200, 
300 or 400 minutes of national calls, combined with the option of specific local, long-distance, international 
and mobile numbers, at lower charges. In addition, the Company launched new business packages of 500, 800, 
1,000, 3,000 and 4,000 minutes of national calls along with the selection option of a closed user group.

Focused on the expansion of its broadband services, during 2006, the Company introduced ADSL packages, 
offering 1 Mbps to 4 Mbps speeds, as well as bundled voice and ADSL (double-play) products for business 
and residential customers. As a result, RomTelecom’s customer base increased significantly, consolidating 
the Company’s position in the Internet and data market. Finally, in 2006, RomTelecom also consolidated its 
position as the main VPN service provider, offering national coverage and acquiring an extended portfolio 
of customers. 76% of revenues from broadband connections (including VPN) are generated by residential 
customers, with the balance coming from businesses. 

National Calls 
within Network

Calls to Alternative 
fixed-line Networks

Fixed-to-Mobile Calls International Calls Broadband 
Connections

98.5% 8.6% 91.7% 61.9% 5.0%
93.2%

2005 2005 2005 20052006 2006 2006 2006 2006

12.9% 77.4% 42.2%

Market Share per Service (traffic volume) In November 2006, RomTelecom 
introduced an innovative satellite 
TV product with the name 
“Dolce”. Following this offering, 
the Company is now well 
positioned to compete effectively 
with cable providers, contain 
customer losses and highlight its 
technological capabilities. With 
more than 200,000 subscribers as 
of May 2007, “Dolce” boasts an 
outstanding take-up rate.
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In 2007 the Company will focus on the following:
•  Accelerated development of broadband 

access, with substantial investments in Next 
Generation Networks (NGN), aimed at building 
up the technological capacity to provide new 
VoIP, video, value-added and content services

•  Offering of state-of-the-art services in each of 
the business segments, at competitive prices, 
aimed at stabilizing market share and customer 
retention

•  Leverage Cosmote-RomTelecom partnership to 
pr ovide integrated fixed and mobile services 

RomTelecom had 2006 revenues of €894.8 million, 
3.8% lower than in the previous year, mainly 
due to fixed-line customer churn, the decrease in 
interconnection traffic and intense competition 
from cable TV providers. Operating income before 
depreciation and amortization (OIBDA) margin 
increased by 1.1pp to 37.8%.

Network
RomTelecom’s fixed-line network is a 3-tier network, consisting of two international gateways, ten fully 
connected transit switches and 97 digital local switches. 89% of the network is digitalized and supports PSTN 
and ISDN.

The ΙP/MPLS network is connected to three “upstream” networks for Internet access, via POS/STM-16 and 
POS/STM-1, with a total capacity of 5 Gbps. The IP/MPLS and Metro networks ensure optimal internet 
access, (for PSTN dial uo to ADSL high speed) as well as business customer products, such exclusive internet 
access and VPN. Fixed-line and IP/MPLS networks, as well as the forthcoming Next-Generation Network 
(NGN), are based on a solid transmission network, which is supported by optical fiber, DWDM and SDH 
technologies. 

Broadband access is based on xDSL technology, most of it built on ADSL. The version currently supported 
is ADSL2+. Access is based on DSLAM’s while the aggregation is achieved via Ethernet ring networks or 
uplinks.

Modernization of the Network 
Considering the increasing costs of current fixed-line network operations, as well as the prospects of voice, 
broadband and mobile services (triple play) convergence, in 2006, RomTelecom proceeded with the migration 
of its network to NGN (Next Generation Network) technology. Moreover, in order to respond to the increasing 
traffic and growing demand for ADSL services, the Company upgraded its IP/MPLS network, and with regard 
to its fiber optic network, has set a long-term project focused on the replacement of regional, out-of-date cables 
or cables with transmission rates capacity limited to 10 Gbps. The Company’s targets for 2007 include the 
replacement of 2,000 km of fiber optic cable and the addition of 600 Km of cable for the elimination of flat 
rings where the cost is reasonable. The DWDM backbone network will also be upgraded to 2-cut resiliency 
and DWDM technology will be extended at a regional level as a means to increase capacity and to dispose of 
existing equipment.

Leverage on 
Real Estate Assets
OTEestate has been exclusively 
responsible for the management 
of OTE Group’s real estate 
since 2003, when it acquired the 
Group’s real estate property, with 
OTE being the main tenant. The 
Company’s activities are focused 
on the generation of incremental 
value for the OTE Group through 
the efficient development, 
management, and commercial 
exploitation of its real estate 
portfolio.

The completion of OTE’s Voluntary Retirement 
Scheme in October 2006, combined with the 
simultaneous restructuring of its operations, create 
significant opportunities for ΟΤΕestate. The 
reduction of OTE personnel and the rationalization 
of the Company’s property management policy have 
increased the number of properties available for 
disposal. OTEestate’s objectives for the next several 
years include the efficient management of OTE’s 
existing buildings and the generation of capital gains 
through efficient development and utilization of its 
properties.

Real Estate Portfolio
ΟΤΕestate manages an impressive real estate 
portfolio comprised of a large number of buildings, 
land, offices and stores across Greece. 73% of the 
buildings have been built after 1985 and 6% of 
them are situated in large urban centers.  94% of the 
properties are leased to ΟΤΕ, while 2.1% of leasing 
revenues are derived from tenants other than the OTE 
Group.

Plots/Land 
Total number  2,277
Total Surface 12 million sq.m.
Number of plots with buildings 1,771

Buildings 
Total number  2,162
Total Surface 1.15 million sq.m.

Annual Lease Rentals other than OTE SA 
(€ million) 

Tenant 2004 2005 2006
Cosmote 2.6 5.5 6.8
OTEAcademy 0 0.7 1.5
InfOTE  0.7 0.7 0.7
OTE Investment 
Services  0.3 0.4 0.4
OTEnet 0.3 0.4 0.4
Motorola  0.3 0.6 0.6
Hellas Sat 0.1 0.2 0.2

Sub-total 4.3 8.5 10.6

Revenues from leasing real estate to third parties 
(other than OTE) have increased substantially over 
the last few years, as displayed in the table below:
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ΟΤΕestate’s revenues in 2006 amounted to €66.4 million, originating mainly from property leases to 
companies of the Group, to legal entities (operating in the telecommunications industry), public and private 
sector legal entities, and physical persons as well. The 7.4% annual increase in 2006 revenues mainly reflects 
all new leasing contracts. Around €54.4 million of revenues come from leases with OTE (82% of OTEestate 
revenues), while €6.8 million are derived from leases to Cosmote (10% of revenues).

The Company’s growth strategy, for the next few years, involves a further increase of revenues and its total 
profitability, as part of its aim to generate continuous increase of cash flow for the parent company, with 
activities such as:
• Development of commercial & professional buildings as well as private properties 
• Real estate leasing to Group’s subsidiaries
•  Upgrade of energy certificates for buildings, certification of mechanical equipment, infrastructure 

optimization in line with EU directives, antiseismic control and structural safety warranty 
 of buildings, in order to increase their leasing value
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In 2006, the Company completed the “New 
Materials Management Centre” project in Parnitha, 
in the Attika Region (15,000 sq.m. of buildings), 
proceeded with the renovation of various floors at 
ΟΤΕ’s Headquarters in Maroussi and pursued the 
refurbishment of other buildings.

Other projects carried out in 2006 include:
• Technical check of 166 properties
• Legal check of 300 properties 
• IT Systems Security Policy
• Real estate management program upgrade
• Automatic file back-up
• Real estate utilization reports
•  Completion of the ‘Electronic Real Estate 

Register’ upgrade project 

Information for All
InfOTE offers directory services, 
through printed and electronic 
media, providing information on 
the products and services offered 
by its business customers.

The Company holds the leading position in the 
directory services business, and publishes the most 
popular services directory in Greece titled “Chrysos 
Odigos” (Yellow pages). The services directory, 
which exists in print as well as electronic formats, is 
one of InfOTE’s most profitable products, given the 
substantial increase in the number of customers over 
the last three years. 

InfOTE also offers the following directories in print:
• Business Yellow Pages 
• Public Services Directory
• Yellow Pages on the Road
• Greek Yellow Pages 
•  Daily Yellow Pages for the Attica region          

(12 Yellow Pages), Patras, Larissa, Iraklion 
(Crete), Kavala, Thessaloniki, Western 
Thessaloniki, Rhodes, Ioannina and Nicosia

• Maritime Yellow Pages
• Pocket Guides

50,000 100,000 150,000 200,0000

Yellow Pages Customer Base
2004 
2005 

2006 
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With regard to electronic directory services, InfOTE provides online directories (www.xo.gr και 
www.greekbiz.com), offline directories as well as Internet services through mobile telephony. During 2006, 
customer visits to InfOTE’s electronic directories reached almost 9,000 per day, while the average number of 
calls to voice service directories (numbers 11811, 11822 for Cyprus, and 11844 for International Directories 
information) amounted to 2,500 per day.

During 2006, InfOTE proceeded with the launch of a call-center in Cyprus and set up a sales department for 
the Local Yellow Pages of Nicosia. The size of the Yellow Pages publications was also adjusted to European 
Standards, and the maps and distribution procedures of the Pocket Guides were reviewed and reformed. At the 
same time the Company implemented a CRM program to record the needs of InfOTE’s Customers Service 
department, assessed the performance of the Help Desk Job Ticketing and Knowledge Base systems and 
completed the Avotus statistics extraction service, for IP telephony.

InfOTE’s revenues in 2006 increased by 7.8%, compared to 2005 and amounted to €62.2 million, while 
operating income before depreciation and amortization (OIBDA) margin decreased by 2.6pp to 28.1%. 

In 2006, the Company distributed 7.3 million 
printed directories, and its market share in the 
business directories segment approaches 97%.

89.2% Printed directories

2006 Revenue Breakdown

8.6%  Other Services

1.6%  Voice Services

0.7%  Internet

Broadband Internet 
via Satellite
Through OTE’s subsidiary Hellas Sat, owner of the Greek satellite 
Hellas Sat 2 which occupies the orbital position 39 degrees East, the 
Group is addressing a market of over 3 billion people.
Hellas Sat was founded in 2001 and was initially a company of Greek-Cypriot interests, however, following 
numerous share capital increases and purchases of other shareholder’s shares, today 99.05% is owned by OTE. 
The satellite was launched in 2003, and the Company’s commercial operation was active for the 2004 Olympic 
Games. Through Hellas Sat, OTE participates in the international market of satellite capacity provision (Fixed 
Satellite Services-FSS) for video broadcasting applications (TV/DTH), IP trunking & direct access services, 
Corporate Network, Occasional use, as well as in the market of satellite broadband services. 

During the period 2004-2006, the Company 
enhanced its position in the TV/DTH (free and 
pay-TV) market, by signing important contracts with 
customers in Central and Eastern Europe as well as 
other geographical areas covered by the satellite. 
As a result, the average occupied capacity of the 28 
available satellite transmitters reached 70% in 2006, 
and is expected to exceed 80% by the end of 2007. 
Today, Hellas Sat, with more than 80 customers in 
30 countries, provides satellite capacity to Europe, 
the Middle East, North Africa, the Black and Caspian 
Sea, as well as South Africa.
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40%  CE Europe
39%  W. Europe

20%  Middle East

1%  South Africa

Revenues  By  RegionSatellite Broadband Ιnternet
Since January 2006, through “Hellas Sat net”, Hellas Sat provides 
satellite broadband services to areas where no other type of broadband 
access is possible. Two-way satellite internet is an ideal means of 
point-to-point interconnection for remote geographical areas and is 
thus currently used by many companies whose facilities are located in 
remote geographical locations.

In 2006, HellasSat’s revenues increased by 38% to €14.6 million.  Revenues are expected to double over the 
next three years.  The contribution of TV/DTH services to total revenues is expected to increase from 54% in 
2006 to 70% over the next several years. 

Satellite Services for 
Maritime Communications
OTESat-Maritel’s market share 
in maritime communications 
(ship-to-shore communications) 
in Greece, stands at 54%, while 
the Company’s operations extend 
to Cyprus, Turkey, the UK, US, 
Dubai, Singapore and Hong 
Kong.

OTESat-Maritel has been a member of the ΟΤΕ Group since 1996. The Company provides Immarsat satellite 
services (Immarsat Service Provider ISP), with a worldwide coverage through the “Thermopyle” Earth 
Satellite Station as well as integrated telecommunication solutions to the Greek and global maritime industry, 
combining satellite, earth telecommunication networks and IT applications. In addition, the Company offers 
account clearance services for ships, via the GR01 and GR12 codes and works as a “one-stop shop” for OTE 
Group products and services. 

During the year, OTESat-Maritel signed further commercial and business agreements for the provision of 
various products and services, and upgraded its IT systems and value-added services offering, as well as its 
existing corporate telecommunication and network infrastructure.

In 2006, revenues rose by 7% to €22.4 million, while operating income before depreciation and amortization 
(OIBDA) posted a 10% increase and amounted to €2.5 million. Satellite traffic improved by 19.4% compared 
to 2005.

For 2007, the Company plans to introduce the new Immarsat, BGAN Land, Fleet77 128 k and Fleet Broadband 
satellite systems, purchase network management systems and equipment, achieve PoP interconnection with the 
Immarsat network, and extend its pricing system to new services. OΤΕSat-Μaritel also intends to sign further 
strategic agreements with major foreign telecommunication companies (ISPs), apply new satellite systems and 
turn a profit from new, value-added services. Above all, the Company is focused on providing best-of-class 
services to the Greek and global maritime industry, and unrelenting support to its customers.



Consultancy Services 
based on Telecom 
Know-How

Page 160 01:05 Page 16101:15

The Company has been operating since 1987 in the area of telecommunications and IT networks and solutions 
design and development, mainly addressing companies and organizations seeking to leverage on the integration of 
telecommunications, PCs and networks. ΟΤΕplus offers a wide range of business consulting services, on issues 
relating to strategy, business, organizational and operational development of public and private bodies, and is also 
engaged in Research & Development activities, with the European Commission as its main customer.

In 2006, OTEplus offered integrated Information and Communication Technologies solutions (ICT), regarding the 
design and development of broadband, e-Government and e-applications services, and, subsequently enhanced 
the Group’s know-how in these sectors. The Company’s service portfolio was enriched with the provision of 
consulting services relating to organizational and operational modernization and human resources development as 
part of business management changes.

OTEplus offers consultancy 
services both to the ΟΤΕ Group 
and to other public and private 
entities.

e-Government, e-applications

58%  Business
24%  Technology

18%  Research & Development

Customers per SectorDuring 2006, the Company completed more than 25 projects in all areas of its operations, while more than double 
this number are currently in progress and include: the support of OTE’s Customer Relations Management project 
(CRM-BPR), provision of specialized services on Business Cost Accounting System (EKOS) issues, and support 
of ΟΤΕ in credit and collection control, as well as on other issues relating to the management, operation and 
development of the network. The projects completed in 2006 include four Research & Development projects 
funded by the European Union.

OTE Plus’ revenues for 2006 rose by 78% compared to 2005, to €24.9 million, while operating income before 
depreciation and amortization (OIBDA) amounted to €1.5 million, posting a 160% increase.

The Company aims at continuing its growth and maintaining its profitability, while its strategy focuses on 
increasing non-captive revenues.
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OTEAcademy
OTEAcademy provides advanced vocational training seminars as part 
of OTE’s aim to design and deliver professional development choices 
that cater for training needs both of ΟΤΕ Group employees and of the 
wider public and private sectors.

OTEAcademy is a certified Cisco Academy, providing CCNA training and certification, and an authorized 
examination center approved by Certiport for Microsoft Office Specialist and IC3. The Company also operates 
certified Vocational Training Centers in Athens and Thessaloniki, where training programs for the unemployed, 
employed and self-employed are implemented, co-funded by the European Social Fund.

The training procedures are adapted to the needs of each Company and the challenges of the market in which it 
operates. The Company’s philosophy and training programs are based on the LEAP (Learn & Apply) concept 
and on a blended learning model which combines class teaching, evidential training and e-Learning, business 
games and other activities.

ΟΤΕ Academy’s revenues in 2006 increased by 196% to €3.6 million, and the number of seminar participants 
has tripled to 7,350 since 2005.

In the near future, ΟΤΕΑcademy will focus on vocational training by extending and increasing the seminars 
offered, and on making the best use of the OTE’s know-how in Information and Communication Technologies 
(ICT), providing relevant seminars to the wider public and private sector. 

34%  Technical
22%  IT

21%  Specialized

20%  Administrative
3%  OTE Employee Orientation Programs

Seminars

“service ONE”:
Solid Performance 
in E-Commerce

B2B, e-commerce, services, enable customers to record and process procurements or sale of goods and 
services through the Internet, with a focus on reducing costs and, thus increasing profitability. Furthermore, it 
is estimated that e-Auctions (electronic commercial negotiations), one of the Company’s key activities, have 
contributed to the reduction of OTE’s procurement and purchase costs by €28 million during the period 
2001-2006, while orders’ processing time has been reduced to five days. 

Besides electronic auctions, the Company also offers a wide range of services, such as Electronic Offers 
(compareONE), Electronic Order processing (procureONE), electronic systems for Invoices Data Transfer 
(connectONE), Electronic Sales (tradeONE) to agents and resellers, Electronic Smart Reports (analyzeONE), 
as well as Mobility Solutions (trackONE) for tracking, tracing, dispatching & fleet management applications.

As part of its commercial strategy, in 2006, CosmoONE applied a new pricing policy focused on providing 
customers with pay-as-you-go options. Additionally, 70% of the Company’s operations were upgraded, 
optimized and “re-branded” under the common name “service ONE”. With regard to Research and 
Development activities, the Company, is currently participating, along with foreign Universities and other 
technological institutions in a European research program for Grid Technologies.

The Company’s revenues, in 2006, declined by 16.8% compared to 2005, reaching €1.7 million. This 
reduction is partially attributed to a €460,000 cut in an annual services contract the Company had with OTE.

CosmoONE, a member of 
the OTE Group, operates an 
electronic marketplace for the 
provision of B2B (Business to 
business) electronic commerce 
applications and services. Its 
customers include companies 
that are managing large supply 
volumes, complex organizational 
structures and business operations 
in geographically dispersed 
locations.
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In June 1997, ΟΤΕ acquired 20% of the share capital of Telekom 
Srbija, Serbia’s fixed-line and mobile telephony incumbent. Due to 
limited control over the Company’s management, Telekom Srbija’s 
results are not consolidated in the Group’s results.
Telekom Srbija was the only fixed-line operator in Serbia until June 2005, when it lost its monopoly in the 
fixed-telephony market. The Company also offers mobile telephony and Internet services which, since June 
2006, are managed by autonomous organizational units. 

In 2006, Telekom Srbija competed for, and obtained the third mobile telephony license in Montenegro, and 
acquired 65% of Telekom Srpske’s share capital, the second biggest telecommunications company in Bosnia 
and Herzegovina. As part of its commercial activities, the Company launched Internet services and products 
(IP TV, DIVX, Web Hosting, Triple Play), “Scratch off” cards for international calls and offered GPRS, EDGE, 
MMS, 3G  and access services  in the mobile telephony market.

In addition, the Company completed the construction of an Optical Transport Network (OTN), which enables 
the connection between IP/MPLS - Core and Edge networks and the provision of services for international 
termination and transit voice traffic. Fixed-line telephony network’s digitalization in 2006 amounted to 89.5%, 
compared to 83% in 2005. Moreover, Τelekom Srbija invested in its 3G network, installed 250 radio base sites 
and expanded its capacities and coverage of GSM signal.

The Company’s mobile telephony subscribers increased by 39.6% compared to 2005, and amounted to nearly 
4.2 million. From the total customer base, 85% are pre-paid customers, while contract subscribers more than 
doubled in 2006, reaching nearly 620,000. By the end of the year, Telekom Srbija’s mobile telephony market 
share stood at 64.1%. 

The Company achieved a 35% increase in revenues 
in 2006 to €813 million, while operating income 
before deprecation and amortization (OIBDA) posted 
a 39% increase to €353 million.

The Company’s targets for 2007 include the upgrade 
of its fixed-line and mobile telephony network 
infrastructure. The modernization of the fixed-line 
network involves the accelerated building of access 
and optical cable networks, especially in large urban 
areas, migration to a unique-IP based infrastructure 
which will enable the convergence of services to 
NGN technology. With regard to mobile telephony 
infrastructure, Telekom Srbija intends to develop 
3G services and commence with fixed and mobile 
networks convergence (IMS technology).

Dynamic Progress 
in the Serbian 
Mobile Telephony Market

Departure from the 
Armenian Telecoms Market 

ArmenTel is Armenia’s incumbent operator offering both fixed and mobile telephony services. As part of the 
Group’s restructuring plan and its strategy of focusing its activities exclusively in the markets of Southeast 
Europe, OTE decided to sell its 90% share in ArmenTel. Following a tender process, ArmenTel was sold to 
Vimpelcom of Russia for a cash consideration of €342 million, while the transaction, completed on November 
16, generated a capital gain of €160 million.

The Company’s revenues for 2006, prior to the sale date, amounted to €135.6 million, while operating income 
before depreciation and amortization (OIBDA) amounted to €70.7 million.

OTE was present in the Armenian 
telecommunications market from 
March 1998 to November 2006, 
with a 90% stake in ArmenTel’s 
share capital.

cash consideration of 
€342 million 
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OTE Group at a Glance
OTE Group 
Financial Highlights
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(€ million, under IFRS)
 2005 2006 Change %
Revenues 5,475.1  5,891.3  7.6%
Operating Income 24.0  1,088.3   -
Profit before Income Taxes 3.3  1,083.8   -
Net Income/ (Loss) (216.8) 574.6   -
Operating Income Before Depreciation & Amortization 1,131.4  2,216.8   95.9%
Operating Income Before Depreciation & Amortization excluding the impact  
of the Voluntary Retirement Program and the non-recurring gains  1,971.5  2,167.0  9.9%
Operating Income Before Depreciation & Amortization margin excluding 
the impact of the Voluntary Retirement Program and the non-recurring gains 36.0% 36.8% 0.8pp
CAPEX  680.2  962.4  41.5%
CAPEX as % of revenues 12.4% 16.3% 3.9pp
Gross Debt 3,439.9  4,590.5  33.4%
Cash and Cash equivalents 1,512.2  2,042.5  35.1%
Total Equity 4,513.4  4,888.7  8.3%

The above table does not display the total of OTE’s direct and indirect participations in other operations 
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For further enquiries:

OTE Investor Relations
99, Kifisias Avenue
15124 Marousi, Athens
Tel: + 30 210 6111574
Fax: +30 210 6111030
E-mail: dtzelepis@ote.gr
Website: www.ote.gr/english/investorrelations

Registry for American Depositary Receipts (ADRs):
The Bank of New York
101 Barclay Street, New York, NY 102 86 USA
Shareholder Relations: +1-888-269-2377 (888BNY-ADRS)
Website: www.adrbny.com

Ticker Index Weight

ASE ASE General Index 7.31%
FTASE FTSE/ASE 20 Index 8.57%
BE 500 Bloomberg Europe 0.12%
SXXE DJ Euro Stoxx PR 0.16%
SXKE DJES Euro Telecom 2.67%
E300 FTSE Eurοfirst 300 0.11%
E3TELE FTSE E300 TELECO 2.48%
SPEU S&P Euro Index 0.18%
SEUTELS S&P Euro Telecom 2.49%
MSER MSCI EURO 0.21%

Share Information

  Athens Stock  NYSE
 Exchange (ADR*)

Ticker in ASE OTE OTE
Bloomberg Ticker HTO GA  OTE US
Reuters Ticker OTEr.AT OTE.N

Dec 31, 2006  
Market Capitalization € 11,155.8 million -
Year High € 23.7 $ 15.7
Year Low € 15.9 $ 10.0
Average Daily 
Trading Volume 1,094,406 23,366

*1ADR=0.5 OTE share

Share Information
OTE is listed on Athens Stock Exchange and the 
Company’s shares are also traded on the New York 
(in the form of ADRs) and London (in the form of 
GDRs) Stock Exchanges. 

OTE is a member of 45 Indices. Below is a table of 
OTE’ s participation in some of the most important 
Indices:

The chart below presents the price performance of OTE’s stock during the period January 2006-January 2007 
(source: Bloomberg), relative to the pan-European benchmark index DJ STOXX (SXΚE) and the Athens 
General Index (ASE). During the specific period, OTE’s stock price rose by 31%, while the respective 
performance of the benchmark indices was +13% for SXKE and +22% for ASE.

The Dow Jones EURO STOXX Telecommunications index is a capitalization-weighted index, which includes 
telecoms stocks from countries participating in the EMU. As of December 2006, the total index market 
capitalization stood at €310 billion.

Price Relative Performance
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Annual Financial Statements 
(Stand-alone and Consolidated) 
for the year ended 31 December 2006 
in accordance with International  
Financial Reporting Standards
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HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. (OTE) 
BALANCE SHEETS (STAND ALONE AND CONSOLIDATED) AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2006

(Amounts in millions of Euro) Notes
2006 

Company
2006 

Group
2005 

Company
2005 

Group
ASSETS
Non - current assets
Telecommunication property, plant and equipment 4 2,704.4 6,583.5 3,032.2 6,739.6
Goodwill 5 - 540.8 - 72.4
Telecommunication licenses 6 3.8 384.2 4.2 393.0
Investments 7 1,826.4 158.7 1,684.1 159.3
Advances to pension funds 16 188.1 188.1 180.7 180.7
Deferred taxes 19 204.2 127.4 222.2 257.7
Other non-current assets 8 86.6 709.7 63.2 126.6
Total non - current assets 5,013.5 8.692,4 5,186.6 7.929,3
Current assets 
Materials and supplies 36.1 205.4 29.7 130.3
Accounts receivable 9 710.1 1,160.5 779.4 1,066.7
Other current assets 10 227.0 447.8 321.1 411.1
Cash and cash equivalents 11 814.7 2,042.5 844.3 1,512.2
Total current assets 1,787.9 3,856.2 1,974.5 3,120.3
TOTAL ASSETS 6,801.4 12,548.6 7,161.1 11,049.6
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent:
Share capital 12 1,171.5 1,171.5 1,172.5 1,172.5
Paid-in surplus 12 485.9 485.9 486.6 486.6
Treasury stock 12 - - (5.9) (5.9)
Legal reserve 13 283.3 283.3 256.7 256.7
Retained earnings 1,309.0 1,724.1 798.0 1,401.6

3,249.7 3,664.8 2,707.9 3,311.5
Minority interest 1,223.9 - 1,201.9
Total equity 3,249.7 4,888.7 2,707.9 4,513.4
Non – current liabilities
Long-term debt 15 1,301.9 4,037.3 1,951.9 3,104.3
Reserve for staff retirement indemnities 16 182.8 198.5 162.1 172.7
Reserve for voluntary retirement program 16 361.4 361.4 603.8 603.8
Reserve for Youth Account 16 277.3 277.3 284.0 284.0
Other non   current liabilities 17 79.5 126.9 43.6 139.9
Total non – current liabilities 2,202.9 5,001.4 3,045.4 4,304.7
Current liabilities
Accounts payable 562.2 938.0 558.8 720.6
Short-term borrowings 18 25.2 - 14.3
Current maturities of long-term debt 15 16.1 528.0 14.9 321.3
Income taxes payable 19 70.5 142.0 - 81.9
Deferred revenue 109.0 196.2 102.2 179.1
Reserve for voluntary retirement program 16 316.7 316.7 434.9 434.9
Dividends payable 14 3.7 3.7 5.3 5.2
Other current liabilities 20 270.6 508.7 291.7 474.2
Total current liabilities 1,348.8 2,658.5 1,407.8 2,231.5
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 6,801.4 12,548.6 7,161.1 11,049.6
The accompanying notes on pages 195 – 243 form an integral part of these Financial Statements The Financial Statements presented on pages 190 - 243, were approved by the Board of 
Directors on 20 March 2007 and are signed on its behalf by:

 Chairman    
 & Managing Director Vice-Chairman Chief Financial Officer Accounting Manager
 Panagis Vourloumis Iakovos Georganas Iordanis Aivazis Antonis Mavromaras

HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. (OTE) 
INCOME STATEMENTS (STAND-ALONE AND CONSOLIDATED)  
FOR THE  YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006

(Amounts in millions of Euro, 
except share and per share data) Notes

2006 
Company

2006 
Group

2005 
Company

2005 
Group

Revenues

Domestic telephony 21 1,596.9 2,260.6 1,617.3 2,312.2

International telephony 21 181.1 346.9 216.0 391.0

Mobile telephony 21 - 1,975.8 - 1,752.2

Other revenues 21 936.5 1,308.0 873.7 1,019.7

Total revenues 2,714.5 5,891.3 2.707,0 5,475.1

Operating expenses

Payroll and employee benefits (764.9) (1,241.6) (849.8) (1,327.1)

Charges for voluntary retirement program 16 49.8 49.8 (939.6) (939.6)

Charges from international operators (143.9) (208.8) (145.9) (217.9)

Charges from domestic operators (366.8) (720.9) (372.7) (665.5)

Depreciation and amortization (528.0) (1,128.5) (542.6) (1,107.4)

Reversal of fixed assets’ impairment - - - 75.7

Extinguishment of liabilities - - - 23.8

Cost of telecommunications equipment (128.3) (363.5) (107.4) (180.8)

Other operating expenses 22 (520.3) (1,189.5) (571.4) (1,112.3)

Total operating expenses (2,402.4) (4,803.0) (3,529.4) (5,451.1)

Operating income (loss) 312.1 1,088.3 (822.4) 24.0

Financial  income/ (expense)

Interest expense (199.2) (278.8) (130.1) (163.2)

Interest income 45.7 70.8 39.4 53.9

Foreign exchange gains/ (losses), net 2.6 4.2 (2.6) 34.7

Dividends 7 196.7 23.0 335.3 20.4

Gains/(losses) from investments 7 297.9 176.3 150.2 33.5

343.7 (4.5) 392.2 (20.7)

Profit before tax 655.8 1,083.8 (430.2) 3.3

Income taxes 19 (124.6) (353.0) 193.0 (19.8)

Profit for the period 531.2 730.8 (237.2) (16.5)

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 531.2 574.6 (237.2) (216.8)

Minority interest - 156.2 - 200.3

531.2 730.8 (237.2) (16.5)

Basic earnings per share 23 1.0837 1.1723 (0.4839) (0.4424)

Diluted earnings per share 23 1.0837 1.1723 (0.4839) (0.4424)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 490,150,389 490,150,389 490,150,389 490,150,389

The accompanying notes on pages 195 – 243 form an integral part of these Financial Statements
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HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. (OTE) 
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (COMPANY) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006

(Amounts in millions of Euro)

COMPANY
Share  

Capital 
Paid- 

in Surplus
Treasury  

Stock
Legal  

Reserve
Retained 
Earnings

Total  
Equity

Balance at 31 December 2004 1,174.1 487.5 (15.1) 256.7 1,037.6 2,940.8

Treasury stock cancelled (1.6) (0.9) 9.2 - (6.7) -

Unrealized gains on available-for- sale securities - - - - 4.3 4.3

Net income recognized directly in Equity (1.6) (0.9) 9.2 - (2.4) 4.3

Profit / (loss) for the year - - - - (237.2) (237.2)

Balance at  31 December 2005 1,172.5 486.6 (5.9) 256.7 798.0 2,707.9

Balance at 31 December 2005 1,172.5 486.6 (5.9) 256.7 798.0 2,707.9

Legal reserve recognition - - - 26.6 (26.6) 0.0

Treasury stock cancelled (1.0) (0.7) 5.9 - (4.2) 0.0

Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities - - - - 10.6 10.6

Net income recognized directly in Equity (1.0) (0.7) 5.9 26.6 (20.2) 10.6

Profit / (loss) for the year - - - - 531.2 531.2

Balance at  31 December 2006 1,171.5 485.9 0.0 283.3 1,309.0 3,249.7

The accompanying notes on pages 195 – 243 form an integral part of these Financial Statements

HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. (OTE) 
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (GROUP) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006

(Amounts in millions of Euro) Attributable to equity holders of the parent

GROUP Share Capital 
Paid-in 
Surplus

Treasury 
Stock

Legal  
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings Total

Minority 
Interest

Total  
Equity

Balance at 31 December 2004 1,174.1 487.5 (15.1) 256.7 1,685.0 3,588.2 1,243.2 4,831.4

Dividends declared - - - - - - (191.6) (191.6)

Treasury stock cancelled (1.6) (0.9) 9.2 - (6.7) - - -

Unrealized gains on available 
-for- sale securities 

- - - - 4.3 4.3 - 4.3

Foreign currency translation - - - - 91.7 91.7 63.6 155.3

Net change of investment in subsidiaries - - - - (155.9) (155.9) (113.6) (269.5)

Net income recognized directly in equity (1.6) (0.9) 9.2 - (66.6) (59.9) (241.6) (301.5)

Profit for the period - - - - (216.8) (216.8) 200.3 (16.5)

Balance at 31 December 2005 1,172.5 486.6 (5.9) 256.7 1,401.6 3,311.5 1,201.9 4,513.4

Balance at 31 December 2005 1,172.5 486.6 (5.9) 256.7 1,401.6 3,311.5 1,201.9 4,513.4

Legal reserve recognition - - - 26.6 (26.6) - - 0.0

Dividends declared - - - - - - (116.0) (116.0)

Treasury stock cancelled (1.0) (0.7) 5.9 - (4.2) - - 0.0

Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities - - - - 10.6 10.6 - 10.6

Foreign currency translation - - - - 90.8 90.8 100.3 191.1

Net change of investment in subsidiaries - - - - (322.7) (322.7) (118.5) (441.2)

Net income recognized directly in equity (1.0) (0.7) 5.9 26.6 (252.1) (221.3) (134.2) (355.5)

Profit for the period - - - - 574.6 574.6 156.2 730.8

Balance at 31 December 2006 1,171.5 485.9 (0.0) 283.3 1,724.1 3,664.8 1,223.9 4,888.7

The accompanying notes on pages 195 – 243 form an integral part of these Financial Statements
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HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. (OTE) 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (STAND-ALONE AND CONSOLIDATED) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2006

(Amounts in millions of Euro)
2006 

Company
2006 

Group
2005 

Company
2005 

Group

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxes 655.8 1,083.8 (430.2) 3.3

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 528.0 1,128.5 542.6 1,107.4

Provision for voluntary retirement (49.8) (49.8) 914.5 914.5

Provisions 183.1 221.0 271.4 280.8

Foreign currency translation differences (2.6) (4.2)

Reversal of fixed assets’ impairment - - - (75.7)

Extinguishment of liabilities - - - (23.8)

Investment and financial (income)/ loss (540.3) (270.1) (522.3) (142.4)

Amortization of advances to pension funds 35.2 35.2 35.2 35.2

Interest expense 199.2 278.8 130.1 163.2

Adjustments for working capital movements related to operating activities:

Decrease in materials and supplies (6.4) (30.3) 4.9 2.1

Decrease/ (increase) in accounts receivable 100.1 75.8 33.6 (125.5)

Decrease in liabilities (439.9) (293.6) (190.3) (183.0)

Minus: 

Interest paid (105.9) (178.5) (178.6) (193.8)

Income taxes paid - (210.4) - (229.5)

Net cash provided by operating activities 556.5 1,786.2 610.9 1,532.8

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiary or associate, net of cash acquired (192.3) (1,672.2) (299.2) (294.2)

Loans granted (77.6) (66.4) (23.0) -

Proceeds from loans 5.9 20.3 11.8 7.8

Purchase of property, plant and equipment or intangible assets (225.7) (962.4) (209.5) (680.2)

Proceeds from sale of investment 353.1 316.2 524.8 34.8

Interest received 28.2 42.8 10.8 27.9

Dividends received 186.5 13.6 342.2 26.4

Net cash provided by /(used in) investing activities 78.1 (2,308.1) 357.9 (877.5)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from minority shareholders for issuance of subsidiary’s share capital - 12.0 - 12.8

Proceeds from long-term debt and short-term borrowings - 2,369.1 11.4 588.3

Repayment of long-term debt and short-term borrowings (662.6) (1,211.7) (504.0) (422.4)

Dividends paid to equity holders of the parent (1.6) (1.6) (1.9) (1.9)

Dividends paid to minority - (115.6) - (190.2)

Net cash used in financing activities (664.2) 1,052.2 (494.5) (13.4)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (29.6) 530.3 474.3 641.9

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 844.3 1,512.2 370.0 870.3

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 814.7 2,042.5 844.3 1,512.2

The accompanying notes on pages 195 – 243 form an integral part of these Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2006 
(Amounts in millions of Euro, unless otherwise stated)

1. COMPANY’S FORMATION AND OPERATIONS

The Hellenic Telecommunications Organization S.A. (hereinafter referred to as the “Company” or “OTE”), was founded in 1949 in accordance with Law 1049/49, as 
a state-owned Société Anonyme and operates pursuant to Law 2246/94 (as amended), Law 2257/94 (OTE’s Charter) and Presidential Decree 437/95. OTE’s activities 
are to provide telecommunications and other related services.

The address of its registered office is: 99 Kifissias Avenue – 151 24 Maroussi Athens, Greece, while its website is www.ote.gr.

Until December 31, 2000, based on an extension granted by the European Commission to the Greek State, OTE had the exclusive rights to install, operate and exploit 
the public fixed switched telecommunications network in Greece and to provide public fixed switched voice telephony services.  Effective January 1, 2001 and pursu-
ant to the provisions of the new Telecommunications Law 2867/2000, issued in December 2000, which amended certain provisions of the previous Law 2246/1994, the 
above mentioned exclusivity rights expired and the relevant market is open to competition. 

The accompanying Stand-Alone and Consolidated Financial Statements (hereinafter «Financial Statements») as of 31 December 2006 were approved for issue by the 
Board of Directors on 20 March 2007 but they are subject to the final approval of OTE’s General Assembly.

OTE Group (hereinafter referred to as the “Group”) includes the accounts of OTE and the following subsidiaries where OTE has control: 

Company Name Line of Business Ownership interest 

31/12/2006 31/12/2005

Full consolidation method (Direct ownership)

• COSMOTE MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS S.A. (“COSMOTE”) Mobile telecommunications services 67.00% 64.37%

• OTE INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS LTD Investment holding company 100.00% 100.00%

• ARMENIA TELEPHONE COMPANY CJSC (“ARMENTEL”) Fixed line and mobile telephony services - 90.00%

• OTE AUSTRIA HOLDING GMBH Investment holding company 100.00% 100.00%

• HELLAS SAT CONSORTIUM LIMITED («HELLAS-SAT”) Satellite communications 99.05% 95.69%

• COSMO-ONE HELLAS MARKET SITE S.A. (“COSMO-ONE”) E-commerce services 51.55% 50.74%

• OTENET Α.Ε. (“OTEΝΕΤ”) Internet services 94.59% 94.59%

• HELLASCOM Α.Ε. (“HELLASCOM”) Telecommunication projects 100.00% 100.00%

• OTE PLC Financing services 100.00% 100.00%

• OTE SAT-MARITEL Α.Ε. (“OTE SAT – MARITEL”) Satellite Telecommunications services 94.08% 93.99%

• OTE PLUS Α.Ε. (“OTE PLUS”) Consulting services 99.00% 99.00%

• ΟΤΕ ESTATE S.A. (“ΟΤΕ ESTATE”) Real estate 100.00% 100.00%

• INFOTE Α.Ε. (“INFOTE”) Directory and other information services 100.00% 100.00%

• OTE INTERNATIONAL SOLUTIONS S.A. (OTE-GLOBE”) Wholesale telephony services 100.00% 100.00%

• HATWAVE HELLENIC-AMERICAN TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
WAVE LTD. (“HATWAVE”)

Holding company 52.67% 52.67%

•	 OTE INSURANCE AGENCY S.A. (“OTE INSURANCE”) Insurance brokerage services 100.00% 100.00%

•	 ΟΤΕ ACADEMY Α.Ε. (“OTE ACADEMY”) Training services 100.00% 100.00%
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Company Name Line of Business Ownership interest 

31/12/2006 31/12/2005

Full consolidation method (indirect ownership)

• ROMTELECOM S.A. (“ROMTELECOM) Fixed line and mobile telephony services 54.01% 54.01%

• COSMOTE ROMANIAN MOBILE  
TELECOMMUNICATIONS S.A. (“COSMOTE ROMANIA”)

Mobile Telecommunications services 63.10% 61.26%

• OTE MTS HOLDING B.V. Investment holding company 67.00% 64.37%

• COSMOFON MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS  
SERVICES A.D. – SKOPJE (“COSMOFON”)

Mobile telecommunications services 67.00% 64.37%

• COSMO BULGARIA MOBILE EAD (“GLOBUL”) Mobile telecommunications services 67.00% 64.37%

• COSMO-HOLDING ALBANIA S.A. (“CHA”) Investment holding company 64.99% 62.44%

• ALBANIAN MOBILE COMMUNICATIONS Sh.a (“AMC”) Mobile Telecommunications services 55.24% 53.07%

• COSMOHOLDING CYPRUS LTD   
(“COSMOHOLDING CYPRUS”)

Investment holding company 67.00% -

• GERMANOS S.A. Retail services 66.35% -

• E-VALUE S.A. Marketing Services 46.44% -

• GERMANOS TELECOM SKOPJE S.A. Retail services 66.35% -

• GERMANOS TELECOM ROMANIA S.A. Retail services 66.34% -

• SUNLIGHT ROMANIA S.R.L. -FILIALA Retail services 66.34% -

• GERMANOS TELECOM BULGARIA A.D. Retail services 66.35% -

• MOBILBEEEP LTD Retail services 67.00% -

• GRIGORIS MAVROMICHALIS & PARTNERS LTD Retail services 65.68% -

• GEORGIOS PROKOPIS & PARTNERS LTD Retail services 33.18% -

• IOANNIS TSAPARAS & PARTNERS LTD Retail services 33.84% -

• VOICENET A.E. (“VOICENET”) Telecommunications services 79.52% 79.52%

• ΟΤΕΝΕΤ CYPRUS LTD Investment holding company 70.02% 56.75%

• ΟΤΕΝΕΤ TELECOMMUNICATIONS LTD Telecommunications services 67.14% 58.51%

• HELLAS SAT S.A. Satellite communications 99.05% 95.69%

• ΟΤΕ INVESTMENT SERVICES S. A. Investment holding company 100.00% 100.00%

• OTE PLUS BULGARIA LTD Consulting services 99.00% 99.00%

• OTE PLUS ROMANIA LTD Consulting services 99.00% 99.00%

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the Interpretations that have been 
adopted by the European Union. 

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for specific assets and liabilities which are measured at fair values in accordance with 
IFRS. All amounts are presented in millions of Euro, unless otherwise stated.

The Group has applied the transitional provisions of IFRS 2 «Share Based Payment», which was issued on February 19, 2004, for share options that were granted after 
the November 7, 2002 and had not yet vested at the effective date of this IFRS. 

The accounting policies presented below (See Note 3), have been followed on a consistent basis in all years presented by the whole Group.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies followed by OTE for the preparation of the accompanying financial statements under IFRS are as follows:

1. Principles of Consolidation and Investments 

a) Subsidiaries: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Parent and all subsidiaries where Parent has control. Control is presumed to exist 
when Parent has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the subsidiary so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The financial statements of sub-
sidiaries are prepared on the same reporting date with those of the parent, using consistent accounting policies. Appropriate adjustments are made when necessary 
to ensure consistency in accounting policies used. Ιntercompany balances and transactions and any intercompany profit or loss on assets remaining within the Group, 
are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group. The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method of accounting 
that measures the acquiree’s assets and liabilities at their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

b) Associates: The Group’s investments in other associates, in which the Group exercises significant influence, are accounted for using the equity method. Significant 
influence is presumed to exist when parent has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions, without having the power to govern these poli-
cies. Under this method the investment is carried at cost, and is adjusted to recognize the investor’s share of the earnings or losses of the investee after the date of ac-
quisition and is adjusted for any accumulated impairment loss. The investment of an investor is also adjusted to reflect the investor’s share of changes in the investee’s 
capital. Furthermore the investment is adjusted for any accumulated impairment loss. 

When the Group’s share losses exceeds the carrying amount of the investment, the carrying amount of the investment is reduced to nil and recognition of further 
losses should be discontinued , unless the Group has obligations to fund the associate or the Group has guaranteed to support the associate. 

Dividends received from the associates are eliminated against the carrying value amount of the investment.

In the parent company’s separate (stand-alone) financial statements, investments in subsidiaries and associates are accounted for at cost and they are adjusted for 
impairment when necessary.

2. Investments on Financial Assets

Financial assets should be measured initially at fair value, which is normally the transaction price. After initial recognition, according to the purpose for which the 
assets were acquired, they are classified in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity and available for sale financial 
assets. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and gains or losses are recognized in income. Held-to-maturity investments are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method and gains or losses through the amortization process are recognized in income. Available for sale 
financial assets are measured at fair value and gains or losses are recognized directly in equity. The fair values of quoted investments are based on quoted market bid 
prices. For investments where there is no quoted market price, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. 
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3. Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions which may affect the application of the 
principles and the amounts recorded in the financial statements.  Those estimates and assumptions are revised on a continuous basis. The revisions are recognized in 
the period they incurred and affect the related reporting periods. These estimates and assumptions are based on the existing experience and on other factors that are 
considered reasonable, under the current conditions. These estimates are the basis for decision making related to the accounting value of assets and liabilities, which 
are not available form other sources. The actual final outcomes may vary from the above estimates and these variations may have significant effect on the Financial 
Statements.

4 . Foreign Currency Translation

OTE’ s functional currency is the Euro.  Transactions involving other currencies are translated into Euro using the exchange rates, which are in effect at the time of 
the transactions.  At the balance sheet dates, monetary assets and liabilities, which are denominated in other currencies, are adjusted to reflect the current exchange 
rates.  Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency remeasurement are reflected in the income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items that are 
measured at fair value are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Any exchange component of gains or losses arising, 
should be recognized in equity or in profit or loss depending on where the underlying non-monetary item. 

Except for operations in highly inflationary economies, where the financial statements are restated to current purchasing power prior to translation to the reporting 
currency, the functional currency of the Group’s operations outside of Greece is the local country’s foreign currency. Consequently, assets and liabilities of operations 
outside Greece are translated into Euro using exchange rates at the end of each reporting period.  Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates 
prevailing during the period. All resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate component of shareholders’ equity and are recognized in the income 
statements on the disposal of the foreign entity.

5. Goodwill

All business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. For business combinations occurred subsequent to the date of transition to IFRS, goodwill is 
the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net identifiable assets acquired in business combinations accounted for as a purchase. For business combinations 
occurred prior to the date of transition to IFRS, goodwill is recorded on carrying value at the date of transition, based on previous GAAP. Goodwill is tested for im-
pairment at least annually. The goodwill impairment test is a process required by IAS 36 “Impairment of assets”. Thus, after initial recognition, goodwill is measured 
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  An impairment loss recognized for goodwill shall not be reversed in a subsequent period. Goodwill on acquisitions of 
subsidiaries is presented as an intangible asset. Negative goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is recorded directly in earnings. Goodwill on acquisitions of associ-
ates is included in investments in associates. Goodwill on acquisitions of minority interests of subsidiaries where control already exists, is recorded directly in equity. 

6. Property, Plant and Equipment

Telecommunication property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of subsidies received, plus interest costs incurred during periods of construction, less ac-
cumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Any statutory revaluations based on the Greek legislation, are reversed.
Subsidies are presented as a reduction of cost of fixed assets and are recognized to income over the life of the assets through the reduced depreciation expense.  
Newly constructed assets are added to property, plant and equipment at cost, which includes cost of materials, direct technical payroll costs related to construction, 
applicable general overhead costs, as well as the cost related to asset retirement obligations in the period in which they are generated if a reasonable estimate of a fair 
value can be made. 

Repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. The cost and related accumulated depreciation of assets retired or sold are removed from the accounts at the time 
of sale or retirement, and any gain or loss is included in the income statements. 
Expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment should be added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits 
will flow to the company. All other expenditure should be recognized as an expense in the period it is occurred.

7. Depreciation

Depreciation is computed based on the straight-line method on the estimated useful life of tangible assets, which is periodically reassessed. The estimated useful life 
and the respective rates are as follows:

Classification Estimated Useful Life Annual Depreciation Rates

Buildings 20-40 Years 2.5%-5%

Telecommunication equipment and installations:

• Telephone exchange equipment 8-12 Years 8-12.5%

• Radio relay stations 8 Years 12.5%

• Subscriber connections 10 Years 10%

• Local and trunk network 8-17 Years 6-12.5%

• Other 5-10 Years 10-20%

Transportation equipment 5-8 Years 12.5-20%

Furniture and fixtures 3-5 Years 20%-33%

8. Employee Benefits

a) Defined contribution plans: Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized as an expense in the Income Statement as incurred. 

b) Defined Benefit Plans: Obligations derived from defined benefit plans are calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefits employ-
ees have earned in return for their service at the date of the balance sheet. These benefits are discounted to their present value after the deduction of the fair value 
of any plan asset. The discount rate is the yield of the Greek Government bonds with maturity that approximates the term of the obligations. These obligations are 
calculated on the basis of financial and actuarial assumptions which are carried out by an independent actuarial company using the Projected Unit Credit Method. 
Net pension cost for the period is recognized in the income statement and consist of the present value of the accrued benefits, interest cost on the benefits obligation, 
prior service cost and actuarial gains or losses. Prior service costs are recognized on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. All 
actuarial gains or losses are recognised during the average remaining working life of active employees and included in the service cost of the year, if –at the beginning 
of the year- they exceed 10% of the projected benefit obligation. Contributions that are related with employees who retire under the voluntary retirement program are 
recognized when employees accept the offer and the amounts can be reasonably estimated.

9. Income Taxes

Income taxes for the year include current income taxes and deferred income taxes. Current income taxes are measured on the taxable income at the balance sheet date 
using enacted tax rates at the balance sheet date.

Deferred income taxes are provided using the liability method on all temporary differences arising between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, 
using enacted tax rates in effect in the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary 
differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which can be 
utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit 
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. 

Income tax (current and deferred) is recognized in the Income Statement, except to the extend that it relates to items recognized directly in equity.

10. Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of cash flow statements, time deposits and other highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, are considered to be cash 
equivalents.

11. Advertising Costs

All advertising costs are charged to expenses as incurred.

12. Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.
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13. Recognition of Revenues and Expenses

Fixed revenues primarily consist of connection and subscription fees, exchange network and facilities usage charges, other value added communication services fees, 
and sales of handsets and accessories. Revenues are recognized as follows:

• Connection charges:  Connection charges for the fixed network are deferred and amortized to income over the estimated service life of a subscriber’s life.  No connec-
tion fees are charged for mobile services. 

• Monthly network service fees: Revenues related to the monthly network service fees are recognized in the month that the telecommunication service is provided. 

• Usage Charges and Value Added Services Fees:  Call fees consist of fees based on airtime and traffic generated by the caller, the destination of the call and the service 
utilized.  Fees are based on traffic, usage of airtime or volume of data transmitted for value added communication services.  Revenues for usage charges and value added 
communication services are recognized in the period when the services are provided.

Revenues from outgoing calls made by OTE’s subscribers to subscribers of mobile telephony operators are presented at their gross amount in the income statements 
as the credit and collection risk remains solely with OTE.  Interconnection fees for mobile-to-mobile calls are recognized based on incoming traffic generated from 
other mobile operators’ networks. Unbilled revenues from the billing cycle date to the end of each period are estimated based on traffic.  

Revenues from the sale of pre-paid airtime cards and the pre-paid airtime, net of discounts allowed, included in the Group’s pre-paid services packages, are recog-
nized based on usage. Such discounts represent the difference between the wholesale price of pre-paid cards and boxes (consisting of handsets and prepaid airtime) 
to the Group’s Master Dealers and the retail sale price to the ultimate customers. Unused airtime is included in “Deferred revenue” in the balance sheets.  Upon the 
expiration of pre-paid airtime cards, any unused airtime is recognized to income.

Airtime and acquisition commission costs due to the Group’s Master Dealers for each subscriber acquired through their network are expensed as incurred.  Commis-
sions paid for each contract subscriber acquired by the Master Dealers as well as bonuses paid to Master Dealers in respect of contract subscribers who renew their 
annual contracts, are deferred and amortized to expense over the contract period.  Bonuses for the achievement of mutually agreed targets and commissions based on 
revenues billed to each subscriber acquired by the Master Dealers are expensed as incurred. 

• Handsets and Accessories:  Revenues from the sale of handsets and accessories, net of discounts allowed, are recognized at point-of-sale, when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership have passed to the buyer. 

• Rendering of Services: Revenues from rendering of services are recognized in the period in which the services are rendered by reference to the stage of completion of 
the transaction at the balance sheet date. 

• Revenues form dividends: Revenues from dividends are recognized when the shareholders’ right to receive payment is established.

• Revenues from interest: Revenues from interest are recognized as the interest accrues (using the effective interest method) to the net carrying amount of the financial 
asset.

• Revenues from construction projects: Revenues from construction projects are recognized in accordance with the percentage of completion method.
In an agency relationship, amounts collected by the agent on behalf of the principal do not result in increases in equity of the agent and thus, they are not revenues for 
the agent. Instead, revenue for the agent is the amount of commission received by the principal. On the other side, the principal’s revenues consist of the gross amounts 
described above and the commission paid to the agent is recognized as an expense.

14. Earnings per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during each year. 

15. Segment Reporting

IAS 14 “Segment Reporting” sets criteria for the determination of the reportable business and geographical segments of enterprises. Segments are determined based 
on the Group’s legal structure, as the Group’s chief operating decision makers review financial information separately reported by the parent company (OTE) and 
each of the Group’s consolidated subsidiaries. The reportable segments are determined using the quantitative thresholds required by the Standard. Information for 
operating segments that do not constitute reportable segments are combined and disclosed in an “All Other” category. Each segment performance is evaluated based 
on operating income and net profit.    

16. Dividends

Dividends declared to the shareholders are recognized and reflected as a liability in the period they are approved by the General Assembly.

17. Long-term Receivables/Payables

Long-term receivables and payables are initially recorded at their fair value. Subsequent to the initial recognition, they are measured at amortized cost and the differenc-
es between that cost and the amount of receipt/ payment are recognized in the income statement over the life of the receivable/payable using the effective interest rate.

18. Stock Issuance Costs

Stock issuance costs, net of related deferred tax, are reflected as a deduction of Paid-in-Surplus. 

19. Treasury Stock

Treasury stock consists of OTE’s own stock, which has been issued, subsequently reacquired by the company and not yet cancelled. Treasury stock does not reduce the 
number of shares issued but does reduce the number of shares outstanding. The gross cost of the shares reacquired is reflected as a reduction to equity. Upon retire-
ment, the acquisition cost of treasury stock reduces the Share Capital and Paid-in-Surplus and any deficiency is charged to Retained Earnings.  

20. Leases

A lease that transfers substantially all of the benefits and risks incident to ownership of property are accounted for by the lessee as the acquisition of an asset and 
the incurrence of a liability, and by the lessor as a sale and/or financing. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and the reduction of the lease 
liability. Finance charges are recognized directly as an expense. Financial leases are presented in the lower amount, between their fair value and the present value 
of the minimum leased payments at the beginning of the lease, decreased by the accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. If the lease does not transfer 
substantially all of the benefits and risks incident to ownership of property, it is classified as an operating lease by the lessee and the rental payments are recognized 
as an expense as incurred.   

21. Related Parties

Related party transactions and balances are disclosed in the financial statements under IFRS.  Such related parties principally consist of an enterprise’s principal 
owners and management, companies with common ownership and/or management with the enterprise and its consolidated subsidiaries, or other affiliates of such 
companies. 

22. Licenses and Similar Rights

Licenses and similar rights are accounted for at cost, are amortized over their term of life and they are tested for impairment at least annually. 

23. Materials and Supplies

Materials and supplies are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The cost is determined using the weighted average cost method. Net realizable value is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The reversal of 
any previous write-down, arising from an increase in net realizable value, is required. 

24. Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are recognized at their fair value. Subsequently they are measured at fair value less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. At each report-
ing period/date, all accounts receivable are assessed based on historical trends and statistical information and a provision is recorded for the probable and reasonably 
estimable loss for these accounts.  The balance of such allowance for doubtful accounts is adjusted by recording a charge to the statement of income of the reporting 
period. Any amount written-off with respect to customer account balances is charged against the existing allowance for doubtful accounts.  All accounts receivable 
for which collection is not considered probable are written-off.

25. Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are capitalized at cost, while those acquired from a business combination are capitalized at fair value as at the date of acquisi-
tion. Subsequently, they are measured at that amount less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. The useful lives of the intangible assets are 
assessed to be either infinite or indefinite. Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortized with the straight-line method over their useful life. Amortization of 
intangible assets with a finite useful life begins when the asset is available for use. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortized but instead they are 
tested for impairment at least annually. No residual values are recognized. The useful lives of the intangible assets are reviewed on an annual basis, and adjustments, 
where applicable, are made prospectively. 

26. Borrowing Costs

Underwriting, legal and other direct costs incurred in connection with the issuance of long-term debt adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortized 
using the effective interest rate method over the life of the debt. Borrowing costs incurred during the construction period of telecommunication property, plant and 
equipment which are attributable to these assets, are capitalized to the cost of these assets. All other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense when incurred.  
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27. Borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of issuance costs associated with the borrowing. After initial recognition, borrowings are measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses through the amortization process are recognized in the income statement.  

28. Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation  (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources em-
bodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If the effect of the time value 
of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase of the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a borrowing 
cost. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and if it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation, they are reversed. Provisions are used only for expenditures for which they were originally recognized. No provisions are recognized for future 
operating losses. 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognized. Provisions for restructuring are recognized when the Group has an approved, detailed and formal plan 
of restructuring which has started to be implemented or it has been announced to those affected by it.     

29. Impairment of Assets

The carrying values of the Group’s assets are tested for impairment, whenever indications exist that their carrying amount is not recoverable. In such cases, the recov-
erable amount is estimated and if the carrying amount of the asset exceed its estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognized in the Income State-
ment. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its values in use. In measuring value in use, estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to that asset. 
If an asset does not generate cash flows individually, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

At each reporting date the Group assess whether there is an indication that an impairment loss recognized in prior periods may no longer exist. If any such indication 
exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of that asset and the impairment loss is reversed, increasing the carrying amount of the asset to its recoverable 
amount, to the extend that the recoverable amount does not exceed the carrying value of the asset that would have been determined (net of amortization or deprecia-
tion) had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.  

30. Stock Based Compensation

The fair value of the stock based compensation is recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity, while the fair value of any other rights is recog-
nized as an expense with a corresponding increase in liability.

Fair value is determined at the grant date and is allocated to the vesting period without any vesting conditions.

Fair value is measured based on generally accepted methods, taking into account the terms and conditions (except of market conditions) under which these rights 
have been granted.  

For stock based compensation, the amount is revised to equal the number of equity instruments that ultimately vest, except the impact of market conditions of the 
number of instruments that vested. 
For all other rights, the liability is remeasured  at each Balance Sheet date and at the date of settlement, with any changes in fair value recognized as interest ex-
pense.

31. Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Instruments

Derivative financial instruments include interest rate swaps, currency swaps and other instruments.

Derivatives for trading purposes: Derivatives that do not qualify for hedging,  are considered as derivatives for trading purposes. Initially, these derivatives are rec-
ognized at their fair value (which is essentially the transaction cost) at the commencement date. Subsequent to the initial recognition, they are measured at fair value 
based on quoted market prices, if available, or based on valuation techniques such as discounted cash flows.   These derivatives are classified as assets or liabilities 
depending on their fair value, with any changes recognized in the Income Statement. 

Hedging: Hedging relationships are the following: Fair Value Hedge, where the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized  asset or liability is hedged, 
or Cash Flow Hedge, where the exposure to variability in cash flows associated with a recognized asset or liability is hedged. At the inception of the hedge there is 
formal documentation which includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the hedging relationship, the nature of the risk being hedged and the 
company’s risk strategy. Furthermore, the documentation include an analysis of whether the hedging is effective in offsetting the exposure to changes in the fair value 
or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. In a fair value hedge, the gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instrument at fair value is recognized in the Income 
Statement and the gain or loss on the hedged item adjusts the carrying amount of the hedged item and is recognized in the Income Statement. In a cash flow hedge, 

the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognized directly in equity and the ineffective portion of the 
gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized in the Income Statement.

32. New Standards and Interpretations Which Have Not yet Been Adopted

The International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC), issued new IFRS, amendments 
and interpretations to existing standards that are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January, 2007 or later periods. The manage-
ment’s estimate for the effects of the adoption of the new standards and interpretations is as follows:

 • IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures: (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2007)
  IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial instruments. It requires the disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information 

about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments. More specific, requires minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (including 
sensitivity analysis to market risk). IFRS 7 replace IAS 30 (Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions, and disclosure 
requirements in IAS 32, (Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation). It is applicable to all entities that report under IFRS. The adoption of IFRS 7 is 
not expected to have a significant effect on the Group’s Financial Statements.

• IAS 1 Capital Disclosures: (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2007)
  The Amendment of IAS 1 introduces disclosures about the level of an entity’s capital and how it manages capital. The adoption of this amendment is not expected 

to have a significant effect on the Group’s Financial Statements.

• IFRS 8 Operating Segments: (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009)
  IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 and specifies how an entity must present information regarding the operating segments in the Financial Statements and following the 

revision of IAS 34 Interim Financial Presentation, requires an entity to present selected information relating to its operations segments in the Interim Financial 
Statements. Furthermore it sets the requirements of relevant disclosures for the products and services, the geographical area and the significant clients. The new 
standard is not expected to have a significant effect on the Group’s Financial Statements.

• IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflatory Economies: (effective for financial years beginning on or 
after 1March 2006)

  IFRIC 7 requires entities to apply IAS 29 in the reporting period in which an entity first identifies the existence of hyperinflation in the economy of its functional 
currency as the economy had always been hyperinflatory. IFRIC 7 is not relevant to the Group’s Financial Statements.  

• IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2: (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1May 2006)
  IFRIC refers to the accounting for payment transactions in shares where some or all of the goods and services which were acquired cannot be specified. IFRIC 8 

is not relevant to the Group’s Financial Statements.  

• IFRIC 9 Re-measurement of Embedded Derivatives: (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 June 2006)
  IFRIC requires the redefinition of wether an embedded derivative has to be separated from the basic contract, when there are modifications to the contract. 

IFRIC 9 is not relevant to the Group’s Financial Statements.  

• IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment: (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 November 2006)
  IFRIC prohibits the reversal of impairments which were recognized in a previous intermediary period regarding goodwill or investments . 

• IFRIC 11 – IFRS 2 Group and Treasury Share Transactions: (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 March 2007)
  IFRIC refers to the accounting treatment of specific, relevant transactions and whether these should be presented as transactions through a cash or share settle-

ment, as is specified by IFRS 2. 

• IFRIC 12 –Service Concession Arrangements: (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2008)
  IFRIC refers to the concession of services between public and private entities and concerns financial year 2008. IFRIC 9 is not relevant to the Group’s Financial 

Statements.  

33. Presentation Changes

Certain reclassifications have been made to the presentation of the 2005 consolidated financial statements to conform to those of 2006. An amount of Euro 107.4 for 
the Company and an amount of Euro 180.8 for the Group were transferred from other operating expenses to the cost of telecommunications equipment. Furthermore, 
an amount of Euro 42.8 for both the Company and the Group was transferred from other operating expenses to charges from international operators. These reclas-
sifications did not have any effect on the 2005 financial statements.
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4. TELECOMMUNICATION PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Telecommunication property, plant and equipment is analyzed as follows:

 
COMPANY

Buildings
Telecommunication 

equipment 
Transportation 

Means
Furniture and 

fixtures
Construction in 

progress
Investment 

supplies Total

31/12/2004

Cost 28.4 6,527.6 45.6 170.2 512.3
161.3 7,445.4

Accumulated depreciation (2.7) (3,851.1) (34.9) (152.0) -
- (4,040.7)

Net Book Value 31/12/2004 25.7 2,676.5 10.7 18.2 512.3
161.3 3,404.7

1/1/2005

Net Book Value 01/01/2005 25.7 2,676.5 10.7 18.2 512.3
161.3 3,404.7

Additions 0.2 418.8 - 4.8 225.8
64.4 714.0

Disposals, cost (0.1) (54.2) (7.5) (5.4) (413.1)
(111.0) (591.3)

Disposals, accumulated depreciation - 35.5 6.8 4.7 -
- 47.0

Depreciation for the year (1.3) (527.4) (3.1) (10.4) -
- (542.2)

Net Book Value 31/12/2005 24.5 2,549.2 6.9 11.9 325.0
114.7 3,032.2

31/12/2005

Cost 28.5 6,892.2 38.1 169.6 325.0
114.7 7,568.1

Accumulated depreciation (4.0) (4,343.0) (31.2) (157.7) -
- (4,535.9)

Net Book Value 31/12/2005 24.5 2,549.2 6.9 11.9 325.0
114.7 3,032.2

1/1/2006

Net Book Value 01/01/2006 24.5 2,549.2 6.9 11.9 325.0
114.7 3,032.2

Additions 0.9 392.4 1.2 8.8 203.9 47.4 653.5

Sundry Book Value adjustments - 463.6 - - - - 463.6

Disposals, cost (0.6) (271.3) (0.8) (2.8) (359.0) (58.3) (692.8)

Disposals, accumulated depreciation 0.6 233.6 0.8 2.8 - - 238.9

Depreciation for the year (1.9) (516.4) (2.3) (6.8) - - (527.4)

Sundry Accumulated Depreciation adjustments - (463.6) - - - - (463.6)

Net Book Value 31/12/2006 23.5 2,387.5 5.8 13.9 169.9 103.8 2,704.4

31/12/2006

Cost 28.7 7,477.1 38.5 174.4 169.9 103.8 7,992.4

Accumulated depreciation (5.2) (5,089.6) (32.7) (160.5) - - (5,288.0)

Net Book Value 31/12/2006 23.5 2,387.5 5.8 13.9 169.9 103.8 2,704.4

There are no restrictions on title on telecommunications property, plant and equipment.

GROUP

Land Buildings
Telecommunication 

equipment 
Transportation 

Means
Furniture  

and fixtures
Construction  

in progress
Investment 

supplies Total

31/12/2004

Cost 26.2 798.2 10,192.0 55.1 399.5 701.1 191.1 12,363.2

Accumulated depreciation - (203.9) (4,935.5) (41.9) (272.2) - - (5,453.5)

Net Book Value 31/12/2004 26.2 594.3 5,256.5 13.2 127.3 701.1 191.1 6,909.7

1/1/2005

Net Book Value 01/01/2005 26.2 594.3 5,256.5 13.2 127.3 701.1 191.1 6,909.7

Additions 0.6 31.8 940.5 3.7 40.9 425.4 73.6 1,516.5

Disposals, cost - (16.3) (387.3) (11.1) (36.9) (457.4) (120.6) (1,029.6)

Disposals, accumulated depreciation - 27.0 284.1 10.3 34.8 - - 356.2

Foreign exchange differences, cost 0.5 41.3 311.2 2.7 11.1 4.7 2.1 373.6

Foreign exchange differences,  
accumulated depreciation

- (21.6) (265.0) (2.5) (12.5) - - (301.6)

Depreciation for the year - (46.7) (998.1) (5.9) (34.5) - - (1,085.2)

Net Book Value 31/12/2005 27.3 609.8 5,141.9 10.4 130.2 673.8 146.2 6,739.6

31/12/2005

Cost 27.3 855.0 11,056.4 50.4 414.6 673.8 146.2 13,223.7

Accumulated depreciation - (245.2) (5,914.5) (40.0) (284.4) - - (6,484.1)

Net Book Value 31/12/2005 27.3 609.8 5,141.9 10.4 130.2 673.8 146.2 6,739.6

1/1/2006

Net Book Value 01/01/2006 27.3 609.8 5,141.9 10.4 130.2 673.8 146.2 6,739.6

Subsidiary acquisition, cost 20.7 34.9 4.2 2.9 48.4 1.9 0.0 113.0

Subsidiary acquisition,  
accumulated depreciation

- (7.2) (4.4) (0.7) (27.6) - - (39.9)

Additions 0.3 30.1 804.0 5.3 34.8 441.1 141.9 1,457.5

Disposal of subsidiary, cost - (31.0) (280.2) (2.5) (4.6) (64.2) (5.5) (388.0)

Disposal of subsidiary,  
accumulated depreciation

- 9.5 160.3 1.8 3.6 - - 175.2

Sundry Book Value adjustments (0.4) 7.6 438.8 (0.1) (3.1) - - 442.8

Disposals, cost - (3.8) (302.6) (2.3) (10.6) (440.8) (78.9) (839.0)

Disposals, accumulated depreciation - 0.8 260.4 2.0 10.3 - - 273.5

Foreign exchange differences, cost 0.6 48.4 362.5 2.8 11.0 16.2 4.2 445.7

Foreign exchange differences,  
accumulated depreciation

- (26.1) (216.7) (2.9) (7.1) - - (252.8)

Depreciation for the year - (29.6) (1,023.0) (4.0) (35.2) - - (1,091.8)

Sundry Accumulated  
Depreciation adjustments

- (6.6) (448.3) 0.1 2.5 - - (452.3)

Net Book Value 31/12/2006 48.5 636.8 4,896.9 12.8 152.6 628.0 207.9 6,583.5

31/12/2006

Cost 48.5 941.2 12,083.1 56.5 490.5 628.0 207.9 14,455.7

Accumulated depreciation - (304.4) (7,186.2) (43.7) (337.9) - - (7,872.2)

Net Book Value 31/12/2006 48.5 636.8 4,896.9 12.8 152.6 628.0 207.9 6,583.5
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5. GOODWILL

Goodwill included in the consolidated financial statements is analyzed as follows:

31/12/2004 Amount

Cost 88.1

Accumulated amortization (17.3)

Net Book Value 31/12/2004 70.8

2005

Net Book Value 01/01/2005 70.8

Additions -

Foreign exchange differences 1.6

Amortization for the year -

Net Book Value 31/12/2005 72.4

31/12/2005

Cost 89.7

Accumulated amortization (17.3)

Net Book Value 72.4

2006

Net Book Value 01/01/2006 72.4

Additions 463.8

Transfer from acquired subsidiary 4.8

Foreign exchange differences (0.2)

Amortization for the period -

Net Book Value 31/12/2006 540.8

31/12/2006

Cost 558.1

Accumulated amortization (17.3)

Net Book Value 31/12/2006 540.8

Additions on goodwill in 2006 arisen from the acquisition of GERMANOS S.A. from Cosmote. (See Note 7).

Foreign exchange differences arise from the translation of the acquired goodwill on AMC in the presentation currency (Euro) at the date of each balance sheet.

The above mentioned goodwill has been allocated to the reporting units that it relates. The fair value of the reporting units as at 31 December 2006 was above the 
carrying amount of such goodwill, thus there is no indication of impairment of goodwill. 

6. TELECOMMUNICATION LICENSES

Telecommunication Licenses are analyzed as follows:

31/12/2004 COMPANY GROUP

Cost 6.2 449.7

Accumulated amortization (1.6) (68.7)

Net Book Value 4.6 381.0

2005

Net Book Value 01/01/2005 4.6 381.0

Additions/(Disposals), Foreign exchange differences - 36.1

Amortization for the year (0.4) (24.1)

Net Book Value 31/12/2005 4.2 393.0

31/12/2005

Cost 6.2 485.8

Accumulated amortization (2.0) (92.8)

Net Book Value 4.2 393.0

2006

Net Book Value 01/01/2006 4.2 393.0

Additions/(Disposals), Foreign exchange differences - 26.0

Amortization for the period (0.4) (34.8)

Net Book Value 31/12/2006 3.8 384.2

31/12/2006

Cost 6.2 511.8

Accumulated amortization (2.4) (127.6)

Net Book Value 31/12/2006 3.8 384.2
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7. INVESTMENTS

Investments are analyzed as follows: 

2006 2005

COMPANY GROUP COMPANY GROUP

Investments in subsidiaries 1,668.6 - 1,526.3 -

Other investments 157.8 158.7 157.8 159.3

1,826.4 158.7 1,684.1 159.3

(a) Investments in subsidiaries are analyzed as follows:

Country 2006 2005

• COSMOTE GREECE 556.7 365.6

• OTE INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS LTD
CYPRUS 497.9 497.9

• ARMENTEL ARMENIA - 55.0

• OTE AUSTRIA HOLDING GMBH AUSTRIA 0.1 0.1

• HELLAS-SAT CYPRUS 194.5 189.5

• COSMO-ONE GREECE 3.2 3.2

• OTENET GREECE 24.7 24.7

• HELLASCOM GREECE 20.4 20.4

• OTE SAT- MARITEL GREECE 11.2 11.2

• ΟΤΕ PLUS GREECE 3.8 2.6

• ΟΤΕ ESTATE GREECE 336.3 336.3

• INFOTE GREECE 12.4 12.4

• OTE-GLOBE GREECE 0.9 0.9

• OTE INSURANCE GREECE 0.6 0.6

• OTE ACADEMY GREECE 5.9 5.9

1,668.6 1,526.3

Included in investments in subsidiaries are the amounts of loans granted by ΟΤΕ to its subsidiaries and are outstanding at the balance sheet date.

The movement of investments in subsidiaries in the years presented  is as follows:

COMPANY

Balance at 1 January 2005 1,615.0

Acquisition of additional share in subsidiary 299.2

Sale of investments (366.6)

Loans transferred to other non-current assets (22.0)

Loans granted/ (Repayment of loans granted) 0.7

Balance at 31 December 2005 1,526.3

Balance at 1 January 2006 1,526.3

Acquisition of additional share in subsidiary 191.1

Sale of investments (55.0)

Share Capital increase of subsidiary 6.2

Balance at 31 December 2006 1,668.6

Within April 2006, OTE acquired 9,547,579 shares of COSMOTE for a total consideration of Euro 191.1, increasing its participating interest in COSMOTE’s share 
capital to 67.00% and obtaining the statutory majority of the subsidiary.

During the third quarter of 2006 OTE participated in the increase of the share capital of its 99% owned subsidiary OTE Plus. As a result , its total interest in the 
subsidiary increased by Euro 1.2.

In accordance with its BoD approval, on 30 September 2006 OTE participated in the share capital increase of its subsidiary HellasSat, through the capitalisation 
of debt of Euro 149.1 granted by OTE on 21.6.2005, plus the accrued interest until 30.9.2006, increasing its participating interest in the company’s share capital  to 
99.05%.

On 9 May 2006, Cosmote  announced that it has reached an agreement with Mr. P. Germanos, major shareholder and founder of the listed company GERMANOS 
S.A. for the acquisition of a 42% interest in the above company, for a consideration of 19 Euro (absolute figure) per share, subject to the receipt of all necessary ap-
provals from the proper authorities. According to the agreement, following the completion of the acquisition of the 42%, certain activities of GERMANOS S.A that 
are not considered to be core to Cosmote’s operations will be repurchased by Mr. P. Germanos or a company controlled by him. 

The competition authorities of Romania, Bulgaria, FYROM and Ukraine have unconditionally approved the acquisition of GERMANOS S.A., while on 16 August 
2006, the National Telecommunications and Post Commission (NTPC) also approved the acquisition, subject to specific conditions. 

Up to August 2006, Cosmote acquired 16,929,103 shares of GERMANOS S.A., for a total consideration of Euro 321.6, through the Athens Stock Exchange. These 
shares represent a 20.75% interest of GERMANOS S.A.’s, share capital. 

On 29 August 2006, Cosmote founded in Cyprus a 100%-owned subsidiary, a holding company named COSMOHOLDING CYPRUS with the purpose to acquire a 
42% stake of GERMANOS S.A. and to submit a public tender offer for the acquisition of the 100% of the latter. 

On 2 October 2006 Cosmote acquired through COSMOHOLDING CYPRUS a 42% stake in the share capital of GERMANOS S.A, owned by Mr. Panos Germanos 
and other shareholders at the price of Euro 19 (absolute figure) per share. After that transaction, Cosmote’ s direct and indirect shareholding in GERMANOS S.A. 
was 62.75%. At the same date, COSMOHOLDING CYPRUS LTD acquired the 100% of MOBILBEEEP LTD, GERMANOS S.A.’s dealer. 

Furthermore, the activities of GERMANOS S.A that are not considered to be core to Cosmote’s operations were transferred to Mr Panos Germanos and/or companies 
controlled by him (industrial sector including the subsidiaries in Serbia and Germany, relevant activities in Bulgaria and Romania, participations of GERMANOS 
S.A. in companies in Ukraine, Poland and Cyprus (except for  OTENET CYPRUS Ltd), countries where COSMOTE does not have a commercial presence).

On 20 October 2006 and following the acquisition of 42% of GERMANOS S.A., COSMOHOLDING CYPRUS announced the submission of a Public Tender Offer 
for the acquisition of all the remaining shares of GERMANOS S.A. (47,313,790 shares including the 16,929,103 shares held directly by Cosmote, representing in total 
58% of the share capital and voting rights of GERMANOS S.A.) for a price of Euro 19 (absolute figure) per share.
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The Public Tender Offer was successfully completed on 29 December 2006. On 31 December 2006, COSMOTE owned (through COSMOHOLDING CYPRUS LTD) 
a 99.03% of GERMANOS S.A.

Based on IFRS 3, for the acquisitions of GERMANOS S.A.’s shares made up to 2 October 2006 (when the Group obtained control of that company) the acquisition 
was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting and accordingly, the net assets acquired have been recorded at their fair value. The purchase price alloca-
tion was carried out by involving external experts and specialists with respect to the valuation process. Because of the short period between the acquisition date until 
31 December 2006 the fair values of the net assets acquired are temporary.

The total consideration given for the acquisition of 62.75% amounted to Euro 979.6 and net assets acquired amounted to Euro 515.8. The difference of Euro 463.8 is 
presented as Goodwill in the consolidated balance sheet (See Note 5).

For the acquisitions of GERMANOS S.A.’s shares made subsequent to 2 October 2006 (after the Group had obtained control of that company), by which the Group 
acquired an additional 36.28% interest for a total consideration of Euro 565.4, the net assets acquired amounted to Euro 309.2. The difference of Euro 463.8 has been 
accounted for as equity transaction and has been recognized directly in equity in the consolidated Financial Statements.
In the following table is presented the effect of the acquisition in the Consolidated Balance Sheet:

Net assets acquired 825.0

Acquisition cost 1,545.0

Goodwill 720.0

Transfer to goodwill (See Note 5) 463.8

Direct equity transaction 256.2

720.0

Net assets acquired include the following intangible assets that have been recognized during the purchase price allocation, are as follows:

Cost
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Net Book  
Value

Fair value of GERMANOS brand name 417.3 - 417.3

Franchise Agreements for GERMANOS network 121.7 (3.6) 118.1

Software of GERMANOS network 22.5 (2.1) 20.4

Total 561.5 (5.7) 555.8

The effect of the transaction to the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement is as follows:

Total consideration 1,545.0

Minus cash acquired (58.4)

Minus acquisition expenses (5.5)

Net outflow for the acquisition of subsidiary 1,481.1

In April 2006, OTE announced that after consultation with the Government of Armenia, it has initiated the process of examining options for the disposal of its 90% 
participating interest in Armentel, through an auction process.  HSBC Bank PLC was appointed as financial consultant in this process. At the initial phase of the 
process OTE received ten non-binding offers. In the second phase of the process, after reviewing the ten offers, the four prevailing from ten bidders were invited to 
participate in the final negotiations which began on September 2006. The four qualifying bidders were: AO Vimpelcom, Mobile Telesystems (MTS) OJCS, Emirates 
Telecommunications Corporation (ETISALAT) / Istithmar PJSC / Emergent Telecom Ventures (ETV) and VTEL Holdings / Knightbridge Associates. 

On 16 November 2006, OTE announced that it had completed the sale of the 90% stake in Armentel to Vimpel-Communications for a total consideration of Euro 
341.9. The related expenses for the completion of the sale amounted to Euro 5.2. 

As a result of the above transaction and given that the carrying value of this investment in OTE’s books amounted to Euro 49.0, a pre-tax gain of Euro 287.7 was rec-
ognized, and is included in OTE’s stand-alone 2006 Income Statement. 

Armentel is included in the consolidated financial statements until the date the Group ceased to control that company (16 November 2006).

The following table presents Armentel’s condensed income statements for the fiscal year 2005 and for the period 1 January 2006 - 16 November 2006:

1/1/2006 
-16/11/2006

Χρήση 2005

Total Revenues 135.6 114.1

Operating expenses (94.2) (68.8)

Operating income before interest 41.4 45.3

Interest income/(expense) 0.2 6.1

Profit before tax 41.6 51.4

Income Tax (27.0) (5.6)

Profit for the period 14,6 45.8

In the Consolidated Financial Statements, the gain from the sale of that investment was determined as the difference between the price less related expenses and the 
value of Armentel’s net assets at the date of disposal. 
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The assets and liabilities of Armentel at the date of disposal (16 November 2006) are as follows:

Assets

Non current assets 228.7

Cash and cash equivalents 36.9

Other currents assets 43.8

Total Assets 309.4

Liabilities

Long-term liabilities 23.0

Short-term liabilities 86.1

Total Liabilities 109.1

Net assets sold 200.3

OTE’s share in Armentel’s net assets (90%) 180.2

Selling Price 341.9

Disposal expenses (5.2)

OTE’s stake in Armentel’s net assets (90%) (180.2)

Adjustments due to intercompany transactions 3.7

Gain from sale of investment in the Consolidated Income Statement 160.2

The effect of the above transaction to the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement is as follows:

Selling Price 341.9

Minus cash disposed (36.9)

Minus expenses related to the completion of the sale (5.2)

Net inflow from the sale of subsidiary 299.8

(b) Other investments

OTE’s other investments are analyzed as follows:

2006 2005

TELEKOM SRBIJA 155.1 155.1

Other 2.7 2.7

157.8 157.8

The movement of Other investments in the years presented is as follows:

COMPANY GROUP

Balance at 1 January 2005 186.2 188.0

Sale of investment (12.9) (12.9)

Loans granted/ (Repayment of loans granted) (15.5) (15.5)

Other movements - (0.3)

Balance at 31 December 2005 157.8 159.3

Balance at 1 January 2006 157.8 159.3

Other movements - (0.6)

Balance at 31 December 2006 157.8 158.7

Dividends from investments are analyzed as follows:

COMPANY 2006 2005

COSMOTE 145.3 297.9

OTE ESTATE 15.0 1.1

INFOTE 3.5 9.3

OTE-GLOBE 2.5 2.5

OTESAT – MARITEL 0.7 -

ARMENTEL 6.8 4.5

TELEKOM SRBIJA 21.6 14.5

EUTELSAT - 4.9

OTHER 1.3 0.6

196.7 335.3

GROUP 2006 2005

TELEKOM SRBIJA 21.6 14.5

EUTELSAT - 4.9

OTHER 1.4 1.0

23.0 20.4
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8. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Other non-current assets are analyzed as follows:

2006 2005

COMPANY GROUP COMPANY GROUP

Loans and advances to employees 33.3 33.5 19.3 19.5

Discounting (3.2) (3.2) (1.2) (1.2)

Loans to COSMOFON 56.2 - 45.0 -

Intangible assets due to the acquisition of GERMANOS S.A. - 555.8 - -

Other intangible assets - 75.1 - 58.3

Deferred expenses (long-term) - 34.1 - 39.8

Other 0.3 14.4 0.1 10.2

86.6 709.7 63.2 126.6

Employees with service exceeding 25 years are entitled to draw loans against the accrued indemnity payable to them upon retirement. The effective in-
terest rate of these loans is 1.55% for the financial year 2006 and 1.2% for the financial year 2005. The discounting factor of these loans is the difference be-
tween the above interest rate and rate used at the actuarial valuation of Staff Retirement Indemnities which is 4.1% for 2006 and 3.7% for 2005 (See Note 16).    

Loans to COSMOFON include two loans of Euro 22.0 and Euro 34.2 granted by OTE to that company. COSMOFON was OTE’s subsidiary until August 2005, when 
it was sold to COSMOTE. 

Group’s intangible assets recognized in 2006 were identified at the acquisition of GERMANOS S.A. by COSMOTE (See Note 7). 

9. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable are analyzed as follows:

2006 2005

COMPANY GROUP COMPANY GROUP

Subscribers 1,039.4 1,553.2 992.1 1,387.7

International traffic 116.9 201.2 120.6 168.6

Due from subsidiaries 55.6 - 87.9 -

Unbilled revenues 66.2 117.5 82.9 134.5

1,278.1 1,871.9 1,283.5 1,690.8

Minus:

Allowance for doubtful

accounts (568.0) (711.4) (504.1) (624.1)

710.1 1,160.5 779.4 1,066.7

The movement of the allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows: 

COMPANY GROUP

Balance at 01/01/2005 (416.1) (514.9)

Addition for the year, net of receipts (91.0) (110.4)

Write-offs 3.0 4.0

Foreign exchange differences - (2.8)

Balance at 31/12/2005 (504.1) (624.1)

Balance at 01/01/2006 (504.1) (624.1)

Addition for the year, net of receipts (65.5) (97.9)

Write-offs 1.6 10.8

Foreign exchange differences - (0.2)

Balance at 31/12/2006 (568.0) (711.4)
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10. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Other current assets are analyzed as follows:

2006 2005

COMPANY GROUP COMPANY GROUP

Investments in Financial Assets 38.7 128.7 32.9 32.9

Advances to pension funds (See Note 16) 35.7 35.7 35.7 35.7

Due from State for income tax advance (See Note (19)) 95.2 103.4 95.2 95.2

Due from ΟΤΕ Leasing customers (See Note 27 (i))     17.1 17.1 17.1 17.1

Loans and advances to employees  2.5 2.6 102.7 102.8

Tax on sale of investments 36.8 36.8 25.8 25.8

VAT receivable - 13.4 - 19.5

Prepayments - 35.2 - 24.2

Other 1.0 74.9 11.7 57.9

227.0 447.8 321.1 411.1

Investments in Financial Assets arise from equity securities listed on Athens Stock Exchange and are classified as Available for Sale Financial Assets. Due to the 
Management’s decision to liquidate those securities, are included to Other Current Assets. In second semester of 2006, OTE sold a part of these equity securities and 
as a result of that sale a pre-tax gain of Euro 10.2 was recognized, which is included in Gains from investments at the Income Statement. Except for the equity securi-
ties, Group’s Financial Assets include bonds and other securities.

Loans and advances to employees as at 31 December 2005, include an amount of Euro 94.5 relating to loans granted to eligible employees who participate in the Vol-
untary Retirement Program, against the accrued indemnity payable to them upon retirement. The total amount of these loans was settled during 2006.

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents are analyzed as follows:

2006 2005

COMPANY GROUP COMPANY GROUP

Cash in hand 1.6 5.3 1.3 2.7

Short term bank deposits 813.1 2,037.2 843.0 1,509.5

814.7 2,042.5 844.3 1,512.2

12. SHARE CAPITAL

OTE’s share capital as at 31 December 2005 amounted to Euro 1,172.5 divided into 490,582,879 registered shares with a nominal value Euro 2.39 (absolute figure), 
(two point thirty nine Euro) each, while the respective paid-in surplus amounted to Euro 486.6.

The repeating General Assembly of 31 July 2006, resolved to cancel 432,490 own shares, as the period that these shares could be held by OTE had expired. 

Following such resolution, OTE has no own shares and its Share Capital at 31 December 2006 amounts to Euro 1,171.5, divided into 490,150,389 registered shares 
with a nominal value Euro 2.39 (absolute figure), (two point thirty nine Euro) each. 

Hellenic Public is OTE’a major shareholder. As at 31 December 2006 its direct participation was approximately 35.63% while together with DEKA S.A. its participa-
tion was approximately 38.70%. 

13. LEGAL RESERVE

Under Greek corporate law, corporations are required to transfer a minimum of five percent of their annual net profit shown in their statutory books to a legal reserve, 
until such reserve equals one-third of the outstanding share capital.  As at 31 December 2006 and 2005, this reserve amounted to Euro 283.3 and 256.7 respectively. 
This legal reserve cannot be distributed to shareholders.

14. DIVIDENDS

Under Greek corporate law, each year companies are generally required to declare from their statutory profits, dividends of at least 35% of after-tax profits, after al-
lowing for legal reserve, or a minimum of 6% of the paid-in share capital, whichever is the greater.  However, companies can waive such dividend payment requirement 
with the unanimous consent of their shareholders. The General Assembly in June 2006 decided that no dividends will be declared for 2005. OTE’s Board of Directors 
will propose to the General Assembly the distribution of a dividend from the financial year’s 2006 profits of a total amount of Euro 269.6 or Euro 0.55 per share (in 
absolute figure). 
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15. LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt is analyzed as follows:

2006 2005

COMPANY

(a) Loan from European Investment Bank / Hellenic Republic 52.5 67.4

(b) Intercompany loans from ΟΤΕ PLC 1,265.5 1,899.4

Total long-term debt 1,318.0 1,966.8

Current maturities (16.1) (14.9)

Long-term portion 1,301.9 1,951.9

GROUP

(a) Loan from European Investment Bank / Hellenic Republic 52.5 67.4

(b) Loans from suppliers and their affiliates - 33.5

(c) Consortium loans 500.0 500.0

(d) Bond 1,100 6.125% maturity February 2007 491.2 1,108.9

(e) Global Medium Term Note Programme 3,353.1 1,489.1

(f) Other bank loans 168.5 226.7

Total long-term debt 4,565.3 3,425.6

Current maturities (528.0) (321.3)

Long-term portion 4,037.3 3,104.3

COMPANY

(a) Loan from European Investment Bank / Hellenic Republic

The long-term loan to OTE by the European Investment Bank / Hellenic Republic was granted in 1995 and is denominated in Euro.  The loan bears interest at 8.3% 
and after an amendment to the agreement on 30 June 2003, is repayable in annual installments through 2009. In 2006 OTE paid Euro 14.9 of capital against the loan 
(the installment amounted to Euro 20.4). The amount of capital that will be paid in July 2007 (Euro 16.1) has been transferred to the Current Maturities of Long-term 
debt.

(b) Intercompany loans from OTE PLC

The intercompany loans from OTE PLC as in 31 December 2006 are analyzed as follows:

 • Loan of Euro 1,209.0 interest rate 5.22%, issued in August 2003 maturing in August 2013. The outstanding balance as of 31 December 2006 amounts to Euro 
1,112.2.

 • Loan of Euro 650 interest rate 3.80%, issued in November 2005 maturing in November 2011. The outstanding balance as of 31 December 2006 amounts to Euro 
144.3.

During the financial year 2006, repaid the following amounts to OTE PLC:

 • On June 2006, OTE repaid the outstanding balance of Euro 157.9, against the intercompany loan issued in February 2000, with 7 years maturity and interest rate 
6.26%.

 • On November 2006 OTE partially repaid an amount of Euro 500.0 against the inter-company loan of Euro 650.0, maturity 2011, interest rate 3.80%.

GROUP

(a) Loan from European Investment Bank / Hellenic Republic

See the above analysis for the Company.

(b) Loans from suppliers and their affiliates 

Loans from suppliers and their affiliates were related to Armentel, which on 31 December 2005, amounted to 33.5. After the disposal of Armentel (See Note 7), those 
loans are not included in the Group’s Long-term Debt on 31 December of 2006.

(c) Consortium Loans

On 2 September 2005, OTE PLC signed a Euro 850 million Syndicated Credit Facility with banks, guaranteed by OTE S.A. The facility matures in September 2010 
and has an extension option of 1+1 year subject to lenders’ consent. The facility consists of: a) a Euro 500 million Term Loan bearing interest Euribor + 0.2125% and 
b) a Euro 350 million Revolving Credit Facility bearing interest Euribor + 0.1875%. The margin is adjustable based on OTE S.A. long term credit rating. On 6 Septem-
ber 2005 OTE PLC drew Euro 500 million under the Term Loan. Until 31 December of 2006 no draw-downs have been made from the Revolving Credit Facility.  
After OTE PLC’s request and the banks’ relative consent, on 15 August 2006, the maturity of Euro 474.2 (Term Loan) and Euro 332.0 (Revolving Credit Facility) 
postponed to September 2011.

Due to downgrading of OTE’s credit rating by Moody’s, the margins were adjusted as following: for the Term Loan from 0.2125% to 0.225% and for the Revolving 
Credit Facility from 0.1875% to 0.20%.  

(d) Bond, Euro 1,100, 6.125%, maturity February 2007

On February 7, 2000 ΟΤΕ PLC issued a bond of Euro 1,100 fully and unconditionally guaranteed by OTE, bearing interest at 6.125%, maturing on 7 February 
2007. 

On November 2005, OTE PLC completed the Exchange Bond Program in order to refinance part of the Eurobond. According to that Program, Euro 608.4 in prin-
cipal amount of existing bonds was submitted by bondholders and given the exchange ratio of 1.0455, Euro 636.1 in principal amount of new notes were issued under 
the Global Medium Term Note Programme. For rounding purposes additional notes for an amount of Euro 13.9 were issued. After the completion of the transaction, 
the new bond amounted to Euro 650.0, bearing interest at 3.75%, maturing on 2011 (see (e) below).

The outstanding balance of Euro 491.2 of OTE Plc’s  initial bond with maturity date 7 February 2007, has been transferred to the Current Maturities of Long-term 
Debt.

On 9 September 2005 , OTE PLC entered in an Interest Rate Swap (IRS) agreement for the amount of Euro 289 million until 7 February 2007. Under the IRS OTE 
PLC will pay annually Euribor + 3.7775%  and will receive 6.125%. 

(e) Global Medium Term Note Programme

On 7 November 2001, OTE PLC established a Global Medium Term Note Program for the issuance fully and unconditionally guaranteed by OTE, with 30 years 
maturity. 

On 18 May 2006, OTE’s Board of Directors approved to raise the aggregate principal amount of notes under the Global Medium Term Note Program from 3,500 to 
Euro 5,000, with effect from August 2006, when the required approvals were granted.  

On 24 May 2006, OTE’ s Board of Directors approved OTE to be the guarantor against the banks, for an amount of up to Euro 1.6 billion bond that will be issued by 
Cosmote, for the acquisition of GERMANOS S.A. 

On 21 November 2006, OTE announced that OTE PLC completed the process of issuance of bonds in an aggregate amount of Euro 1.5 (absolute figure) under the 
Global Medium Term Notes Program, in order to refinance the bridge facility of Cosmote for the acquisition of GERMANOS S.A.. These bonds are guaranteed by 
OTE and traded in Luxembourg Stock Exchange. These two bonds consist of : a)Euro 900.0 fixed rate annual coupon 4.625%, maturity May 2016 and b) Euro 600.0 
floating rate quarterly coupon based on Euribor plus a spread of 28 bps, maturity November 2009.
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Up to 31 December 2006 notes of Euro 3,650 under the Global Medium Term Note Programme were issued, as follows:

(i) Euro 1,250 notes fixed rate 5%, issued in August 2003, maturing in August 2013.

(ii) Euro 250 notes floating rate, issued in November 2003, matures and fully repaid in  November 2006.

(iii) Euro 650 notes fixed rate 3.75%, issued in November 2005 maturing in November 2001.

(iv) Euro 900 notes fixed rate 4.625%, issued in November 2006 maturing in May 2016.

(v) Euro 600 notes floating rate, issued in November 2006 maturing in November 2009.

(f) Other bank loans

ROMTELECOM has obtained long-term loans in Euro and Korea Won, amounting to Euro 105.1 as of 31 December 2006, one of which amounting to Euro 6.5 
bears interest at floating rate, while the remaining bear interest at fixed rates ranging from 2.5% - 6.12% maturing in various dates from 2009 to 2020. During 2006, 
ROMTELECOM repaid an amount of Euro 44.1 out of its long-term debt.

On 10 May 2005, GLOBUL entered into a credit facility agreement with Bank Austria, which provided it with a three year credit facility of Euro 75.0, bearing interest 
at Euribor+1.25 %. Draw-downs under the facility through 31 December 2006, amounted to Euro 59.7, which were partially used for the repayment of the company’s 
short term borrowings.

16. RESERVES FOR PENSIONS, STAFF RETIREMENT INDEMNITIES AND OTHER BENEFITS

OTE employees are covered by various pension, medical and other benefit plans as summarized below:

Defined Contribution Plans

(a) Main Pension Fund (TAP-OTE):

The TAP-OTE fund, a multi-employer fund to which OTE contributes, is the main fund providing pension and medical benefits to OTE employees.  The employees 
of the National Railway Company and the Greek Post Office are also members of this fund.  

According to Law 2257/94, OTE was liable to cover the annual operating deficit of the TAP-OTE up to a maximum amount of Euro 32.3, which could be adjusted 
with the Consumer Price Index. Pursuant to Greek legislation (Law 2768/99), a fund was incorporated on 8 December 1999, as a société anonyme under the name 
of EDEKT-OTE S.A. (“EDEKT”), for the purpose of administering contributions to be made by OTE, the Greek State and the Auxiliary Pension Fund, in order 
to finance the TAP-OTE deficit.  The Greek State’s and the Auxiliary Pension Fund’s contributions to the fund were set to Euro 264.1 and Euro 410.9, respectively.  
Pursuant to Law 2937/01, OTE’s contribution has been set at Euro 352.2, representing the equivalent to the net present value of ten (10) years’ (2002-2011) contribu-
tions to TAP-OTE.  This amount was paid on August 3, 2001 and is being amortized over the ten-year period.  Pursuant to Law 2843/00, any deficits incurred by 
TAP-OTE are covered by the Greek State.

Pursuant to Law 3029/02, TAP-OTE’s Pension Fund part only, is to merge with IKA-ETEAM (the main social security Fund in Greece) the latest by 1 January 2008.  
In accordance with the provisions of this law, the duration of employers’ obligations to cover the annual operating deficits of their employees’ Pension Funds, as de-
fined by Law 2084/92 will be determined through a Ministerial Decision.  

(b) Auxiliary Pension Fund

(ι) The Auxiliary Lump Sum benefit fund provides members with a lump sum benefit upon retirement or death. 

(ιι) The Auxiliary Pension Benefit fund provides members, who were members prior to 1993, with a pension of 20% of salary after 30 years service.  Law 2084/92 
has fixed minimum contributions and maximum benefits, after 35 years of service, for new entrants from 1993.

Based on actuarial studies performed in prior years and on current estimations, these pension funds incur (or will incur in the future) increased deficits.  OTE does 
not have a legal obligation to cover any future deficiencies of these funds and, according to management, neither does it voluntarily intend to cover such possible 
deficiencies.  However, there can be no assurance that OTE will not be required (through regulatory arrangements) to make additional contributions in the future 
to cover operating deficits of these funds.

Advances to pension funds are analyzed as follows:

2006 2005

Non-interest bearing payments and advances:

EDEKT 140.9 176.1

Auxiliary Fund 4.7 5.3

Interest bearing loan to Auxiliary Fund 66.4 -

212.0 181.4

Unamortized discount based on imputed interest rate 4.0%     for 2006 and 3.8% for 2005

Auxiliary Fund advance (0.6) (0.7)

Interest bearing loan to Auxiliary Fund (23.3) -

Long-term portion 188.1 180.7

Non-interest bearing payments and advances:

EDEKT 35.2 35.2

Auxiliary Fund 0.5 0.5

Short-term portion (See Note 10) 35.7 35.7

Advances to pension funds are reflected in the financial statements at their present values, discounted by the use of risk-free interest rates prevailing in the Greek mar-
ket, for periods approximating the periods of the expected cash flows.  Discount derived from the initial recognition of present values and amortization are included 
in interest expense and interest income, respectively, in the income statements.

According to law 3371/2005 and the provisions of the related Ministerial Decision, OTE should grant an interest bearing loan to the Auxiliary Fund in order to cover 
the Lump Sum benefits upon retirement due to the Voluntary Retirement Program. On 23 October 2006 the loan agreement was signed and its main terms are as 
follows: The total amount of the loan is up to Euro 180, which will be granted partially in accordance with the Fund’s needs, as determined by the above mentioned 
Law and the related Ministerial Decision. If the Lump Sum benefits exceed the amount of Euro 180, OTE will grant the additional amount, which could not exceed 
the amount of Euro 10. In this case the above mentioned contract will be amended in order to include the final amount of the loan and to update the repayment table. 
The loan is repayable in 21 years including a two year grace period, meaning that the repayment will start on 1 October 2008 through monthly installments. The loan 
bears interest at 2.90‰. Because the above rate does not reflect the current market conditions, OTE recognized a provision of Euro 63.1, which is included in Interest 
Expense in the 2006 Income Statement. On 31 December 2006 the part of the provision (Euro 39.8) which relates to the amount of the loan that has not yet granted, 
is included in Other Non-Current Liabilities (See Note 17). 
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Defined Benefit Plans

(a) Reserve for Staff Retirement Indemnities

Under the Greek labor law, employees are entitled to termination payments in the event of dismissal or retirement with the amount of payment varying in relation 
to the employee’s compensation, length of service and manner of termination (dismissal or retirement).  Employees who resign (except those with over fifteen years 
of service) or are dismissed with cause are not entitled to termination payments.  The indemnity payable in case of retirement is equal to 40% of the amount which 
would be payable upon dismissal.  In the case of OTE employees, the maximum amount is limited to a fixed amount (Euro 0.02 and is adjusted annually according to 
the inflation rate), plus 9 months salary. In practice OTE employees receive the lesser amount between 100% of the maximum liability and Euro 0.02 plus 9 months’ 
salary. Employees with service exceeding 25 years are entitled to draw loans against the accrued indemnity payable to them upon retirement.

The provisions and liability for such retirement indemnities have been accounted for in the accompanying condensed stand-alone and consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with IAS 19 and are based on an independent actuarial study.  

The components of the staff retirement indemnity expense are as follows:

2006 2005

Service cost-benefits earned during the year 15.2 19.1

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 15.7 18.4

Amortization of past service cost 7.8 15.1

Amortization of unrecognized actuarial loss 0.8 2.6

39.5 55.2

The following is a reconciliation of the projected benefit obligation to the liability recorded for staff retirement indemnities in OTE’ s financial statements:

2006 2005

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year 162.1 278.5

Service cost 15.2 19.1 

Interest cost 15.7 18.4

Amortization of past service cost 7.8 15.1

Amortization of unrecognized actuarial loss 0.8 2.6

Benefits paid (18.8) (47.4)

Termination benefits based on Voluntary Retirement Program -
118.5

Projected benefit obligation at end of year 182.8 404.8

Total reserve for staff retirement indemnities for eligible employees of the Voluntary Retirement Program - (242.7)

182.8 162.1

The assumptions underlying the actuarial valuation, in percentages, of staff retirement indemnities are as follows:

2006 2005

Discount rate 4.1% 3.7%

Assumed rate of increase in future compensation levels 5.5%  5.5%

(b) Reserve for Youth Account

The Youth Account provides OTE’ s employees’ children a lump sum payment generally when they reach the age of 21.  The lump sum payment is made up of em-
ployees’ contributions, interest thereon and OTE’ s contributions which can reach up to a maximum 10 months’ salary of the total average salary of OTE employees 
depending on the number of years of contributions.

The provisions and liability for the Youth Account benefits are based on an independent actuarial study.

The components of the Youth Account expense recognized in the periods presented are as follows:

2006  2005

Service cost-benefits earned during the year 21.9 20.9

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 10.0 10.2

Amortization of unrecognized actuarial loss 8.0 6.5

Amortization of past service cost 3.2 -

43.1 37.6

The following is a reconciliation of the projected benefit obligation to the liability recorded for the Youth Account benefits:

2006 2005

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year 212.4 229.5

Service cost-benefits earned during the year 21.9 20.9

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 10.0 10.2

Amortization of unrecognized actuarial loss 8.0 6.5

Amortization of past service cost 3.2 -

Benefits paid (49.0) (54.7)

Projected benefit obligation at end of year 206.5 212.4

Employee’s accumulated contributions 70.8 71.6

277.3 284.0

The assumptions underlying the actuarial valuation, in percentages, of the Youth Account benefits are as follows:

2006 2005

Discount rate 4.0% 3.6%

Assumed rate of increase in future compensation levels 4.5% 4.5%

Voluntary Retirement Program

On May 25, 2005 OTE signed a collective labor agreement with its employees, which determines the employment status of  all new employees recruited by OTE, who 
will be employed on the basis of employment contracts subject to private labor laws. Effectiveness of this agreement is conditioned upon the enactment by the Greek 
Parliament of the relevant law for the voluntary retirement scheme. 

The enactment of Law 3371/2005 and the collective labor agreement signed between OTE and its employees on 20 July 2005, instituted the framework for the volun-
tary retirement scheme. Pursuant to this law and the collective labor agreement, employees who would complete the number of years of service required for retirement 
within the period from 2005 to 2012 will be entitled to full pension and other benefits.
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Eligible employees should submit irrevocable applications within three months from the law’s enactment (until 14 October 2005).

The estimated total cost of the Voluntary Retirement Program in terms of payments amounted to approximately Euro 1.1 billion for 4,859 eligible employees who have 
submitted irrevocable applications, based on the information and data that were available on 31 December 2006.

The above mentioned amount included:

 • The total cost of employer’s and employees’ contributions to TAP-OTE for the period required to the employees in order to be entitled to pension.

 • The amount of pensions TAP OTE will be required to prepay for these employees. 

 • The total cost of employer’s and employees’ contributions to Auxiliary Fund for the period required to the employees in order to be entitled to pension.

 • The amount of pensions the Auxiliary Fund will be required to prepay for these employees.

 • The total cost of employees’ contributions to Auxiliary Fund for the Lump Sum benefit.

 • The total cost of bonuses based on the collective labor agreement signed on 20 July 2005.

 • The termination payments upon retirement of the employees (staff retirement indemnities). 

Because of the periodical payments of the majority of the above mentioned costs (payments through 2012), the nominal amounts of these payments were discounted 
at their present values, using a discount rate of 3%, which approximated the rate of the Greek Government bonds with an equal duration as that of the Voluntary 
Retirement Program at the balance sheet date (31 December 2005).   

After the finalization of the applications in 2006, it was concluded that the exact number of employees who meet the conditions of the Program and finally retired 
were 4,759 employees, 100 less than the initial estimation. Furthermore due to interest rates increases, the discount rate which approximates the rate of the Greek 
Government bonds with an equal duration as that of the Voluntary Retirement Program as of 31 December 2006 was 3.89%.

Based on the actual data and the current estimations of the factors affecting the cost of the Voluntary Retirement Program, on 31 December 2006 the cost was re-
estimated and the established provision was adjusted in order to reflect the best current estimation of the Company’s liability at the balance sheet date.    

The components of the estimated cost of the Voluntary Retirement Program according to the initial estimation in 2005 and the re-estimation in 2006 is presented in 
the table below:  

Category of obligation
Estimation  

2006
Estimation  

2005

Total employer’s and employees’ contributions to TAP-OTE & Auxiliary Fund 223.5 232.2

Total pensions from TAP-OTE & Auxiliary Fund 547.4 576.4

Total bonuses based on the collective labor agreement 55.0 55.0

Total termination payments upon retirement (staff retirement indemnities) 239.0 242.7

Total nominal cost of the Program 1,064.9 1,106.3

Effect of discounting at present values (79.8) (67.6)

Discounted present value of the total obligation 985.1 1,038.7

Minus already established reserves for staff retirement indemnities (120.4) (124.2)

Cost of Voluntary Retirement Program 864.7 914.5

Cost of earlier voluntary retirement plan during the 1st half of 2005 25.1 25.1

Total cost of the Voluntary Retirement Program 889.8 939.6

The amount of Euro 939.6 is included in Charges for Voluntary Retirement Program in the 2005 Income Statement. The required adjustment  (Euro 49.8) to the cost 
derived from the re-estimation (Euro 889.8) is included in the same line in the 2006 Income Statement. The adjustment of the discounted amount due to the passage 
of time is included in Interest Expense in the 2006 Income Statement.

Based on the estimated period of payment, these obligations are classified as follows: 

31/12/2006 31/12/2005

Reserve for Voluntary Retirement Program (Short-term portion) 316.7  434.9

Reserve for Voluntary Retirement Program (Long-term portion) 361.4 603.8

Total 678.1 1,038.7

The movement of the reserve for the cost of Voluntary Retirement Program is as follows:

Balance at 01/01/2006 1,038.7

Payments during year 2006 (337.6)

Adjustment due to re-estimation (49.8)

Adjustment of discounted amount due to passage of time 26.8

Balance at 31/12/2005 678.1

Based on Law 3371/2005, the Greek State will contribute a 4% stake in OTE’ s share capital to TAP-OTE for the portion of the total cost that relates to employer’s 
and employees’ contributions to TAP-OTE and to the amount of pensions TAP OTE will be required to prepay. This contribution is subject to EU approval. In case 
that EU approves the Greek State’s contribution, the charge for the Voluntary Retirement Program might be partly reversed.
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17. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other non-current liabilities are analyzed as follows:

2006 2006 2005 2005

COMPANY GROUP COMPANY GROUP

Reserve for pension contributions under voluntary retirement program 3.5 3.5 7.3 7.3

Amount due for Cosmote’s 3G license - - - 14.7

Asset retirement obligation - 5.0 - 4.5

Reserve for obligation of free units 36.1 36.1 36.1 36.1

Deferred revenues (long-term) - 34.2 - 39.8

Long-term liabilities to suppliers - - - 26.8

Discounted financial cost of the Auxiliary’s Fund loan (See Note 16) 39.8 39.8 - -

Other 0.1 8.3 0.2 10.7

79.5 126.9 43.6 139.9

18. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

Short-term borrowings represent draw-downs under various lines of credit maintained by the Group with several banks. The weighted average interest rates on short-
term borrowings for the year ended 31 December 2005 and 2006, was approximately 4.2% and 4.0% respectively.

On 3 August 2006, an agreement between Cosmote and the banks JP MORGAN and CITIGROUP (as arrangers), was signed in London, for the issuance of a bond 
for an amount of up to Euro 1.5 billion for the bridge financing of the acquisition of GERMANOS S.A. The bond has a maximum duration of 12 months with pos-
sibility of prepayment from Cosmote. Under the above agreement, until 31 December 2006 Cosmote had withdrawn an amount of Euro 873.0, which was fully repaid 
with the proceeds of  the notes (Euro 1,500) issued from OTE PLC (See Note 15).

The outstanding balance on 31 December 2006 amounts to Euro 25.2 and is analyzed as follows:

 • GERMANOS S.A.’s loans, of Euro 22.6, mainly in Romania (Euro 21.6), Skopje (Euro 0.5) and Bulgaria (Euro 0.5)

 • OTE PLUS and its subsidiaries draw-downs of Euro 0.8 and,

 • OTENET and its subsidiaries draw-downs of Euro 1.7.

19. INCOME TAXES

In accordance with the Greek tax regulations, the income tax rate through December 31, 2004, was 35%, but based on Law 3296/2004 will be reduced to 32% in 2005, 
29% in 2006 and 25% in 2007 and onwards.

Tax returns are filed annually but the profits or losses declared for tax purposes remain provisional until such time as the tax authorities examine the returns and the 
records of the tax payer and a final assessment is issued. Net operating losses which are tax deductible, can be carried forward  against taxable profits for a period of 
five years from the year they are generated. 

Under Greek tax regulations, an income tax advance of each year’s current income tax liability is paid to the tax authorities. Such advance is then netted off with the 
following year’s income tax liability. Any excess advance amounts are refunded to the companies following a tax examination. At 31 December 2006, amount of Euro 
95.2 that represents exaggerating advance of income tax in relation to OTE’s tax obligation, is included as receivable in Other Current Assets in the Balance Sheet for 
31 December 2006, will be settled after the completion of the tax audit which is in progress. 

The parent company and its subsidiaries have not been audited by the tax authorities as described below:

Company UNAUDITED TAX YEARS

Full consolidation method (direct ownership)

• OTE From 2002

• COSMOTE From 2004 

• OTE INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS From 1998

• HELLAS SAT CONSORTIUM From 2003

• COSMO-ONE From 2002

• OTENET From 2004

• HELLASCOM From 2006

• OTE PLC From 2005

• OTE SAT-MARITEL From 2004

• OTE PLUS From 2005

• ΟΤΕ ESTATE From 2001

• INFOTE From 2006

• OTE GLOBE From 2002

• OTE INSURANCE From 2003

• OTE ACADEMY From 2000

• HATWAVE From 1996

• OTE AUSTRIA HOLDING From 2001
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Company UNAUDITED TAX YEARS

Full consolidation method (indirect ownership)

• OTE INVESTMENTS SERVICES From 2005

• ROMTELECOM From 2001 

• AMC From 2001 

• COSMOFON From 2001

• GLOBUL From 2005

• COSMOTE ROMANIA From 2004

• GERMANOS From 2004

• E-VALUE S.A. From 2003

• GERMANOS TELECOM SKOPJE S.A. From 2003

• GERMANOS TELECOM ROMANIA S.A. From 2003

• SUNLIGHT ROMANIA S.R.L. -FILIALA From 2001

• GERMANOS TELECOM BULGARIA A.D. From 2005

• MOBILBEEEP LTD From 2005

• GRIGORIS MAVROMICHALIS & PARTNERS LTD From 2006

• GEORGIOS PROKOPIS & PARTNERS LTD From 2003

• IOANNIS TSAPARAS & PARTNERS LTD From 2004

• HELLAS SAT S.A. From 2002

• VOICENET From 2004

• OTENET CYPRUS From 2000

• OTENET TELECOMMUNICATIONS From 2001

• OTE MTS HOLDING From 2001

• COSMO-HOLDING ALBANIA From 2000

• COSMO-HOLDING CYPRUS From 2006

• OTE PLUS ROMANIA From 2005

• OTE PLUS BULGARIA Tax exemption

In May 2006, the tax authorities commenced the tax audit of OTE’s books for the fiscal years 2002 - 2005, which is expected to be completed within 2007.

In Romtelecom, the tax authorities have commenced the tax audit of the company’s books for the fiscal years 2001 - 2005, which is expected to be completed within 
2007.

In OTE Estate, the tax authorities have commenced the tax audit of the company’s books for the fiscal years 2001 – 2002, which is expected to be completed within 
2007.

In AMC, the tax authorities have commenced the tax audit of the company’s books for the fiscal years 2001 - 2005, which is expected to be completed in within 
2007.

In OTE International Investments ltd.,  the tax authorities have commenced the tax audit of the company’s books for the fiscal years 1998 – 2002, which is expected 
to be completed within 2007.

In OTESat - Maritel, the tax authorities have commenced the tax audit of the company’s books for the fiscal years 2004 – 2005, which is expected to be completed 
within 2007.

Income taxes reflected in the accompanying income statements are analyzed as follows:

2006 2005

COMPANY GROUP COMPANY GROUP

Current taxes 87.6 316.4 5.0 211.7

Deferred taxes 37.0 36.6 (198.0) (191.9)

124.6 353.0 (193.0) 19.8

The reconciliation of income taxes included in the income statements to the amount determined by the application of the Greek statutory tax rate (2005: 32% 2006: 
29%), to the profit before tax is summarized as follows:

2006 2005

COMPANY GROUP COMPANY GROUP

Profit / (loss) before tax 655.8 1,083.8 (430.2) 3.3

Statutory tax rate 29% 29% 32% 32%

190.2 314.3 (137.7) 1.1

Non-taxable income (80.4) - (131.5) -

Effect of different tax rates applicable 11.9 6.4
55.7 1.4

Expenses non-deductible for tax purposes 13.4 29.2
15.5 18.9

Other (10.5) 3.1 5.0 (1.6)

Income taxes 124.6 353.0 (193.0) 19.8

Deferred taxes are analyzed as follows:

2006 2005

COMPANY GROUP COMPANY GROUP

Employee benefits 262.9 264.7 308.1 308.1

Revaluations of fixed assets deductible for tax purposes - 118.8
- 118.8

Reserve for litigation and claims – accrued and other liabilities 53.0 53.0
53.9 53.9

Net operating losses carry forwards - 9.7 - 7.6

Property, plant and equipment (130.8) (242.2) (138.7) (229.6)

Assets – Liabilities Valuation 16.7 16.8 0.5 0.5

Subsidiary acquisition - (113.8) - -

Other 2.3 20.4 (1.6) (1.6)

Deferred taxes 204.2 127.4 222.2 257.7
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20. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other current liabilities are analyzed as follows:

2006 2005

COMPANY GROUP COMPANY GROUP

Accrued social security contributions 50.4 70.7
51.5 69.5

Accrued payroll 3.7 11.5 1.2 14.0

Other taxes payable 15.3 57.5 27.5 75.3

Accrued interest payable 27.0 67.4 39.3 59.0

Reserve for pension contributions 3.7 3.7
6.3 6.3

Reserve for litigation and claims 123.3 127.4
95.6 105.3

Customer advances 27.9 28.5 38.2 40.4

Short-term portion of amount due for Cosmote’s 3G license - -
- 16.1

Due to subsidiaries 10.1 - 13.9 -

Other 9.2 142.0 18.2 88.3

270.6 508.7 291.7 474.2

21. REVENUES

Revenues in the accompanying income statements consist of income from:

COMPANY GROUP

2006 2005 2006 2005

(i) Domestic Telephony 

• Monthly network service fees 691.9 669.8 995.7 954.2

• Local and long-distance calls

 - Fixed to fixed 518.9 540.9 702.6 759.1

 - Fixed to mobile 313.8 337.5 470.2 515.7

832.7 878.4 1,172.8 1,274.8

• Other 72.3 69.1 92.1 83.2

1,596.9 1,617.3 2,260.6 2,312.2

(ii) International Telephony 

• International traffic 76.6 93.4 132.3 150.5

• Payments from international operators 68.3 89.3 172.7 202.4

• Payments from mobile operators 36.2 33.3 41.9 38.1

181.1 216.0 346.9 391.0

(iii) Mobile Telephony - - 1,975.8 1,752.2

(iv) Other revenues

Traditional Services:

• Prepaid cards 76.0 91.2 100.6 126.6

• Directories 1.7 - 58.0 56.0

New Business:

• Leased lines and Data communications 191.2 192.3 181.1 184.2

• VoIP μέσω MSP 42.5 27.2 32.9 27.2

• Integrated Services Digital Network 142.7 132.6 158.9 141.4

• Sales of telecommunication equipment 90.2 60.3 341.6 112.2

• Internet services / ADSL 67.9 26.6 133.1 81.0

• Asynchronous Transfer Mode 32.0 30.2 32.1 23.1

• Services rendered 160.5 171.8 74.9 72.3

• Interconnection charges 99.9 103.9 96.8 101.7

• Miscellaneous 31.9 37.6 98.0 94.0

Total other revenues 936.5 873.7 1,308.0 1,019.7

Total revenues 2,714.5 2,707.0 5,891.3 5,475.1
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22. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Other operating expenses are analyzed as follows:

COMPANY GROUP

2006 2005 2006 2005

Services and fees 136.5 122.0 173.7 155.9

Cost of telecommunication material, repairs and maintenance 75.3
107.4

199.0
205.7

Advertising costs 39.9 38.4 164.0 133.3

Utilities 56.5 51.2 98.0 100.0

Provision for doubtful accounts 65.5 91.0 97.9 110.4

Other provisions 35.0 47.8 36.0 37.8

Travel costs 7.2 7.2 17.6 17.0

Commissions to independent distributors - - 203.0 166.9

Payments to audiotex providers 11.4 14.6 17.1 21.7

Rent 63.3 59.3 80.1 71.1

Taxes, other than income taxes 9.6 11.0 47.1 30.1

Transportation 5.7 5.0 9.6 7.0

Other 14.4 16.5 46.4 55.4

520.3 571.4 1,189.5 1,112.3

23. EARNINGS / (LOSSES) PER SHARE

Earnings per share (after income taxes,) are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of 
shares outstanding during the period, excluding the average number of own shares that the Company possessed during the period.

Earnings per share (after income taxes ) are analyzed as follows:

COMPANY GROUP

2006 2005 2006 2005

Earnings / (Losses) attributable to the shareholders of the parent 531.2 (237.2) 574.6 (216.8)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 490,150,389 490,150,389 490,150,389 490,150,389

Basic earnings / (Losses)  per share 1.0837 (0.4839) 1.1723 (0.4424)

Diluted earnings / (Losses) per share 1.0837 (0.4839) 1.1723 (0.4424)

Earnings / (Losses)  per share  are in absolute figures.

24. SEGMENT REPORTING

The following information is provided for the reportable segments, which are separately disclosed in the financial statements and is regularly reviewed by the Group’s 
chief operating decision makers.

Segments were determined based on the Group’s legal structure, as the Group’s chief operating decision makers review financial information separately reported by 
the parent company (OTE) and each of the Group’s consolidated subsidiaries.

Using the quantitative thresholds OTE, Cosmote and, Romtelecom, have been determined as reportable segments.  Information about operating segments that do not 
constitute reportable segments have been combined and disclosed in an “All Other” category. 

Accounting policies of the segments are the same as those followed for the preparation of the financial statements. The Group evaluates segment performance based 
on operating income and net income. 

Segment information and reconciliation to the Group’s consolidated figures are as follows:

Year ended 31/12/2006 OTE COSMOTE ROMTELECOM
ALL 

OTHER TOTALS
ADJUSTMENTS- 
ELIMINATIONS GROUP

Revenues from external customers 2,488.7 2,212.6 877.2 312.8 5,891.3 - 5,891.3

Intersegment Revenues 225.8 169.7 17.6 182.4 595.5 (595.5) -

Interest income 45.7 18.2 13.5 134.5 211.9 (141.1) 70.8

Interest expense (199.2) (75.0) (8.5) (139.7) (422.4) 143.6 (278.8)

Depreciation and Amortization (528.0) (318.9) (217.5) (67.7) (1,132.1) 3.6 (1,128.5)

Earnings in equity-method investments 23.0 - - - 23.0 - 23.0

Income tax expense (124.6) (159.8) (16.3) (52.3) (353.0) - (353.0)

Operating income 312.1 557.5 120.8 95.5 1,085.9 2.4 1,088.3

Net income 531.2 360.5 91.6 77.1 1,060.4 (485.8) 574.6

Investments 157.8 - - 0.9 158.7 - 158.7

Segment assets 6,801.4 4,688.1 2,546.7 6,147.5 20,183.7 (7,635.1) 12,548.6

Expenditures for segment assets 225.7 442.4 208.1 86.2 962.4 - 962.4

Year ended 31/12/2005 OTE COSMOTE ROMTELECOM
ALL 

OTHER TOTALS
ADJUSTMENTS- 
ELIMINATIONS GROUP

Revenues from external customers 2,509.5 1,618.7 921.1 425.8 5,475.1 - 5,475.1

Intersegment Revenues 197.5 178.9 8.6 141.1 526.1 (526.1) -

Interest income 39.4 7.6 1.9 160.7 209.6 (155.7) 53.9

Interest expense (130.1) (24.8) (14.7) (149.3) (318.9) 155.7 (163.2)

Depreciation and Amortization (542.6) (229.2) (238.0) (100.8) (1,110.6) 3.2 (1,107.4)

Earnings in equity-method investments 20.0 - - 0.4 20.4 - 20.4

Income tax expense 193.0 (164.6) (0.7) (47.5) (19.8) - (19.8)

Operating income (822.4) 525.3 203.0 118.5 24.4 (0.4) 24.0

Net income (237.2) 339.9 214.8 81.5 399.0 (615.8) (216.8)

Investments 157.8 0.9 - 0.6 159.3 - 159.3

Segment assets 7,161.1 2,549.2 2,464.4 4,820.1 16,994.8 (5,945.2) 11,049.6

Expenditures for segment assets 209.5 259.3 92.0 119.4 680.2 - 680.2
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25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

OTE’s related parties have been identified based on the requirements of IAS 24 and are the following: its subsidiaries, the members of the Board of Directors the key 
management personnel and their close family members.

The Company purchases goods and services from these related parties, and provides services to them. Furthermore OTE grants and receives loans to / from its sub-
sidiaries and receives dividends. 

OTE’ s sales and purchases with its related parties are analyzed as follows:

2006 2005

ΟΤΕ’s 
Sales

ΟΤΕ’s 
Purchases

ΟΤΕ’s  
revenues

ΟΤΕ’s  
expenses

 COSMOTE 164.8 139.2 145.6 174.1

OTE INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS LTD 1.6 9.0
2.1 7.0

ROMTELECOM 2.5 0.3 0.3 1.5

ARMENTEL 1.3 0.4 0.4 0.2

HELLAS-SAT 0.5 1.8 1.6 2.0

COSMO-ONE - 0.9 - 1.3

OTENET 41.9 23.4 25.1 11.8

HELLASCOM 0.1 5.6 0.2 4.7

OTE SAT- MARITEL 1.1 2.2 1.2 2.3

ΟΤΕ PLUS 0.4 23.7 0.4 12.6

ΟΤΕ ESTATE 2.2 56.9 9.1 52.3

INFOTE 8.5 5.4 20.1 1.4

OTE GLOBE 0.7 40.9 62.6 76.2

OTE ACADEMY 0.2 3.4 0.1 1.2

225.8 313.1 268.8 348.6

OTE’s  interest income and interest expense with its related parties from the loans granted / received and gain resulting from sale of investments to related parties 
(gain from the sale of GLOBUL and COSMOFON to COSMOTE in 2005), are analyzed as follows:

2006 2005

OTE’ s  
interest  
income

ΟΤΕ’s  
interest  
expense

ΟΤΕ’s  
interest  
income

ΟΤΕ’s  
interest  
expense

COSMOTE - - 123.4 -

 ARMENTEL 0.1 - 0.4 -

COSMOFON 3.4 - 2.4 -

HELLAS-SAT 5.2 - 6.9 -

OTE PLC - 98.9 - 135.6

8.7 98.9 133.1 135.6

Dividends received from its related parties, are analyzed as follows :

2006 2005

COSMOTE 145.3 297.6

INFOTE    3.5   9.3

OTE GLOBE    2.5   2.5

OTE ESTATE  15.0   1.1

OTE SAT- MARITEL   0.7 -

ARMENTEL    6.8   4.5

173.8 315.0

OTE’s receivables and payables with its related parties from their operating transactions, are analyzed as follows:

2006 2005

ΟΤΕ’s 
receivables

ΟΤΕ’s  
payables

ΟΤΕ’s 
receivables

ΟΤΕ’s  
payables

 COSMOTE 37.9 33.9 35.9 45.1

OTE INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS LTD 0.5 2.6
6.0 7.4

ROMTELECOM - - 0.3 1.4

HELLAS-SAT 4.0 0.5 3.3 0.4

COSMO-ONE - 0.3 - 0.5

OTENET 16.4 17.1 7.2 7.3

HELLASCOM - 1.2 1.3 1.4

OTE SAT- MARITEL 1.1 0.5 0.8 1.2

ΟΤΕ PLUS 3.7 11.6 4.7 5.6

ΟΤΕ ESTATE 2.0 13.9 8.7 104.1

INFOTE 2.6 23.7 5.4 24.4

OTE GLOBE 10.4 27.3 23.9 27.6

OTE ACADEMY 0.1 0.8 0.3 1.5

78.7 133.4 97.8 227.9

OTE’s receivables and payables with its related parties from loans granted and received, are analyzed as follows:

2006 2005

ΟΤΕ’s 
receivables

ΟΤΕ’s  
payables

ΟΤΕ’s 
receivables

ΟΤΕ’s  
payables

 ARMENTEL - - 6.0 -

COSMOFON 56.9 - 45.5 -

HELLAS SAT - - 143.9 -

OTE PLC - 1,268.0 - 1,962.8

56.9 1,268.0 195.4 1,962.8
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The nature of the transactions between OTE and its subsidiaries are described below:

a. ΟΤΕ GLOBE

 i. OTE GLOBE is invoicing OTE for commissions relating to revenue earned by OTE from international telephony and for the administration offers to OTE. 

 ii. OTE GLOBE earns revenue on behalf of OTE from VoIP, which is invoiced by OTE to OTE GLOBE. Additionally the VoIP related expenses are invoiced 
to OTE by OTE GLOBE. 

 iii. OTE GLOBE invoices OTE for commissions related to (ii) above. 

 iv. OTE GLOBE leases lines to customers on behalf of OTE. The total revenue from leased lines, invoiced by OTE Globe, is transferred to OTE. Additionally, 
OTE GLOBE’s expenses are invoiced to OTE by OTE GLOBE. 

b.  INFOTE

 i. INFOTE invoices OTE for the production of the white pages directories.

 ii. INFOTE earns revenues from the advertisement of its customers through the certain directories published. OTE collects these revenues from its subscribers 
on behalf of   INFOTE and pays them back to INFOTE.

 iii. ΟΤΕ invoices INFOTE with a commission for the agency relationship described in (ii) above.

 iv. INFOTE invoices ΟΤΕ for a part of revenues generated from additional entries made on the directories.

c. OTENET

 i.  OTE is acting as a dealer selling internet services and other products on behalf of OTENET and collects these amounts on behalf of OTENET and pays them 
back to OTENET. Additionally OTE invoices OTENET with a commission for this agency relationship.

 ii. OTE purchases products and services from OTENET, which are sold to its customers. 

d. OTE ESTATE

 i. OTE ESTATE earns rental revenue from OTE and subsidiaries. 

  ii. OTE invoices OTE ESTATE for additions made on the land and buildings that belong to OTE ESTATE. The related costs of these additions, representing 
labor and materials costs, are included in OTE’s income statement.

e. ΟΤΕ INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS

 OTE INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS invoices OTE and subsidiaries for the administration services provided to foreign subsidiaries.

f. COSMO-ONE

 COSMO-ONE invoices OTE and subsidiaries for e-commerce services.

g. OTE SAT – MARITEL 

 i. ΟΤΕ invoices ΟΤΕ SAT- MARITEL for the usage of OTE’s facilities for INMARSAT services. 

 ii. OTE SAT - MARITEL invoices ΟΤΕ for the land to mobile connection, which is invoiced by INMARSAT to OTE SAT - MARITEL.

 h. OTE PLUS

 OTE PLUS provides consulting services and prepares studies upon OTE’s request.

i. COSMOTE

 i. OTE invoices COSMOTE with commissions for the mobile connections made through OTE. 

 ii. ΟΤΕ invoices COSMOTE for leased lines.

 iii. OTE and COSMOTE have interconnection revenues and expenses depending on who’s network the calls have terminated, including the traffic from Interna-
tional Telephony that passes through both networks.

j. OTE ACADEMY

 i. OTE ACADEMY rents the Training Centers in Athens and Thessaloniki to OTE.

 ii. OTE ACADEMY provides training services to OTE and the Group’s subsidiaries.  

k. HELLASCOM

 HELLASCOM provides OTE and its subsidiaries consulting services and construction projects.

l. COSMOFON

 ΟΤΕ has granted an interest bearing long-term loan to COSMOFON.

m. HELLAS SAT

 i. HELLAS SAT invoices OTE for transmitter’s rental and the provision of satellite capacities.

 ii. ΟΤΕ invoices HELLAS SAT with a commission on the rental of satellite capacities.   

n. OTE PLC

 ΟΤΕ PLC has granted interest bearing long-term loans to ΟΤΕ, COSMOTE and GLOBUL.

 Fees paid to the members of the Board of Directors and key management personnel compensation charged in the Income Statements of the year ended 31 De-
cember 2006 and 2005, amounted to Euro 3.8  and 3.3, respectively.
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26. STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

COSMOTE’s STOCK BASED PLAN

COSMOTE has established a Management Stock Option Plan for the purchase of COSMOTE’s shares at discounted price. The Plan was approved by the resolution 
of the General Assembly held on 31 July 2000 and 6 September 2000 and amended by the resolutions of the General Assembly held on 12 June 2001, 21 February 
2002 and on 27 January 2006.   

The Plan, as valid on 31 December 2006, allowed that the Board of Directors would grant options to participants every year, which gradually (40% upon the comple-
tion of a year of the grant, 30% upon the completion of the second year and 30% upon the completion of the third year) would be converted to final grant for the 
acquisition of ordinary shares with an aggregate value of, at maximum, 2-5 times annual gross salaries, depending on the position, for the executives of the Company 
in Greece and at maximum, 1-3 annual gross salaries for the subsidiaries’ executives abroad, provided that the participants continue to work efficiently for the Com-
pany (Basic Options). Further options may be granted by the Board of Directors to participants at the end of each year, for the acquisition of ordinary shares with an 
aggregate value of, at maximum, one annual gross salary, depending on the position, for the executives of the Company in Greece and, at maximum, 0.75 annual gross 
salary for the subsidiaries’ executives abroad (Additional Options). The Basic Options granted to the Chairman of the Company vest in full after one year. Additional 
Options vest after 3 years.     

Basic Options, once vested, can be exercised in whole or in part until the fourth year from their grant, while the Additional Options, once vested, can be exercised in 
whole or in part during their maturity year or the year after. Share options expire if the beneficiary leaves the company or is fired before the options vest, irrespective 
of their exercise date.

The total number of the Company’ shares, which may be acquired under this Plan or under any other ongoing plan, cannot exceed 5% of the Company’s share capital 
on a five-year period on a rotation basis, and, in any case, the maximum number of shares, which may be issued if the participants exercise their options, cannot exceed 
10% of the number of shares existing at the time of the approval of the Plan. 

At 1 January 2005 the Company applied IFRS 2 «Share – based payment». According to the transitional regulations, this standard is eligible for the stock options that 
have been granted to the employees subsequent to 7 November 2002 and have not matured until 1 January 2005.

The fair value of the stock based compensation is recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity, while the fair value of any other rights is recog-
nized as an expense with a corresponding increase in liability.

Fair value is determined at the grant date and is allocated to the vesting period without any vesting conditions.

Fair value has been calculated based on the Black Scholes model. The data input in this model is the stock price, the exercise price, the dividend yield, the discount 
rate and the volatility of the stock. Volatility (standard variation of the stock’s price) is calculated based on statistical analysis of the daily stock’s price for the last 12 
months.

The following table provides information regarding the Stock Option plan.

2006 2005

Stock option  
(number of stocks)

Weighted average 
exercise price

Stock option  
(number of stocks)

Weighted average 
exercise price

Outstanding shares at the beginning of the year 3,151,820 13.48 3,266,990 11.00

Granted shares during the year 1,079,580 18.84 1,282,020 15.95

Forfeited (149,860) 13.15 (185,580) 11.76

Exercised during the year (1,094,090) 11.10 (1,211,610) 9.67

Outstanding shares at the end of the year 2,987,450 16.30 3,151,820 13.48

Exercisable at the end of the year 869,069 14.46 655,596 11.10

The following weighted average assumptions were used: 

2006 2005
Weighted average stock price 19.03 15.73

Weighted average exercise price 18.84 15.95

Volatility 24.79% 25.08%
Volatility of exercising the right 3 years 3 years
Risk free interest rate 3.97% 2.98%
Dividend yield 3.37% 7.62%

Volatility has been calculated using the standard deviation of the COSMOTE’s stock during the relative year.

The fair value of the stock based compensation recognized as an expense amounted to Euro 2.4 for 2006 and 0.9 for 2005.
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27. LITIGATION AND CLAIMS

The most significant legal cases on 31 December  2006 are the following:

(i) OTE Leasing:  On 11 December 2001, OTE disposed of its wholly owned subsidiary, OTE Leasing, to Piraeus Financial Leasing S.A., a subsidiary of Piraeus 
Bank S.A. for a consideration of Euro 21.0.  Out of the sale proceeds, Euro 5.9 was collected in cash and the balance of Euro 15.1 in shares in Piraeus Bank S.A. based 
on their fair value at that date. The disposal of OTE Leasing had no material effect on the Group ś financial position or results of operations.  As prescribed in the 
agreements signed for the sale of OTE Leasing, OTE is committed to indemnify Piraeus Financial Leasing S.A. up to an amount of approximately Euro 28.0, for pos-
sible losses to be incurred from the non-performance of lessees for contracts signed through to the date of sale of OTE Leasing.  The conditions under which a lessee’s 
contract will be characterized as non-performing are described in detail in the sale agreements.  Such OTE’s obligation is in force for a period between 3.5-5.5 years, 
depending on the nature of the lease contracts. The amount of Euro 28 has already been paid against OTE Leasing’s receivables of total amount Euro 17.1 and other 
assets of total amount Euro 10.9. 

(ii) Alpha Digital Synthesis S.A.: During January 2002, Alpha Digital Synthesis S.A., a Greek company licensed to provide subscriber television services in Greece, 
filed a law suit against OTE before the Athens Court of First Instance, claiming an amount of Euro 55.5 for alleged damages incurred as a result of an alleged breach 
by OTE of the terms of a memorandum of understanding signed by the two parties. Alpha Digital Synthesis S.A. has withdrawn this claim and, in accordance with the 
terms of the memorandum of understanding, it submitted a request for arbitration according to the Greek Civil Procedure Code on 7 May 2003, claiming an amount 
of approximately Euro 254.2. The arbitration court in 2006 ruled in favor of Alpha Digital Synthesis S.A., and ordered OTE to pay an aggregate amount of Euro 13.0. 
OTE has appealed this decision before the Athens Court of Appeals. By its decision on 21 November 2006, the Athens Court of Appeals rejected OTE’s appeal.

(iii) Hellenic Radio and Television Broadcasting S.A. (“ERT”): During May 2002, ERT, the Greek publicly-owned television radio broadcaster, filed a law suit 
against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First Instance, claiming an amount of Euro 42.9 for alleged damages incurred by it as a result of an alleged 
infringement by OTE of the terms of a memorandum of understanding signed by the two parties. The case was heard on 21 April 2005 and the court judged that the 
case should be referred to arbitration.  

(iv) Forthnet: In 2002, Forthnet S.A., which was awarded license to provide wireless telephony service, filed a civil claim, claiming an amount of  Euro 26.7 for alleged 
damages incurred by it due to loss of customers as a result of OTE’s allegedly discriminatory policy in favor of OTENET. The hearing is scheduled for 19 April 2007.  
Furthermore, Forthnet S.A. filed a lawsuit against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First Instance, claiming approximately Euro 4.1 in damages, due 
to suspension of it’s subscriber’s number portability. The hearing scheduled for 3 May 2006, has been suspended.

(v) Greek Telecom S.A.: In 2004, Greek Telecom S.A. filed a lawsuit against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First Instance, claiming approximately 
Euro 45.4 in damages, due to alleged breach of contractual obligations arising out of disconnection of telecommunication services.  The hearing was held on 22 March 
2006 and Court by its decision rejected Greek Telecom S.A.’s  claim.

(vi) Telepassport S.A.: Telepassport S.A. filed a lawsuit against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First Instance, claiming an aggregate amount of ap-
proximately Euro 52.2 for alleged damages incurred by it as a result of OTE’s delay in providing them leased lines.  The hearing, initially scheduled for 8 June 2005, 
has been suspended. 

(vii) Teledome S.A.: Teledome S.A. filed lawsuits against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First Instance, claiming an aggregate amount of approxi-
mately Euro 8.1 for alleged damages incurred by it as a result of OTE’s delay in delivering to it leased lines and the application of non cost oriented interconnection 
charges by OTE. The hearings of the above lawsuits are scheduled in certain dates in 2007. Furthermore, Teledome S.A. filed lawsuits against OTE before the Athens 
Multi Member Court of First Instance, claiming approximately Euro 10.8 in damages, due to suspension of it’s subscriber’s number portability and due to alleged 
breach of contractual obligations arising out of disconnection of telecommunication services. For two lawsuits totaling an amount of Euro 4.7, the Court rejected Tel-
edome’s claims. Teledome appealed the decision before the Court of Appeals. The hearings of the other lawsuits are scheduled in certain dates in 2007 and 2008. 

(viii) Newsphone Hellas S.A.: Newsphone Hellas S.A. filed a lawsuit against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First Instance, claiming an aggregate 
amount of approximately Euro 7.2 for alleged damages incurred by it as a result of OTE’s refusal to include in its recorded message that directories information serv-
ices, except from OTE, are provided by Newsphone also. The hearing was held on 17 May 2006 and the Court rejected Newsphone’s claims. 

(ix) Tellas S.A.: Tellas S.A. filed lawsuits against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First Instance, claiming an aggregate amount of approximately Euro 
16.6 in damages due to suspension of its subscriber’s number portability. The hearings of the above lawsuits after suspension have been rescheduled for 14 March 
2007. 

(x) Lannet S.A.: Lannet S.A filed two lawsuits against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First Instance, claiming an aggregate amount of approximately 
Euro 2.2 in damages due to suspension of its subscriber’s number portability. The hearing of the first lawsuit for the amount of Euro 1.5 was held and the Court re-
jected the claim, while the hearing of the second lawsuit after suspension has been rescheduled for 21 March 2007. 

(xi) Algonet S.A.: Algonet S.A filed two lawsuits against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First Instance, claiming an aggregate amount of approxi-
mately Euro 0.9 in damages due to suspension of its subscriber’s number portability. The hearing of the first lawsuit for the amount of Euro 0.4 was held and the Court 
rejected the claim, while the hearing of the second lawsuit initially scheduled for 8 February 2006, has been suspended.  

(xii) Fasma Advertising Technical and Commercial S.A.: Fasma Advertising Technical and Commercial S.A. filed a lawsuit against OTE before the Athens Multi 
Member Court of First Instance, claiming an aggregate amount of Euro 9.1 for breach of contract. The hearing is scheduled for 8 November 2007.

(xiii) Employees’ Claims: ΟΤΕ’s employees have filed a number of lawsuits against OTE. 

(xiv) Franchise Agreements: OTE is involved in four disputes relating to franchise agreements for its retail telecommunications equipment outlets. Helias Koutsoko-
stas & Company Limited Partnership filed a lawsuit against OTE claiming alleged damages in the amount of Euro 7.9. The hearing, initially scheduled for 13 October 
2005 has been suspended and a new hearing is scheduled for 21 February 2008. In another franchise case, K. Prinianakis S.A. filed a lawsuit against OTE alleging 
Euro 10.9 in damages. The hearing, which was scheduled for 2 November 2006, has been suspended and a new hearing is scheduled for 15 November 2007. In the 
third case, DEP INFO LTD has filed a lawsuit against OTE alleging Euro  6.8 in damages. OTE has filed its own lawsuit against this company claiming Euro 1.7 in 
damages. Both hearings were held on 9 March 2006 and the court rejected DEP INFO LTD’s lawsuit, while it accepted OTE’s lawsuit. In the fourth case,  Infoshop 
S.A. filed a lawsuit against OTE claiming alleged damages in the amount of 7.0. A hearing scheduled for 2 November 2006 has been suspended, and a new hearing 
has been scheduled for 15 November 2007.

(xv) Payphones Duties: From 1999 to 2005, the Municipality of Thessaloniki charged OTE with duties and penalties of an amount of approximately Euro 11.0 for 
the installation and operation of payphones within the area of its responsibility. OTE strongly disputed the above assessments and had filed appeals before the Thes-
saloniki Administrative Court of First Instance and prepaid 40% of the above duties and penalties (approximately Euro 3.4), amount that will be refunded to OTE if 
the outcome of that case will be favorable to the Company. With its two first decisions, the Thessaloniki Administrative Court of First Instance has accepted OTE’s 
appeals. 

OTE has established appropriate provisions in relation to litigations and claims, the outcomes of which are probable and can be reasonably estimated. 
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

a. Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term debt. Approximately 20% of the Group’s total debt bear interest at floating rates. The interest rate risk manage-
ment is achieved through the employment of financial instruments (interest-rate swaps) with the purpose of reducing the “cost and carry” of fixed rate liabilities as 
well as to “lock in” fixed rates for the duration of the liabilities, depending on the prevailing interest rate environment. Interest rate positions are monitored centrally 
by the Treasury Department and reported on a quarterly basis to the Board.

b. Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is managed through the maintenance of sufficient  cash and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of credit facilities.

c. Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial assets that potentially subject the Group to concentrations of credit risk are trade accounts receivable. Due to the large volume and diversity of the Group’s 
customer base, concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade accounts receivable are limited. 

d. Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from the Group’s operations in certain Southeastern European countries. These countries have experienced significant fluctuations of 
their currencies against the Euro. In this region, the Group’s biggest operations are in Romania, where telephony charges are pegged to the Euro providing a natural 
hedge. Foreign exchange risk is limited in cash and cash equivalents as well as in debt, as the majority of them are expressed in Euro. 

29. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The most important events that have occurred after 31 December 2006 are the following:

a. On 28 February 2007, OTE signed a collective labor agreement with OME-OTE, according to which, eligible employees will be entitled to benefits in order to 
retire up to 30 December 2007. The applications should be submitted until 31 March 2007 and could not be recalled. The relative cost will be determined after the 
confirmation of the participants and will be included in the income statement of the first quarter 2007. 

b. On 15 January 2007, Mr. Panos Germanos acquired the 10% of COSMOHOLDING CYPRUS share capital. As a result of the above acquisition, the Group’s 
indirect ownership in COSMOHOLDING CYPRUS reduced to 60.3%, while the Group’s indirect ownership in GERMANOS S.A. reduced to 57.72%.

c. On 9 February 2007, GERMANOS S.A.’s Extraordinary General Assembly decided, due to requirement of COSMOHOLDING CYPRUS, the submission of 
application to the Hellenic Capital Market Committee for the delisting of GERMANOS from Athens Stock Exchange. Hellenic Capital Market Committee approved 
the above application on 9 March 2007. The GERMANOS S.A.’s shares will be delisted at 29 March 2007.

d. On 6 February 2007, Group through its subsidiary OTE PLC fully repaid the outstanding balance of the Eurobond 1,100, with 7 year duration, fixed-rate 6.125% 
of Euro 491.6.

e. Following the decision of the Board of Directors of 21 September 2006, on 8 February 2008 OTE acquired the remaining 1.0% minority interests in OTE PLUS 
for a cash consideration of Euro 0.04. After the completion of the transaction OTE owns 100% interest in OTE PLUS.

f. On 14 March 2007 OTE held an Extraordinary General Assembly to revise certain Articles of Association, to establish a Stock Option Plan and other matters. As 
the necessary quorum was not met, the General Assembly will be repeated on 27 March 2007.      
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT OF THE 
“HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A.” 
TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2006  

The Board of Directors’ Report of the “HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A.” (hereinafter referred to as “OTE” or “the Company”) 
was prepared in accordance with article 136 of the Codified Law 2190/1920 and refers to the Annual Stand-Alone and Consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 
December 2006 and for the year then ended.

The above mentioned Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (I.F.R.S.).  

Α. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE YEAR

With respect to the group’s activities, the following events that occurred during the year 2006 are of big significance:

• Completion of the Voluntary Retirement Program in OTE, with the early retirement of 4.759 employees between October 2005 and October 2006.

• Completion of the organizational reconstruction in OTE, aiming at its efficiency and financial performance.

• Sale of OTE’s stake in Armentel.

• Acquisition of GERMANOS  S.A. by Cosmote 

• OTE PLC issued two bonds, guaranteed by OTE,  in an aggregate amount of Euro 1.5 billion (Euro 900 million and Euro 600 million) under the Global Me-
dium Term Notes Program, in order to refinance the bridge facility of Cosmote for the acquisition of GERMANOS S.A. 

• Romtelecom launched satellite television services, available countrywide via OTE’s Hellas Sat 2 satellite. 

• Increase of OTE’s stake in Cosmote to 67%.

Β. STRATEGY- OBJECTIVES

With respect to OTE’s strategic objectives in the coming years as stated in the 2007-2009 Business Plan, the management’s strategic goal is the maximization of the 
existing synergies within the Group and the increase of EBITDA margin, so that OTE returns in line with European peers.

In order to fulfill the above goal, the Company’s top priorities are the sustention of revenues against the persistent competition and the reduction of all elements of 
operating costs. 

Based on the above, the effort already commenced during 2006 continues, focused on the main pivots: 

• Development of new products and services with differentiation by customer segment.

• Retention of market share for both retail and wholesale.

• Exploitation of the existing telecommunications infrastructure and reveal new business opportunities.

• Improvement of customer service in both retail and wholesale with a substantial and direct after-sales technical support.  

• Competitiveness based on technological and operational advantage

• Minimization of regulatory interventions

• Optimization of sales channels / networks.

• Stable ratio “Payroll and employee benefits / Revenues” in the three years (2007-2009), through the development of a competitive working environment.

C. DIVIDEND POLICY

OTE’s Board of Directors will propose to the General Assembly the distribution of a dividend from the financial year’s 2006 profits of a total amount of Euro 269.6 
million or Euro 0.55 per share.

D. FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS OF 2006

 INCOME STATEMENT:

OTE Group Revenues in 2006 increased by 7.6%, as compared to 2005 and reached to Euro 5.891,3 million. 

This increase is mainly due to :

a. Increased revenues from the mobile telephony, (12.8% increase), as a result of the boost of the subscriber base for all the mobile operations of the Group (Cos-
mote, AMC, Globul & Cosmofon), and the mobile traffic volume enhancement in Greece. 

b. The consolidation of GERMANOS S.A. for the first time in the fourth quarter of 2006 after its acquisition by Cosmote. This contribution which mostly affected 
the sales of telecommunication equipment, more than offset the loss of revenues from the sale of Armentel on 16th November 2006 and therefore its deconsolidation 
as of that date.  

c. The significant increase in revenues from ADSL (152.7% increase), reflecting the significant boost in ADSL customers, which increased more than three times as 
compared to 2005 reaching above a half million connections. 

d. Increased revenues in basic monthly rentals. 

OTE’s revenues, which amounted to Euro 2,714.5 million remained unchanged as compared to 2005 (0.3% increase), better than forecasted. This is a result of the 
increase in revenues from basic monthly rentals, broadband services (ADSL), sales of telecommunication equipment,  and revenues from VoIP, which partially offset 
the decline in revenues from telecommunication traffic.

OTE Group Operating Expenses in 2006 declined by 11.9% as compared to 2005 and reached Euro 4,803.0 million. This is mainly due to the cost of the Voluntary 
Retirement Program, which was charged in last year’s operating expenses.  

Furthermore, the overall decline was due to: 

• The 6.4% decrease in payroll and employee benefits.

• The 101.1% increase in the cost of telecommunication equipment, reflecting the consolidation of GERMANOS S.A.(in line with increased sales of telecommu-
nications equipment).

• The 4.2% decrease in charges from international operators.

• The 8.3% increase in charges from domestic operators

• The 1.9% increase in depreciation and amortization.

• The 6.9% increase in other operating expenses. 

OTE’s Operating Expenses in amounted to Euro 2,402.4 million and have decreased by 31.9% as compared to 2005. This is mainly due to the cost of the Voluntary 
Retirement Program, which was charged in last year’s operating expenses 

Furthermore, the overall decline was due to: 

• The 10.4% decrease in payroll and employee benefits.

• The 1.3% decrease in charges from international operators.

• The 1.6% decrease in charges from domestic operators

• The 2.7% decrease in depreciation.

• The 19.4% of the cost of telecommunication equipment, mainly due to the “SYZEYXIS” project (in line with the increased sales of telecommunications equip-
ment). 

• The 8.9% decrease in other operating expenses. 
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OTE Group Financial Income and Expenses are analyzed as follows:

Interest Expenses amounted to Euro 278.8 million increased by 70.8% compared to 2005 reflecting the increase in debt and the one-off net financial loss of Euro 70.0 
million related to the well under current market conditions loan that OTE granted to the OTE Auxiliary Pension Fund.

Interest income increased by 31.4% compared to 2005, mainly as a result of the increased cash and cash equivalents. 

Income from dividends increased by 12.8% principally reflecting increased dividend from Telecom Serbia. 

Investment income is increased by 425.6%, reflecting the gain from the sale of Armentel.

Income Tax was increased significantly as compared to 2005, as the last year’s deferred tax included the tax benefits resulting from the cost of the Voluntary Retire-
ment Program. No income tax was recorded in 2005 at OTE, due to tax losses incurred.  

As a result of all the above, OTE Group Net Profit for the year 2006 amounted to Euro 574.6 million, as compared to  Euro 216.8 loss in 2005.

The Group’s Capital Expenditures reached Euro 962.4 million, significantly increased as compared to the last year’s capital expenditure, but still lower than the 
budgeted amount for 2006 due to the lower investment program in the parent company. 

The Group’s Total Debt was increased by 33.4% from the previous year and amounted to Euro 4,590.5 million, due to the bonds issue by OTE PLC for the financing 
of the acquisition of GERMANOS S.A., whereas the Group’s Net Debt was increased by 32.2% and amounted to Euro 2,548.0 million.

With respect to the results of the main subsidiaries, which are included in the consolidated financial statements the following should be noted:

COSMOTE group: Maintenance of the leading position within the Greek market, with increase in revenues by 32.5% and in net profit by 6.1%, as compared to 2005. 
COSMOTE’s Group’s total subscriber base increased by 35.4% as compared to 2005 reaching over 11 million subscribers, while the consolidated results of GER-
MANOS S.A. contributed to the Groups positive results.

ROMTELECOM: Decrease in revenues by 3.8% approximately and in net profit by 35% reflecting the intense market competition from alternative providers result-
ing the drop in the number of subscriber lines and the lower wholesale and retail revenues, which was partly offset by the tariff rebalancing implemented last August. 
EBITDA margin improved to 37.8% from 36,7%. Headcount was decreased by 6% as compared to 2005.

ΟΤΕΝΕΤ group: Increase in revenues by 13.6% as compared to 2005, mainly due to its subscriber base augmentation with the migration of PSTN-ISDN customers 
to broadbamd (ADSL) connections. 

E. INFORMATION ACCORDING TO ARTICLE 11a, L. 3371/2005

(a) Share capital structure

As at 31.12.2006 the Company’s share capital amounted to Euros one billion, one hundred seventy two million, four hundred ninety-three thousand, eighty and eighty-
one cents (1,172,493,080.81) and is divided into four hundred ninety million, five hundred eighty-two thousand eight hundred seventy nine (490,582,879) ordinary 
registered shares of nominal value two Euros and thirty nine cents (2.39) each.

According to the Company’s share registry on 31.12.2006 the Company’s shareholding structure was as follows: 

Shareholder
Number  

of Shares %

Hellenic State 174,796,804 35.6%

DEKA S.A. 15,052,783 3.1%

Free float 300,300,802 61.3%

TOTAL 490,150,389 100%

The total of the Company’s shares are common, nominal and there are not special classes of them. Company’s shares are listed on the Athens Stock Exchange.

The rights and obligations attaching to the shares are those mentioned in C.L. 2190/1920 and Company’s Articles of Incorporation.

Shareholder that has in his possession any number of shares has the right to participate in the General Assembly of shareholders of the Company either in person or 
by proxy. The Hellenic State, as shareholder, is represented in the General Assembly by the Minister of Finance or by his representative.

The ownership of one share entitles one vote.

The Company’s shareholders have the right to receive dividends. According to the Articles of Incorporation and Greek Law 2190/1920, the minimum permissible limit 
of the dividend is set at the greater of six percent (6%) of the share capital or thirty five percent (35%) of the net profits.

The General Assembly may resolve to allocate the remaining profits at its own discretion; as a case in point, the Assembly may decide on the distribution of shares 
to Company employees and to its affiliated companies, with such shares coming from an increase of the share capital through capitalization of profits or it may be 
covered by the shareholders themselves. 

The General Assembly of shareholders maintains all its rights at the duration of liquidation.

Shareholder’s liability is limited to the nominal value of shares that they have in possession.

Shareholders representing one twentieth (1/20) of the paid up share capital: (1) are entitled to request the audit of the Company by the competent Court of the Compa-
ny’s seat, (2) are entitled to request from the Chairman of the Board of Directors to convene an extraordinary General Assembly of the Shareholders of the company, 
stating the date of convocation, which cannot be more than thirty (30) days from the date of service of the application to the Chairman of the Board of Directors, 
(3) are entitled to request from the Board of Directors (a) to disclose to the General Assembly of the Shareholders of the company all those amounts paid within the 
previous two years, for any reason whatsoever, to the members of the Board of Directors or to the senior management or to the other personnel and every other pay-
ment of the company effected toward such persons, as well as every agreement in force, for any reason whatsoever, with such persons, (b) Provide specific information 
requested with regard to the affairs of the company, to the extent that such is useful for the appraisal of the issues of the agenda. The Board of Directors may refuse to 
provide the information requested for reasonable cause, stating the respective reasoning in the minutes, (4) are entitled to request from the Chairman of the General 
Assembly to postpone only once resolutions of the General Meeting, ordinary or extraordinary, for all or certain issues (5) the adoption of a resolution on any issue 
whatsoever on the daily agenda of the General Assembly is effected on name-by-name basis.  

(b) Restrictions in the transfer of the Company’s shares 

The Company’s shares are listed for trading on Athens Stock Exchange and are transferred according the law.

Exceptionally, in the article 26 of 2843/2000 (Official Journal of the Hellenic Republic-Volume A 219-12.10.2000) Act is referred as follows “In every case the Greek 
State maintains at least the 1/3 of share capital of Hellenic Telecommunications Organization”, restriction which was also reported in the Company’s Articles of In-
corporation.

Already, after the issue of 3522/2006 (Official Journal of the Hellenic Republic-Volume A 275-22.12.2006) Act the above restriction ceased to be in effect.

As long as Article 1 of Law 2257/1994 was the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, article 7 (paragraphs 2 and 3) included a voting restriction. More specifically, any 
other shareholder except for the Hellenic State, could not exercise the portion of his voting rights that exceeded 5%, even if the shareholder had a greater percentage 
to the Company’s share capital. This requirement was superseded since the Company’s Articles of Incorporation is amended in accordance with C.L 2190/1920, as 
such a voting restriction is not in compliance with the law’s requirements. This restriction has been already superseded in Law 2257/1994.         

According to article 4 of 3016/2002 Act as is in effect independent non-executive members of the Board of Directors cannot possess Company’s shares in percent 
above 0.5% of the paid-in share capital.

According to the provisions of article 53 of 3371/2005 Act (Official Journal of the Hellenic Republic-Volume A 178-2005 the materialized shares which had not been 
deposited in order to dematerialize are liquidated in Athens Stock Exchange according to the 1/380/04.05.2006 regulation of Hellenic Capital Market Committee. 
The holders of the materialized shares are not able to transfer them any more, however are entitled to receive the amount of liquidation. The Company has already 
submitted an application with number of registry 660154/02.03.2007 in order to issue the required decision.

According to the article 26 of 3340/2005, persons charged with managerial duties or persons having close relationship with them, without being limited to acquire or 
vest company’s shares, are obliged to notify their transactions that exceed 5.000 Euro per year. The obligation of notification impose the Law and the decisions of the 
Board of Directors of the Hellenic Capital Market Committee.

According to the Article 26 of 3431/2006 Act about Electronic Communications, the change of control of the company takes place with approval of Hellenic Telecom-
munications and Post Committee. The above approval is also required under the 703/199 Law about monopoly regulations and competition.   
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(c) Significant direct or indirect participations according to the Presidential Decree 51/1992

Significant direct ownership in the share capital of the company on 31 December 2006, according to the provisions of PD 51/1992, was the Hellenic State’s ownership, 
which as shareholder possessed (and it possesses up to today) the 35.6% of the Company’s share capital. In addition the Hellenic State has indirect ownership of 3.1% 
through DEKA S.A.

Company is not aware of any other shareholder who has direct or indirect ownership of 5% or more of company’s paid-in share capital.  

(d) Owners of shares that offer special control right

There are no issued shares of the Company that offer special control rights.

(e) Restrictions in voting rights-Deadlines in exercising those rights

There are no restrictions in voting rights.

(f) Shareholder agreements for restrictions in the transfer of shares or in the exercising of voting rights

There are no shareholder agreements regarding restrictions in the transfer of shares or in the exercising of voting rights that are known to the Company.

(g) Rules of appointment and replacement of the members of the Board of Directors and amendment of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation if they differ from 
the provisions of Codified Law 2190/1920.

The members of the Board of Directors are appointed and replaced according to the restrictions of the C.L. 2190/1920. The restrictions upon which the Company’s 
Articles of Incorporation is amended are provided by the C.L. 2190/1920.

The provisions of the Company’s Article of Incorporation related to  the appointment and the replacement of the BoD members and the amendment of its Company’s 
Articles of Incorporation are not differentiated by the provisions of C.L. 2190/1920.

In particular according to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation regulations the Board of Directors consists of nine (9) or eleven (11) members, who are elected 
by the General Shareholders Assembly, and serve for a 3-years term. The Board’s synthesis is renewed by one third (1/3) of its Directors every year.  When eleven (11) 
Directors serve on the Board and in order to achieve the number corresponding to one third of renewable Directors for the year, the fraction that results there from 
is omitted on the first two years. In this case, on the third year, the remaining number of Directors is renewed up until the filling of eleven (11) members. The term of 
each Director commences on the day of its election by the General Shareholders Assembly and terminates three (3) years from the election, on the day the Annual 
General Assembly of Shareholders meets.

By resolution of the General Shareholders Assembly the Board of Directors are eleven (11).

The members of the Board of Directors may always be re-elected and can be revoked any time by the General Shareholders Assembly.

(h) Jurisdiction of the Board of Directors for the issuance of new shares/share buybacks according to article 16 of Codified Law 2190/1920.

With regards to the article 6 of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, it is determined that within five (5) years from the relevant decision of the General Sharehold-
ers Assembly, (pursuant to the publicity formalities of article 7b of the C.L. 2190/1920) the Board of Directors is entitled to, upon a resolution reached by the quorum 
and by the majority of the same, as specified by the Codified Law 2190/1920:

 I. Increase the share capital with the issuance of new common shares. The amount of the increases cannot exceed the amount of the paid in share capital at the date 
of the adoption of the relevant resolution of the General Assembly.

 II. Issue of bond up to an amount not exceeding the paid in share capital, by means of the issuance of a bond convertible into shares.

The powers mentioned hereinabove of the Board of Directors may be renewed by the General Assembly for a period not exceeding five (5) years per each renewal.

By way of exception, in the event the capital reserves of the Company exceed one fourth (1/4) of the paid in share capital, the resolution of the General Assembly for 
the increase of the share capital by means of the issuance of a bond convertible into shares, will be always required.

There are no valid resolutions of the Company’s General Shareholders Assembly for the concession of its aforementioned jurisdictions to the Board of Directors.

According to its General Shareholders Assembly’s resolution and pursuant to the regulations that are in force, the Company may acquire shares up to 10% of its own 
share capital, in order to stabilize their share price. The execution of such resolutions of the General Assembly is effectuated by the Board of Director’s resolutions. 

No such resolutions of the General Assembly of shareholders, or of the Board of Directors during 2006 have been taken until today.

(i) Significant Company agreements that take effect / alter or terminate upon a change of control of the Company occurs following a takeover bid. 

On 21 November 2006, ΟΤΕ Ρlc, wholly owned by OTE S.A., issued two bonds of an amount of Euro 900.000.000 and Euro 600.000.000 maturing on 20 May 2016 
and 21 November 2009 respectively, under the Global Medium Term Note Programme which is fully guaranteed by OTE S.A. Upon issuance, the bonds were assigned 
a rating of ΒΒΒ+/Baa1 by the international rating agencies. 

The bonds include a Change of Control clause applicable to OTE S.A. which is triggered if both of the following events occur:  

 I. any person or persons acting in concert (other than the Hellenic Republic) at any time directly or indirectly come(s) to own or acquire(s) more than 50 % of the 
issued ordinary share capital or of the voting rights of OTE S.A. and 

II. as a consequence of (a), the rating previously assigned to the bonds by any international rating agency is withdrawn or downgraded to BB+/Ba1 or their respective 
equivalents (non Investment grade), within a specific period and under specific terms and conditions.

In accordance with the terms and conditions of the bonds, in the event that the Change of Control clause is triggered, ΟΤΕ Plc shall promptly give written notice to 
the bondholders, who in turn shall have the option to require OTE Plc to redeem the bonds (put option), at their principal amounts together with accrued interest up 
to the date of redemption. 

The bondholders shall have the right to exercise the put option within a period of 45 days after receipt of the written notice of the trigger of the Change of Control 
clause and OTE Plc shall redeem the bonds within five business days following the end of the aforementioned period. 

The Change of Control clause is also included in the terms of the bond loan agreements for the Euro 900.000.000 and Euro 600.000.000 bonds issued by Cosmote 
S.A. on 21 November 2006 which were fully subscribed by OTE Plc. Consequently, in the event that the Change of Control clause is triggered, OTE Plc shall have 
the right to require redemption of those bonds by Cosmote S.A. within a specific period and under specific terms and conditions as defined in the relevant bond loan 
agreements.

(j) Agreements between the company and its Board Members or personnel providing for compensation if they resign or are made redundant without valid reason 
or of their employment ceases because of a takeover bid There are no agreements regarding compensation of members of the Board of Directors or personnel in 
case of resignation, termination of their employment agreement without an essential cause or expiration of their term / agreement 

There are no agreements regarding compensation of members of the Board of Directors or personnel in case of resignation, termination of their employment agree-
ment without an essential cause or expiration of their term / agreement due to public tender offer.

Athens, 20 March 2007

Panagis Vourloumis

Chairman and Managing Director



Page 250 Page 251

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of  
HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANISATION S.A.

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying Financial Statements and Consolidated Financial Statements (the “Financial Statements”) of HELLENIC TELECOMMUNI-
CATIONS ORGANISATION S.A. (“the Company”) which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2006 and the income statement, statement of changes in 
equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union.  This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presenta-
tion of financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with Greek Auditing Standards 
which comply with the International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatements.  An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion
In our opinion, the accompanying Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and the Group as of 31 December 2006 and 
of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 
Union.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
The Board of Directors’ Report is consistent with the accompanying financial statements.

Athens, 21 March 2007

KPMG Kyriacou Certified Auditors Α.Ε.

 Marios T. Kyriacou Michael Kokkinos 
 Certified Auditor Accountant Certified Auditor Accountant 
 ΑΜ SOEL 11121 ΑΜ SOEL 12701
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Notes
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Glossary of Technical Terms

ADSL  Asymmetric Digital Subscriber Line 

ATM  Asynchronous Transfer Mode

BRAS Broadband Remote Access Server

DCS  Digital Cellular System

DSL  Digital Subscriber Line

DSLAM Digital Subscriber Line Access Multiplexer

DWDM Dense Wavelength Division Multiplexing

EDGE Enhanced Data Rates for GSM Evolution

GSM  Global System for Mobile Communication 

GPRS General Packet Radio Service 

GWEN Greek Western Europe Network

HSDPA Hosted Speed Downlink Packet Access

IP Internet Protocol

IPLC International Private Leased Circuit

ISDN Integrated Services Digital Network

ISDN-BRA  Integrated Services Digital Network-Basic Rate Access

ISDN-PRA  Integrated Services Digital Network-Primary Rate Access

ISP Internet Service Provider

ITU-T International Telecommunications Union-Telecommunication Standardization 

LLU Local Loop Unbundling 

MPLS Multiprotocol Laber Switching 

NGN Next-Generation Network

NNI Network-to-Network Interface

PSTN Public Switched Telecommunication Network

UMTS Universal Mobile Telecommunications System

SDH Synchronous Digital Hierarchy 

SLA Service Level Agreements

TDM  Time Division Multiplexing 

VOIP Voice Over IP

VPDN Virtual Private Dial-up Network

VPN Virtual Private Network

WiFi Wireless Fidelity 

WIMAX Worldwide Interoperability for Microwave Access 

WLAN Wireless LAN

xDSL “Generic” Digital Subscriber Line
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